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PART I
 
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
 References to “we”, “our”, “us”, “the Company” or “Certegy” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K refer to Certegy Inc. and its consolidated
subsidiaries, and with respect to periods prior to our spin-off from Equifax Inc. in 2001, to our operations when we were a part of Equifax, unless, in each case,
the context requires otherwise.
 
History
 Certegy Inc. (“Certegy”) provides credit card, debit card, and other transaction processing and check risk management services to financial institutions and
merchants in the U.S. and internationally. Our business is comprised of two segments, Card Services and Check Services. Card Services provides card issuer
services in the U.S., the U.K., Brazil, Chile, Australia, New Zealand, Ireland, Thailand, and the Caribbean. Revenues of our domestic card issuer services
business are primarily derived from independent community banks and credit unions, while revenues of our international card issuer services business are
generated from large and small financial institutions. Additionally, Card Services provides merchant processing and e-banking services in the U.S. and card issuer
software, support, and consulting services in numerous countries. In 2004, we serviced over 39 million card accounts worldwide. Check Services provides check
risk management services and related processing services in the U.S., the U.K., Canada, France, Ireland, Australia, and New Zealand. A significant portion of our
check risk management services revenues are generated from several large national and regional retail chains. In 2004, we authorized approximately $40.3 billion
of check transactions worldwide.
 

Originally founded as Telecredit in 1961, our business pioneered the check risk management industry in the U.S. and Canada. Through the development of
a centralized electronic database of consumer check-writing histories, Telecredit delivered real-time check authorization decisions to merchants at the point-of-
sale. Through an acquisition in 1977, the business was expanded to include credit card processing. Subsequently, we have added merchant processing, debit card
processing, and e-banking services to our Card Services segment, and check cashing risk management services and third-party check collections to our Check
Services segment.
 

In 1990, Equifax Inc. (“Equifax”) acquired Telecredit and continued to operate the card and check businesses, through separate subsidiaries, as its Payment
Services division. While part of Equifax, both Card Services and Check Services expanded outside of North America through a combination of joint ventures,
acquisitions, and local start-ups.
 

On March 2, 2001, we were incorporated under the laws of the State of Georgia as a wholly-owned subsidiary of Equifax as “Equifax PS, Inc.” After
Equifax’s contribution of its Payment Services division to us, and our adoption of the name Certegy Inc., Equifax “spun off” the businesses of the Payment
Services division on July 7, 2001, through a tax-free dividend of all of our outstanding shares of common stock to Equifax’s shareholders of record as of June 27,
2001. As a result of the spin-off, we became an independent publicly traded company, with the Certegy shares of common stock registered and trading on the
New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “CEY.”
 
Acquisitions
 In 2000, we increased our ownership in Equifax Card Solutions Ltd., our U.K. card processing business, from 51 percent to 100 percent, and acquired
Check-A-Cheque Ltd. and Rexora to complement our check business in Europe and Procard S.A., a card processing business in Chile. We also acquired a
portfolio of credit card merchant processing accounts from Heartland Payment Systems, which has been reclassified to discontinued operations (see Note 5 to the
consolidated financial statements for further information). These acquisitions had an aggregate cash purchase price of $46.3 million, net of cash acquired.
 

In May 2001, we acquired the remaining 40.7 percent minority interest in Unnisa Ltda., our card processing operation in Brazil. We previously held a 59.3
percent controlling interest in Unnisa, which we acquired in 1998. Also, in August 2001, we acquired Accu Chek, Inc., a leading provider of third-party check
collection services in the U.S. These acquisitions had an aggregate cash purchase price of $79.0 million, net of cash acquired.
 

On December 31, 2002, we acquired Netzee, Inc., a provider of Internet banking products and e-commerce solutions to community banks and credit unions
in the U.S., for $10.4 million in cash.
 

During 2003, we acquired a merchant portfolio for $4.5 million in cash, which has been reclassified to discontinued operations (see Note 5 to the
consolidated financial statements for further information).
 

On March 1, 2004, we completed the purchases of Game Financial Corporation (“Game Financial”), a provider of debit and credit card cash advances,
ATM access, and check cashing services in gaming institutions, and Crittson Financial Services LLC
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(“Crittson”), a full service provider of card and merchant processing services. The acquisition of Game Financial helps position us as a leading provider of
comprehensive cash access services in the gaming industry and broadens our check risk management product line and customer base, while the acquisition of
Crittson further strengthens our U.S. market share as the leading third-party credit card processor for community banks and credit unions. On August 6, 2004, we
completed the acquisition of Caribbean CariCard Services, Inc. (“CariCard”), a third-party transaction processor in the Caribbean. CariCard provides a wide
range of products and services to financial institutions, retailers, and the petroleum industry that service markets in 16 countries throughout the Caribbean. These
acquisitions had a combined cash purchase price of $45.5 million, net of $24.6 million of cash acquired and additional consideration adjustments settled during
2004. Approximately $5.8 million of the Crittson purchase price, which represents merchant acquiring operations, has been reclassified to discontinued
operations (see Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements for further information).
 
Discontinued Operations
 Our merchant processing operations consist of two businesses: (1) merchant acquiring, where we are a direct party to contracts with merchants regarding
our provision of card processing services for the merchant, and we are subject to the associated risk that a cardholder billing dispute will be resolved in favor of
the cardholder (referred to as a cardholder “chargeback”), and (2) institution processing, where we provide authorization, settlement, and customer service to
community banks and others that contract directly with merchant customers. We view merchant acquiring as a non-strategic business and over the past few years,
have operated this business conservatively to reduce exposure to merchant risk, which in the short-term improved overall profitability but limited growth. In
September 2004, the Board of Directors of Certegy approved a plan to sell our merchant acquiring business, at which time, the held for sale criteria in Statement
of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets” (“SFAS 144”), were met. Therefore,
our financial statements reflect the merchant acquiring business as a discontinued operation with the related assets and liabilities classified under the captions
“Assets held for sale” and “Liabilities related to assets held for sale” in the consolidated balance sheets. We expect that the merchant acquiring business will be
sold within a year of approving this plan. We plan to continue to operate the institution processing business, which we believe is complementary to our card
issuing business. The merchant acquiring operations were historically included in the Card Services segment.
 
Our Operating Segments
 Card Services. Certegy Card Services provides a full range of card issuer services that enable banks, credit unions, retailers, and others to issue VISA and
MasterCard credit and debit cards, private label cards, and other electronic payment cards for use by both consumer and business accounts. Additionally, we
process American Express cards in Australia and the Caribbean. Our debit card services support both off-line debit cards, which are processed similarly to credit
cards, and on-line debit cards, through which cardholders obtain immediate access to funds in their bank accounts through ATMs or merchant point-of-sale
terminals. In the U.S., our card issuing business is concentrated in the independent community bank and credit union segments of the market, while
internationally, we service both large and small financial institutions. We provide our card issuer services internationally through our processing centers in the
U.S., Brazil, Chile, the U.K., Australia and the Caribbean.
 

The majority of our domestic card issuer programs are full service, including most of the operations and support necessary for an issuer to operate a credit
and debit card program. More specifically, we process the card transactions on the cards issued by our customers, including electronically authorizing the
transactions, capturing the transaction data, and settling the transactions, and we provide full service back-office support functions for their programs. These
support functions include embossing and mailing our customers’ credit and debit cards to their cardholders; customer service on behalf of the card issuers to their
customers; card portfolio management and analysis; invoicing cardholders; receiving and processing cardholder payments; and delinquent account management
services. We do not make credit decisions for our card issuer customers, nor do we fund their card receivables. Our services offer flexibility for those of our
customers that require less than our full service programs. Such customers include large card issuing institutions that contract with us to provide transaction
processing, but who choose to invest the capital and human resources necessary to provide their own back-office program support or use another vendor for such
support.
 

Our two most significant domestic customer segments, independent community banks and credit unions, consist predominantly of small and mid-sized card
issuers that cannot independently achieve the economies of scale that would justify setting up their own credit and debit card operations. We provide our card
issuer services to these customers primarily through our longstanding contractual alliances with two associations representing independent community banks and
credit unions in the U.S., the Independent Community Bankers of America (the “ICBA”) and Card Services for Credit Unions (“CSCU”). These organizations
offer our products and services to their respective members with our company as the provider. These alliances allow us to utilize the marketing channels of ICBA
and CSCU to more effectively provide our offerings to individual credit unions and community banks. As a result, we believe we are the leading provider, in
terms of market share, of comprehensive card processing services to credit unions and to independent community bank card issuers in the U.S.
 

4



Table of Contents

Over the past seven years, we pursued growth in international markets through acquisitions in Brazil, Chile, and the Caribbean, and the start-up of our card
processing operations in the U.K. and Australia. In 2000, we entered into a five-year agreement with a multi-national Australian-based financial institution to
process cards issued in Australia, New Zealand, the U.K., and Ireland, with operations commencing in the second quarter of 2001. This financial institution is
serviced from our card processing operation in Australia, as well as from our card processing operation in the U.K. In 2003, we entered into an eight-year
agreement with a Thailand financial institution to process its VISA and MasterCard credit cards and unsecured personal loans. This financial institution is also
serviced from our card processing operation in Australia. Card Services plans to pursue further card processing opportunities in the Asia Pacific Region, utilizing
our Australian operation as the processing center.
 

Card Services also provides merchant processing services that enable retailers and other merchants to accept electronic payment cards in payment for goods
and services. Our merchant processing operations consist of two businesses: (1) merchant acquiring, where we are a direct party to contracts with merchants
regarding our provision of card processing services for the merchant, and we are subject to the associated risk that a cardholder billing dispute will be resolved in
favor of the cardholder (referred to as a cardholder “chargeback”), and (2) institution processing, where we provide authorization, settlement, and customer
service to community banks and others that contract directly with merchant customers. As previously mentioned, our Board of Directors approved a plan to sell
our merchant acquiring business. We expect that the merchant acquiring business will be sold within a year of approving this plan. We plan to continue to operate
the institution processing business, which we believe is complementary to our card issuing business.
 

In December 1997, we began providing e-banking services to financial institutions, enabling them to offer Internet banking to consumers and businesses.
We provide these services either by licensing our products to our customers for their operation in-house, or as an application services provider, or ASP, where the
customers are linked to our central data center. Our retail Internet banking services enable our bank customers to offer a wide array of Internet based banking
services to consumers, such as electronic bill payment, on-line account information, and loan and account applications. Our corporate Internet banking services
enable our bank customers to offer their commercial customers various electronic commercial banking services, including on-line account information, bill
payment, funds transfers, and other electronic services.
 

In order for us to provide our transaction processing services, VISA must designate us as a member service provider, and for certain services, as an
independent sales organization of VISA, and we must be designated by MasterCard as a member service provider. To retain these designations, we must be
sponsored by member clearing banks of VISA and MasterCard and continue to comply with the standards of the VISA and MasterCard associations. Our
products are affected by VISA and MasterCard electronic payment standards that are generally updated twice annually. In addition, our customers are subject to
government regulations and industry standards with which our products and services must comply.
 

We intend to continue to expand our card processing business in the independent community bank and credit union segments of the market. Moreover, our
future growth and profitability will significantly depend upon our ability to penetrate additional international markets, including emerging markets for electronic
transaction processing. Our certification as an American Express processor also provides further growth opportunities for us in the global card market.
 

In 2004, revenues from Card Services comprised 57 percent of our total revenues, compared to 60 percent in 2003 and 62 percent in 2002. Card Services
revenues as a percentage of our total revenues declined in 2004 compared to 2003 due to a shift in business mix of our Check Services segment and further
diversification with the acquisition of Game Financial and continued expansion of our cash access services, which we include in our Check Services segment.
The decline in Card Services revenues as a percentage of our total revenues in 2003 compared to 2002 was primarily due to the loss of a large customer in our
merchant processing business, which was acquired and moved its account to its new owner’s processor in the third quarter of 2002, and the loss of a large
customer in our Brazilian card operation, which discontinued using our card processing services at the beginning of March 2003.
 

Check Services. Certegy Check Services provides check risk management and related processing products and services to businesses accepting or cashing
checks at the point-of-sale. These services utilize our proprietary check authorization systems and risk assessment decision platforms. A significant portion of our
revenues from check risk management services is generated from several large national and regional merchants, including national retail chains. Other customers
of our Check Services segment include hotels, automotive dealers, telecommunications companies, supermarkets, casinos, mail order houses, and other
businesses. Our services allow our clients to run their customers’ personal and business checks through an automated decision-making process that assesses the
likelihood that a check will clear.
 

Our check risk management services include solutions tailored to the specific needs of the customer. They include Welcome Check® guarantee services,
where we accept the bad check risk associated with checks authorized by our system, and Welcome Check verification services, where our customers retain the
risk. We also provide blends of guarantee and verification services to meet specific customer needs. All of these products utilize our proprietary system,
PathWays™. PathWays provides the flexibility, utilizing our risk management data and proprietary models, to manage check acceptance risk by controlling the
risk management parameters on a store by store, or even a cash register by cash register, basis.
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In recent years, we have introduced several new products for existing and new markets, such as third-party check collections, electronic check risk
management solutions for point-of-sale, call center, and electronic commerce applications, and cash access services. PayCheck Accept™ enables retailers,
supermarkets, and gaming establishments to reduce the risk of check losses and fraud in connection with their payroll check cashing services. Additionally, we
believe the acquisition of Game Financial on March 1, 2004, helps position us as a leading provider of comprehensive cash access services in the gaming
industry, and broadens our check risk management product line and customer base.
 

We provide our check risk management products and services internationally in Canada, the U.K., Ireland, France, Australia, and New Zealand. Our
principal product in all those countries is check guarantee services, although mass retailers are beginning to utilize our check verification, collection services, and
deferred debit processing services.
 

In 2004, revenues from Check Services comprised 43 percent of our total revenues, compared to 40 percent in 2003 and 38 percent in 2002. Check
Services revenues as a percentage of our total revenues increased in 2004 as compared to 2003, driven by a shift in business mix of our Check Services segment
and further diversification with the acquisition of Game Financial and continued expansion of our cash access services, which we include in our Check Services
segment. The growth in Check Services revenues as a percentage of our total revenues in 2003 compared to 2002 was primarily due to the loss of two large
customers in our Card Services segment, including a large customer in our merchant processing business, which was acquired and moved its account to its new
owner’s processor in the third quarter of 2002, and a large customer in our Brazilian card operation, which discontinued using our card processing services at the
beginning of March 2003.
 

We believe check writing has begun to decline as a total percentage of point-of-sale payments due, in part, to the growing use of debit and credit cards. At
the same time, however, demand for our services is high due to factors that include increasing sophistication of check fraud and higher concentration of bad
checks written at the point-of-sale due to a trend of higher credit quality consumers paying more with credit and debit cards and writing fewer checks. These
factors are contributing to a growing reliance of retailers and other businesses on outside vendors, such as us, to provide check risk management services.
 

For additional information relating to our business segments and operations within and outside the U.S., see Note 12 to the consolidated financial
statements in Part II, Item 8 of this report.
 
Our Strategy
 We believe that the increased use of credit, debit, and other electronic payment cards around the globe will continue to present the card processing industry
with significant growth opportunities. We also believe that strong demand for check risk management services due to increased check fraud at the point-of-sale
and retailers’ growing reliance on third parties for assistance in accurately identifying good check writers to reduce bad check losses will continue to present us
with growth opportunities.
 

In light of the market opportunities, our strategic objective is to strengthen our position as a provider of card payment processing and check risk
management services. We intend to concentrate on the strategies summarized below to accomplish our objective.
 

Further, for both Card Services and Check Services, we intend to continue to consider strategic alliances with, investments in, and acquisitions of, domestic
and international companies that would enable us to increase our penetration in our current markets, enter new markets, expand our technology expertise to help
further enhance our processing, risk management, and e-banking services, or to increase operating efficiencies.
 
Card Services.
 Utilize our competitive strengths in the U.S. to further increase our share of revenue in the U.S. credit and debit card markets, including e-banking. We
believe those strengths include:
 
 

•  Our long-term contractual alliances with CSCU and ICBA, through which we maintain proven distribution channels and enjoy strong name
recognition, quality-of-service ratings, and customer satisfaction;

 
 •  Our “full service” processing capabilities, which enable us to provide comprehensive processing solutions; and
 
 •  Our competitive prices.
 

Grow our customer base and processing volumes outside the U.S. In international markets, we will continue to focus our efforts
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on marketing to leading card processing prospects, developing flexible processing services tailored to the diverse credit cultures in Europe, South America, and
Asia-Pacific, and utilizing our competitive advantages. We believe these advantages include our strength in providing full service processing services and our
proprietary card processing systems. Our proprietary systems are scalable and portable, and have been customized to process in country-specific environments in
over 25 countries around the world. We believe this customization enables us to enter new geographic markets quickly and inexpensively, and helps position us to
be a preferred vendor for outsourced card processing as this concept expands outside the U.S.
 

Increase our revenues from our debit card processing products and services and from other existing and new products and services. We intend to
aggressively market our expanded debit card processing products and services and capture a larger share of the rapidly growing debit card markets in the U.S. and
abroad. We also intend to aggressively market our card marketing services that assist our customers in growing their cardholder portfolios. Moreover, we plan on
developing and marketing Internet service capabilities that will allow cardholders to manage their debit and credit card accounts and conduct electronic commerce
more efficiently and effectively.
 
Check Services.
 Utilize our competitive strengths to increase our market share in the check risk management markets, both in the U.S. and internationally. We believe those
strengths include our advanced check risk management algorithms and systems, our ability to introduce successful new check risk management products, and our
company’s existing operations and customer relationships in Europe, South America, and Asia-Pacific.
 

Continue our development and utilization of increasingly sophisticated risk modeling tools to differentiate our capabilities from the competition. These
tools include proprietary algorithms and systems that we have developed independently, and others that we have developed with our alliance partners.
 

Expand further into existing markets and diversify into new markets such as cash access, gaming, grocery, and government by leveraging our risk
decisioning capabilities. We take a very focused approach to new product and market development to ensure we identify and pursue opportunities that leverage
our core competencies.
 
Sales and Marketing
 We market our products and services through a direct sales force and indirect sales channels, such as ICBA and CSCU, independent sales organizations,
marketing alliances, and financial institutions. We organize our direct sales force by customer market segment or distribution channel. Additionally, we market
directly to our customers and indirectly through ICBA and CSCU using print advertising and direct mail efforts. We participate in major industry tradeshow and
publicity events. As many of our customers use a single product or service, or a combination of products or services, our direct sales force also targets existing
customers to promote cross-selling opportunities. Our strategy is to use the most efficient delivery system available to successfully acquire customers and build
awareness of our products and services.
 
Seasonality
 Our business is somewhat seasonal. The volume of card and check processing is highest during the holiday buying season and during other periods of
increased consumer spending.
 
Competition
 The market for our products and services is highly competitive. We compete directly with third-party payment processors and companies that market
software for the electronic payment industry. We also compete against software and transaction processing systems developed and used in-house by our potential
customers. Our competitors in the Card Services segment include third-party credit and debit card processors, including First Data Corporation, Total System
Services, Electronic Data Systems Corporation, and Payment Systems for Credit Unions, and third-party software providers, which license their card processing
systems to financial institutions and third-party processors. Competitors in the Check Services segment include First Data’s TeleCheck Services division,
CrossCheck, eFunds, and Global Payments.
 

Some of our competitors are privately held, and the majority of those that are publicly held do not release the information necessary to precisely quantify
our relative competitive position, which varies depending on the segment of our markets. Based on information appearing in a widely-cited industry publication,
The Nilson Report, we believe that we are among the largest third-party payment transaction processors in the world based on annual volumes.
 

Our markets are characterized by rapid technological change, new product introductions, evolving industry standards, and changing customer needs. In
order to remain competitive, we are continually involved in the development of new products and services. These initiatives carry the risks associated with any
new product development efforts, including cost overruns, delays in delivery, and performance issues.
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In general, we believe that our ability to compete successfully depends on a number of factors, including:
 
 •  The reliability, security, speed, and capacity of our systems and technical infrastructure;
 
 •  The comprehensiveness, scalability, ease of use, and service levels of our products and services;
 
 •  Our strong relationships with ICBA and CSCU, and the related scale advantages achieved through them;
 
 •  Our ability to interface with vendors of data processing software and services;
 
 •  Our pricing policies and the pricing policies of our competitors and suppliers;
 
 •  Our risk assessment and fraud detection expertise;
 
 •  The timing of introductions of new products and services by us and our competitors; and
 
 •  Our ability to support unique customer requirements.
 
Significance of Certain Customer Relationships
 Revenues of our domestic card issuer services business are primarily derived from independent community banks and credit unions, while revenues of our
international card issuer services business are primarily generated from several large and small financial institutions. A significant portion of our check risk
management services revenues are generated from several large national and regional retail chains.
 

We have long-term contractual alliances with two associations representing independent financial institutions in the U.S., the ICBA and CSCU. Under
these alliances, Card Services is the exclusive partner for offering credit card issuer and merchant institution processing services to those associations’ members.
We are also the exclusive partner of CSCU for offering debit card processing to its members. As a result, approximately 24.1 percent of our consolidated revenues
in 2004 were derived from their member institutions, although no single institution accounts for a material portion of our revenues. An early termination of, or
significant adverse change in, our relationships with either or both of these associations could harm our ability to retain a substantial portion of our customers and
to attract new customers, and have a material adverse effect on our business. Our contracts with the ICBA and CSCU expire in 2008 and 2009, respectively.
 
Research and Development
 Our research and development activities have related primarily to the design and development of our payment processing systems and related software
applications and risk management platforms. We expect to continue our practice of investing significant resources to extend the functionality of our proprietary
processing systems, and to develop new and innovative solutions in response to the needs of our customers. In addition, we intend to offer products and services
that are compatible with new and emerging delivery channels.
 
Intellectual Property Rights
 We rely on a combination of contractual restrictions and trademark, copyright, and trade secret law to establish and protect our trademarks, software, and
expertise. These legal protections and arrangements afford only limited protection of our proprietary rights, and there is no assurance that our competitors will not
independently develop or license products, services, or capabilities that are substantially equivalent or superior to ours. We also license certain intellectual
property from third-parties. Those include rights under the Ronald A. Katz Technology Licensing L.P. patents pertaining to various interactive technologies, such
as automated forms of customer service, which rights continue through the life of the patents.
 
Government Regulation
 Various aspects of our businesses are subject to federal, state, and foreign regulation. Our failure to comply with any applicable laws and regulations could
result in restrictions on our ability to provide our products and services, as well as the imposition of civil fines and criminal penalties.
 

As a provider of electronic data processing and back-office services to financial institutions, we are subject to regulatory oversight and examination by the
Federal Financial Institutions Examination Council, an interagency body comprised of the various federal bank and thrift regulators and the National Credit
Union Association. In addition, we may be subject to possible review by state agencies that regulate banks in each state in which we conduct our electronic
processing activities.
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Given that one of the databases that we maintain in the U.S. contains certain data pertaining to the check-writing histories of consumers, and that data is
used to provide certain check risk management services, our check risk management business is subject to the Federal Fair Credit Reporting Act and various
similar state laws. Among other things, the Fair Credit Reporting Act imposes requirements on us concerning data accuracy, and provides that consumers have the
right to know the contents of their check-writing histories, to dispute their accuracy, and to require verification or removal of disputed information. In furtherance
of our objectives of data accuracy, fair treatment of consumers, protection of consumers’ personal information, and compliance with these laws, we maintain a
high level of security for our computer systems in which consumer data resides, and we maintain consumer relations call centers to facilitate efficient handling of
consumer requests for information and handling of disputes.
 

Our check collection services are subject to the Federal Fair Debt Collection Practices Act and various state collection laws and licensing requirements.
The Federal Trade Commission, as well as state attorneys general and other agencies, have enforcement responsibility over the collection laws, as well as the
various credit reporting laws.
 

Elements of our check cashing business are registered as a Money Services Business and are subject to the USA Patriot Act and reporting requirements of
the Bank Secrecy Act and U.S. Treasury Regulations. This business is also subject to various state and local licensing requirements. The Financial Crimes
Enforcement Network, state attorneys general, and other agencies have enforcement responsibility over laws relating to money laundering, currency transmission,
and licensing.
 

Given that we conduct business in international markets as well as in the U.S., we are subject to laws and regulations in jurisdictions outside the U.S. that
regulate many of the same activities that are described above, including electronic data processing and back-office services for financial institutions and use of
consumer information.
 

Although we do not believe that compliance with future laws and regulations related to our businesses, including future consumer protection laws and
regulations, will have a material adverse effect on our company, enactment of new laws and regulations may increasingly affect the operations of our business,
directly or indirectly, which could result in substantial regulatory compliance costs, litigation expense, adverse publicity, and/or loss of revenue.
 
Employees
 As of December 31, 2004, Certegy had approximately 5,300 employees, including approximately 2,000 employees principally employed outside of the
U.S. None of our U.S. workforce currently is unionized. We have not experienced any work stoppages, and we consider our relations with employees to be good.
 
Available Information
 Certegy’s Internet website address is www.certegy.com. We make available, free of charge, through our website our Annual Reports on Form 10-K,
Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, and Current Reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports, as soon as reasonably practicable after we file them with,
or furnish them to, the Securities and Exchange Commission. Certegy’s Corporate Governance Policy and Code of Business Conduct and Ethics are also available
on our website and are available in print, free of charge, to any shareholder who mails a request to the Corporate Secretary, Certegy Inc., 100 Second Avenue
South, Suite 1100S, St. Petersburg, Florida 33701. Other corporate governance-related documents can be found at our website as well.
 
Certain Factors Affecting Forward-Looking Statements
 The statements in this report include forward-looking statements that are based on current expectations, assumptions, estimates, and projections about our
business and industry. They are not guarantees of future performance and are subject to risks and uncertainties that may cause actual results to differ significantly
from what is expressed in those statements. Many of those risks and uncertainties are beyond Certegy’s control. The factors that could, either individually or in
the aggregate, affect our performance include matters such as those described below.
 
We rely heavily on a small number of specific business segments for the majority of our revenues.
 Revenues of our domestic card issuer services business are primarily derived from independent community banks and credit unions, while revenues of our
international card issuer services business are primarily generated from several large and small financial institutions. A significant portion of our check risk
management services revenues are generated from several large national and regional retail chains. The financial condition of these customers and their
willingness to pay for our products and services are affected by general market conditions, competitive pressures, and operating margins within their industries.
The retailing industry is undergoing structural changes, the effect of which on that industry and our business is uncertain. Any factors that adversely affect
independent banks, credit unions, and retailers could adversely impact our revenues.
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A significant portion of our business is derived from two key strategic relationships, and a loss of either of those relationships could adversely affect our
profits.
 We have long-term contractual alliances with two associations representing independent financial institutions in the U.S., the Independent Community
Bankers of America, or ICBA, and Card Services for Credit Unions, or CSCU. Under these alliances, which expire in 2008 and 2009, respectively, we are the
associations’ exclusive partner for offering credit card issuer and merchant institution processing services to those associations’ members. We are also the
exclusive partner of CSCU for offering debit card processing to its members. As a result, approximately 24.1 percent of our consolidated revenues in 2004 were
derived from their member institutions. An early termination of, or significant adverse change in, our relationships with either or both of these associations could
harm our ability to retain a substantial portion of our customers and to attract new customers, which would have a material adverse effect on our business.
 
Our revenues from the sale of services to VISA and MasterCard organizations are dependent upon our continued VISA and MasterCard certification and
financial institution sponsorship, and the loss or suspension of this certification or sponsorship could adversely affect our business.
 In order to provide our transaction processing services, we must be designated a certified processor by, and be a member service provider of, MasterCard
and be designated as an independent sales organization of VISA. These designations are dependent upon our continuing adherence to the standards of the VISA
and MasterCard associations. The member financial institutions of VISA and MasterCard, some of which are our competitors, set the standards with which we
must comply. If we fail to comply with these standards, our designation as a certified processor, as a member service provider, or as an independent sales
organization could be suspended or terminated. The termination of our member service provider status or our status as a certified processor, or any changes in the
VISA and MasterCard rules that prevent our registration or otherwise limit our ability to provide transaction processing and marketing services for the VISA or
MasterCard organizations would result in the loss of business from VISA or MasterCard issuing customers, and lead to a reduction in our revenues, which would
have a material adverse effect on our business.
 
We face chargeback liability if our merchants refuse or cannot reimburse chargebacks resolved in favor of their customers, and we face liability to our
merchant customers.
 Our merchant processing operations consist of two businesses: (1) merchant acquiring, where we are a direct party to contracts with merchants regarding
our provision of card processing services for the merchant, and we are subject to the associated risk that a cardholder billing dispute will be resolved in favor of
the cardholder (referred to as a cardholder “chargeback”), and (2) institution processing, where we provide authorization, settlement, and customer service to
community banks and others that contract directly with merchant customers.
 

In our merchant acquiring business, if we are unable to collect the chargeback amounts from our merchant customer’s account, or if the merchant refuses or
is financially unable to fund these amounts due to insolvency or bankruptcy or other reasons, we must bear the credit risk for the full amount of the refund paid to
the cardholder’s financial institution. We require cash deposits and other types of collateral from certain merchants to minimize any such risk.
 

In addition, we utilize a number of systems and procedures to manage merchant risk and believe that the diversification of our merchant portfolio among
industries and geographic regions minimizes our risk of loss. We recognize a reserve for estimated merchant credit losses based on historical experience and other
relevant factors. This reserve amount is subject to the risk that actual losses may be greater than our estimates.
 

As further discussed in Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements, in September 2004, the Board of Directors approved a plan to sell our merchant
acquiring business. We expect that the merchant acquiring business will be sold within a year of approving this plan.
 
We face liability to our merchant customers if checks that we have guaranteed are dishonored by the check writer’s bank.
 If a check that we have guaranteed is dishonored by the check writer’s bank, we must reimburse our merchant customer for the check’s face value and
pursue collection of the amount from the delinquent check writer. In some cases, we recognize a liability to our merchant customers for estimated check returns
and a receivable for amounts we estimate we will recover from the check writers, based on historical experience and other relevant factors. The estimated check
returns and recovery amounts are subject to the risk that actual amounts returned may exceed our estimates and actual amounts recovered may be less than our
estimates.
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Continued consolidation in the financial services and retail industries could reduce our customer base and reduce our revenues.
 Consolidation of our customers could result in a smaller market for our products and services. After consolidation, banks and other financial institutions
and retailers may realign management responsibilities and reexamine strategic and purchasing decisions with potential adverse effects on demand for our products
or services. We may lose relationships with key constituencies within our customer’s organization due to budget cuts, layoffs, or other disruptions following a
consolidation. In addition, consolidation may result in a change in the technological infrastructure of the combined entity. Our products and services may not
integrate with this new technological infrastructure. In addition, the acquiring institution may have its own in-house system or outsource to competitors.
 
A continued decline in check writing could adversely impact our profits within Check Services.
 We believe check writing has begun to decline as a total percentage of point-of-sale payments due, in part, to the growing use of debit and credit cards. This
decline has resulted in a higher percentage of bad checks at the point of sale because more higher credit quality customers are paying with credit and debit cards.
Accordingly, the demand for our check services by retailers and other vendors has increased at the same time as check writing percentages have declined. To date,
this increased demand has offset the adverse effect of the decline in the percentage of payments by check. However, it is not likely that continued and prolonged
declines in check writing can be offset by increased demands for services. Consequently, a prolonged continuation of the decline in check writing could lead to a
negative impact on the profitability of our Check Services segment.
 
Our customers are subject to a regulatory environment and to industry standards that may change in a manner that reduces the number of transactions in
which our customers engage and therefore reduces our revenues.
 Our customers are subject to a number of government regulations and industry standards with which our products and services must comply. For example,
our products are affected by VISA and MasterCard electronic payment standards that are generally updated twice annually. In addition, action by regulatory
authorities relating to credit availability, data usage, privacy, or other related regulatory developments could have an adverse effect on our customers and therefore
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.
 
Demand for our products and services is sensitive to the level of consumer transactions generated by our customers, and accordingly, our revenues could be
impacted negatively by a general economic slowdown or any other event causing a material slowing of consumer spending.
 A significant portion of our revenue is derived from transaction processing fees. Any changes in economic factors that adversely affect consumer spending
and related consumer debt, or a reduction in credit and debit card use, could reduce the volume of transactions that we process, and have an adverse effect on our
business, financial condition, and results of operations.
 
To remain competitive and grow our revenues, we must continually update our products and services, a process which could result in increased costs and the
loss of revenues and customers if the new products and services do not perform as intended or are not accepted in the marketplace.
 The credit and debit card transaction processing, money transfer, and check services markets in which we compete include a wide range of products and
services, including electronic transaction processing, check authorization, and other customer support services. These markets are characterized by technological
change, new product introductions, evolving industry standards, and changing customer needs. In order to remain competitive, we are continually involved in the
development of new products and services. These initiatives carry the risks associated with any new product development effort, including cost overruns, delays
in delivery, and performance issues. A delay in the delivery of new products or services could render them less desirable to our customers, or possibly even
obsolete. In addition, the products and services we deliver to the electronic payments market are designed to process transactions and deliver reports and other
information on those transactions at very high volumes and processing speeds. Any performance issue that arises with a new product or service could result in
significant processing or reporting errors. As a result of these factors, our research and development efforts could result in increased costs that could reduce our
revenues and operating income if new products are not delivered timely to our customers, or a loss of revenue, or possible claims for damages if new products
and services do not perform as anticipated.
 
To continue to grow profitably, we must expand our share of the credit and debit card transaction processing market and enter new markets, and the failure
to do this could adversely affect our business.
 Our domestic card issuer business is concentrated in the independent community bank and credit union segments of the market, and we have achieved a
significant degree of penetration of these market segments. While we intend to continue our vigorous pursuit of expansion within these segments, our future
growth and profitability will significantly depend upon our ability to penetrate other markets,
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including emerging markets for electronic transaction processing, such as international transaction processing and Internet payment systems. As part of our
strategy to achieve this expansion, we will continue to seek acquisition opportunities, investments, and alliance relationships that will facilitate our expansion;
however, we may not be able to complete suitable acquisitions, investments, or alliances, and if we do, they may not provide us with the benefits we anticipated.
Also, we may not have adequate financial and technological resources to develop products and distribution channels that will satisfy the demands of new markets.
 
If the security of our databases is compromised, our reputation could suffer and our business could be adversely affected.
 We collect personal consumer data, such as names and addresses, social security numbers, driver’s license numbers, checking and savings account
numbers, and payment history records. Unauthorized access to our databases could result in the theft or publication of personal confidential information and the
deletion or modification of personal records or otherwise cause interruptions in our operations. These concerns about security are increased when we transmit
information over the Internet. A security or privacy breach could:
 
 •  deter customers from using our products and services;
 
 •  harm our business and reputation;
 
 •  expose us to liability; or
 
 •  increase our operating expenses to correct problems caused by the breach.
 

Any one or more of the foregoing occurrences could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.
 
If we experience system failures, the products and services we provide to our customers could be delayed or interrupted, which could harm our business and
reputation and result in the loss of customers.
 Our ability to provide reliable service largely depends on the efficient and uninterrupted operations of our computer network systems and data centers. Our
systems and operations could be exposed to damage or interruption from fire, natural disaster, power loss, telecommunications failure, unauthorized entry, and
computer viruses. Although we have taken steps to prevent system failures, we cannot be certain that our measures will be successful. Further, our property and
business interruption insurance may not be adequate to compensate us for all losses or failures that may occur. Any significant interruptions could:
 
 •  increase our operating expenses to correct problems caused by the interruption;
 
 •  harm our business and reputation;
 
 •  result in a loss of customers; or
 
 •  expose us to liability.
 

Any one or more of the foregoing occurrences could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.
 
We may be liable for violating the intellectual property rights of third parties or have difficulties enforcing our own intellectual property rights.
 Our Internet banking services, money transfer, and transaction processing services utilize significant proprietary software, technology, and other intellectual
property. We rely on a combination of intellectual property laws and confidentiality agreements to protect these rights. These may not be adequate to protect all of
our rights, however. In addition, our intellectual property rights could be challenged or held unenforceable in a dispute with third parties. Third parties may
independently develop similar or competitive technology that does not infringe our rights, and we could not prevent its use.
 

We do not believe that our business infringes the intellectual property rights of others, although we are currently a party to a patent infringement claim as
described in Part I, Item 3 – “Legal Proceedings.” If the plaintiffs in an infringement lawsuit prevail, including the one to which we are currently a party, we may
be forced to acquire a license to continue using the disputed intellectual property, if one is even offered to us on reasonable terms. We may also be forced to
defend ourselves in infringement litigation, which is costly, regardless of the merits of the claim. Moreover, we could be liable for money damages or be enjoined
from using certain of our technology. Any of the foregoing occurrences could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of
operations.
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We plan to continue expansion of our international operations, which will subject us to additional business risks and may cause our profitability to decline
due to increased costs.
 We believe that the international market for our products is growing rapidly, and we expect to commit significant resources to expand our international
sales and marketing activities. As we expand internationally, we will be increasingly subject to a number of risks and potential costs, including:
 
 •  political and economic instability;
 
 

•  unexpected changes in regulatory requirements and policy, the adoption of laws detrimental to our operations such as legislation relating to the
collection of personal data over the Internet or the adoption of laws, regulations, or treaties governing the export of encryption related software;

 
 •  the burdens of complying with a wide variety of other laws and regulations;
 
 •  failure to adequately manage currency exchange rate fluctuations;
 
 •  potentially adverse tax consequences, including restrictions on the repatriation of earnings;
 
 •  potential difficulty of enforcing agreements and collecting receivables in some foreign legal systems; and
 
 •  general economic conditions in international markets.
 

We may not be able to overcome these barriers or avoid significant expenditures in addressing these potential risks.
 
Foreign currency fluctuations may adversely affect us.
 Approximately 15.8 percent of our consolidated revenues for the year ended December 31, 2004 and 37.3 percent of our consolidated assets at December
31, 2004 are associated with operations outside of the U.S. The U.S. dollar balance sheets and statements of income for these businesses are subject to currency
fluctuations. We are most vulnerable to fluctuations in the Brazilian real and the British pound against the U.S. dollar. The cumulative translation adjustment,
largely related to our investment in our Brazilian card processing operation, was a $58.6 million and $75.1 million reduction of shareholders’ equity at December
31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
 
Economic conditions in Brazil could adversely affect our Brazilian operations.
 Economic conditions in Brazil are uncertain, which has created currency volatility and a major devaluation in the past, resulting in severe inflationary
pressures. In addition, significant changes in bank ownership, as large private banks acquire smaller regional banks and foreign global banks acquire Brazilian
banks, could result in the loss of customers. These conditions make it challenging for us to develop our business and generate revenues in Brazil. See Part I, Item
7—“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Seasonality, Inflation, and Economic Downturns” included
elsewhere in this report.
 
Our market is highly competitive, and some of our competitors have substantially greater resources than we do.
 We expect the market for our products and services to remain highly competitive. Our failure to remain competitive may have a material adverse effect on
our business, financial condition, and results of operations. We face direct competition from third-party payment processors and companies that market software
for the electronic payment industry. We also compete against software and transaction processing systems developed and used in-house by our potential
customers. Our competitors may develop products and services that are superior to or that achieve greater market acceptance than our products and services. The
size of our competitors varies across market segments, as do the resources we have allocated to the segments we target. Therefore, certain of our competitors may
have significantly greater financial, technical, marketing, or other resources than we do in each of our market segments or overall. As a result, our competitors
may be in a position to respond more quickly than we can to new or emerging technologies and changes in customer requirements, or may devote greater
resources than we can to the development, promotion, sale, and support of their products and services.
 

Moreover, new competitors or alliances among our competitors may emerge and rapidly decrease our market share. We may not be able to maintain our
competitive position against current and potential competitors, especially those with significantly greater resources than we have. Accordingly, competitive
pressures may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.
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Completing and integrating acquisitions may be difficult.
 As part of our growth strategy, we routinely pursue acquisitions of companies whose businesses extend or complement ours. We cannot, however, assure
you that we will be able to successfully acquire suitable target companies on favorable terms or integrate these companies with our existing business. If we
complete an acquisition, we cannot assure you that the acquisition will enhance our business, results of operations or financial condition in the future. We may
require additional debt or equity financing for future acquisitions.
 
Executive Officers of the Registrant
 Information relating to our executive officers as of the end of the period covered by this report is set forth below. There are no family relationships among
the executive officers, directors or nominees for director, nor are there any arrangements or understandings between any of the executive officers and any other
persons pursuant to which they were selected as executive officers.
 
Name

  

Age

  

Position

Lee A. Kennedy   54  Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
Larry J. Towe   58  President and Chief Operating Officer
Michael T. Vollkommer      46  Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
Walter M. Korchun   62  Executive Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary
Robert W. Bream   51  Executive Vice President and Group Executive—North America Card Services
Jeffrey S. Carbiener   42  Executive Vice President and Group Executive—Check Services
Gerald A. Hines   57  Executive Vice President—Global Development
Vincent G. Pavese   49  Executive Vice President and Group Executive—International Card Services
J. Gerard Ballard   47  Senior Vice President and Chief Technology Officer
Richard D. Gapen   64  Senior Vice President—Human Resources
Michael E. Sax   42  Senior Vice President and Treasurer
Pamela A. Tefft   35  Senior Vice President and Controller
Mary K. Waggoner   46  Senior Vice President—Investor Relations
 

Lee A. Kennedy has served as our Chairman of the Board since February 2002 and Chief Executive Officer since March 2001. He also served as President
of Certegy from March 2001 until May 2004. Mr. Kennedy served as President, Chief Operating Officer, and a director of Equifax Inc. from June 1999 until June
2001. From June 1997 to June 1999, Mr. Kennedy served as Executive Vice President and Group Executive of Equifax. From July 1995 to June 1997 he served as
President of Equifax Payment Services, a division of Equifax.
 

Larry J. Towe has served as our President and Chief Operating Officer since May 2004. Mr. Towe previously served as our Executive Vice President and
Chief Operating Officer since June 2001. From June 1999 to June 2001, Mr. Towe served as Executive Vice President and Group Executive—Payment Services
of Equifax Inc. From May 1997 to June 1999, Mr. Towe served as Senior Vice President and General Manager of Equifax Card Solutions, International, a unit of
Equifax. Prior to that, Mr. Towe served as President, FBS Software, a provider of software solutions for payment cards, collections, and merchant processing,
which Equifax acquired in July 1994.
 

Michael T. Vollkommer has served as our Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer since June 2001. Mr. Vollkommer previously served as
Corporate Vice President and Controller of Equifax Inc. from November 1999 until June 2001. From December 1998 to August 1999, Mr. Vollkommer was Vice
President—Finance of Superior TeleCom Inc., a manufacturer of copper wire and cable products. From 1994 until 1998, Mr. Vollkommer held executive officer
positions with Alumax Inc., a producer of primary aluminum and fabricated aluminum products, including Vice President and Chief Financial Officer from
December 1997 to August 1998, Vice President-Strategic Planning and Corporate Development from June 1997 to December 1997, and Vice President and
Controller from January 1994 to June 1997.
 

Walter M. Korchun has served as our Executive Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary since August 2002. Previously, Mr. Korchun served as our
Senior Vice President and Chief Operations Counsel from 2000 to 2002. From 1990 to 2000, Mr. Korchun served as Senior Vice President, General Counsel and
Secretary of AT&T Universal Card Services, a provider of credit cards and related services.
 

Robert W. Bream has served as our Executive Vice President and Group Executive—North America Card Services since November 2003. Mr. Bream
previously served as our Senior Vice President and General Manager—Card Services North America from September 2002 until November 2003. Prior to joining
Certegy, Mr. Bream served as President, Chief Executive Officer and Treasurer for United Airlines Credit Union from 1991 to 2002.
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Jeffrey S. Carbiener has served as our Executive Vice President and Group Executive—Check Services since June 2001. Mr. Carbiener previously served
as Senior Vice President, Equifax Check Solutions, a unit of Equifax Inc., from February 1998 until June 2001. Prior to that, he held various other positions with
Equifax business units since 1991.
 

Gerald A. Hines has served as our Executive Vice President—Global Development since November 2003. Mr. Hines previously served as Senior Vice
President and Group Executive—Card Services from June 2001 until November 2003 and as Senior Vice President, Equifax Card Solutions-Americas, a unit of
Equifax Inc., from September 1997 until June 2001. Prior to joining Equifax, Mr. Hines was Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer at AT&T
Universal Card Services, a credit card issuer, from April 1993 to August 1997.
 

Vincent G. Pavese has served as our Executive Vice President and Group Executive—International Card Services since November 2003. Mr. Pavese
previously served as our Senior Vice President and General Manager—International Card Services from September 2002 until November 2003 and as our Senior
Vice President and General Manager—Card Services North America from January 1999 until September 2002. Prior to that, he held various positions with
Equifax (and formerly Telecredit) since 1986.
 

J. Gerard Ballard has served as our Senior Vice President and Chief Technology Officer since June 2001. Mr. Ballard previously served as Chief
Technology Officer of Equifax Payment Services, a division of Equifax Inc., from February 2001 until June 2001. From June 1997 to December 2000, Mr.
Ballard served as Executive Vice President and Chief Information Officer for Vital Processing Services, LLC, a provider of technology-based commerce enabling
services. From September 1995 to June 1997, Mr. Ballard was Vice President, Equifax Payment Services.
 

Richard D. Gapen has served as our Senior Vice President—Human Resources since June 2001. Mr. Gapen previously served as Senior Vice President of
Compensation and Benefits for Equifax Inc. from June 1997 until June 2001. From 1991 until 1996, Mr. Gapen was Director of Employee Benefits for W. R.
Grace and Company.
 

Michael E. Sax has served as our Senior Vice President and Treasurer since February 2002 and previously as Corporate Vice President and Controller from
June 2001 through February 2002. Mr. Sax previously served as Senior Vice President and Controller of Equifax Payment Services, a division of Equifax Inc.,
from July 1998 until June 2001. Prior to that, Mr. Sax held various financial positions with units of Equifax since 1992.
 

Pamela A. Tefft has served as our Senior Vice President and Controller since February 2002 and previously as Vice President of Financial Reporting from
June 2001 through February 2002. Ms. Tefft previously served as the Financial Audit Director of Equifax Inc. from May 1999 until June 2001. Prior to joining
Equifax, Ms. Tefft was a Manager in the Assurance & Business Advisory Services group of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (formerly Coopers & Lybrand LLP)
from September 1992 through May 1999.
 

Mary K. Waggoner has served as our Senior Vice President—Investor Relations since November 2001. From June 2001 until November 2001, Ms.
Waggoner served as our Vice President of Investor Relations. Prior to joining Certegy, Ms. Waggoner served as Senior Vice President for Firstar/Mercantile in St.
Louis, Missouri from 1997 until 2000. From 1995 until 1997, she was President of Mercantile Bank of Carlyle in Carlyle, Illinois.
 
ITEM 2. PROPERTIES
 Our corporate headquarters are located in St. Petersburg, Florida, pursuant to a lease with an unaffiliated third party, while certain financial and other
support functions are performed from a leased facility in the Atlanta, Georgia area. Our principal operations center and administration, sales, marketing, and
development facilities for both Card Services and Check Services are located in St. Petersburg, Florida, in a 305,000 square foot leased building. Card Services
and Check Services have other smaller leased operations facilities in Alabama, Wisconsin, Utah, Oregon, and Georgia. In support of our international operations,
Card Services has leased operations centers in Brazil, Chile, the U.K., Australia, Thailand, and the Caribbean, and Check Services has leased facilities in the
U.K., France, Australia, and New Zealand. We also have a number of small sales or support offices in other locations where we do business.
 
ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
 We are party to a number of routine claims and lawsuits incidental to our business. We believe the ultimate resolution of these matters will not have a
materially adverse effect on our financial position, liquidity, or results of operations.
 

On October 22, 2004, a complaint for patent infringement was filed in the matter of USA Payments, Inc. and Global Cash Access, Inc. v. U.S. Bancorp dba
U.S. Bank, et al., Case No. CV-S-04-1470-JCM PAL, U.S. District Court, District of Nevada. The complaint named Certegy Inc. and three of its subsidiaries,
Certegy Check Services, Inc., Game Financial Corporation and GameCash, Inc. as defendants. The plaintiffs are seeking injunctive relief, an unspecified amount
of damages (but no less than an unspecified reasonable royalty), a trebling of damages, together with pre-judgment interest, and attorneys’ fees. Discovery has
recently commenced and no trial date has been set. Management believes it has meritorious defenses and is defending the matter vigorously.
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ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS
 None.
 

PART II
 
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY
SECURITIES
 Market Price of and Dividends on the Registrant’s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters
 Our common stock trades on the New York Stock Exchange under the ticker symbol “CEY.” The table set forth below provides the high and low sales
prices of our common stock and the cash dividends declared per share of common stock for each quarter of 2004 and 2003.
 

   

High

  

Low

  

Dividend

2004             
First Quarter   $35.04  $31.32  $ 0.05
Second Quarter   $39.61  $34.10  $ 0.05
Third Quarter   $39.73  $36.20  $ 0.05
Fourth Quarter   $38.35  $32.70  $ 0.05

2003             
First Quarter   $26.82  $21.10  $ —  
Second Quarter   $30.88  $24.22  $ —  
Third Quarter   $32.98  $25.55  $ 0.05
Fourth Quarter   $35.24  $31.15  $ 0.05

 
As of January 31, 2005, there were approximately 6,923 shareholders of record of our common stock.

 
We began declaring cash dividends to common shareholders in the third quarter of 2003. The declaration and payment of future dividends is at the

discretion of the Board of Directors of Certegy, and depends on among other things, our investment policy and opportunities, results of operations, financial
condition, cash requirements, future prospects, and other factors that may be considered relevant by our Board of Directors, including legal and contractual
restrictions. Additionally, the payment of cash dividends may be limited by covenants in certain debt agreements.
 

Item 12 of Part III contains information concerning securities authorized for issuance under our equity compensation plans.
 
Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers
 The following table provides information about purchases by Certegy of its common stock during the three months ended December 31, 2004. All such
purchases were made pursuant to a repurchase plan publicly announced in May 2004 under which the Board of Directors approved a $100 million repurchase
program.
 

Period

  

Total Number of
Shares Purchased

  

Average Price Paid
Per Share

  

Total Number of
Shares Purchased as

Part of Publicly
Announced Plans or

Programs

  

Approximate Dollar
Value of Shares that

May Yet Be
Purchased Under the

Plans or Programs

10/1/04-10/31/04   —    $ —    —    $ 52,030,857
11/1/04-11/30/04   —    $ —    —    $ 52,030,857
12/1/04-12/31/04   262,400  $ 33.18  262,400  $ 43,325,604
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
 Our selected financial data set forth below should be read in conjunction with Item 7: Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations and Item 8: Financial Statements and Supplementary Data included elsewhere in this report.
 

In September 2004, our Board of Directors approved a plan to sell our merchant acquiring business, at which time, the held for sale criteria in Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets” (“SFAS 144”), were met. Therefore, our
financial statements reflect the merchant acquiring business as a discontinued operation with the related assets and liabilities classified under the captions “Assets
held for sale” and “Liabilities related to assets held for sale” in the consolidated balance sheets. We expect that the merchant acquiring business will be sold
within a year of approving this plan. We plan to continue to operate the institution processing business, which we believe is complementary to our card issuing
business. The merchant acquiring operations were historically included in the Card Services segment.
 

   

Year Ended December 31,

 

   

2004

  

2003(1)

  

2002(1)

  

2001

  

2000

 
   (Dollars in thousands, except for per share data)  
Results of Operations:                      
Revenues (2)   $1,039,506  $921,734  $906,791  $838,330  $827,374 
Operating expenses (2)(3)(4)    859,852   773,519   759,622   693,061   681,750 
       
Operating income    179,654   148,215   147,169   145,269   145,624 
Other income, net    1,207   2,339   1,119   78   1,309 
Interest expense (5)    (12,914)   (7,950)   (7,120)   (7,200)   (1,301)
       
Income from continuing operations before income taxes, minority interests, and cumulative

effect of a change in accounting principle    167,947   142,604   141,168   138,147   145,632 
Provision for income taxes    (62,071)   (52,764)   (54,110)   (54,005)   (57,000)
Minority interests in earnings, net of tax    —     —     —     (945)   (1,096)
       
Income from continuing operations before cumulative effect of a change in accounting

principle    105,876   89,840   87,058   83,197   87,536 
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax    5,934   3,897   2,926   3,879   926 
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle, net of tax (6)    —     (1,335)   —     —     —   
       
Net income   $ 111,810  $ 92,402  $ 89,984  $ 87,076  $ 88,462 
       
Basic earnings per share (7):                      

Income from continuing operations before cumulative effect of an accounting change  $ 1.69  $ 1.38  $ 1.28  $ 1.21  $ 1.31 
Income from discontinued operations    0.09   0.06   0.04   0.06   0.01 
Cumulative effect of an accounting change    —     (0.02)   —     —     —   

       
Net income   $ 1.78  $ 1.42  $ 1.32  $ 1.27  $ 1.32 

       
Diluted earnings per share (8):                      

Income from continuing operations before cumulative effect of an accounting change  $ 1.66  $ 1.36  $ 1.26  $ 1.20  $ 1.29 
Income from discontinued operations.    0.09   0.06   0.04   0.06   0.01 
Cumulative effect of an accounting change    —     (0.02)   —     —     —   

       
Net income   $ 1.75  $ 1.40  $ 1.30  $ 1.26  $ 1.30 

       
Cash dividends declared per common share   $ 0.20  $ 0.10  $ —    $ —    $ —   

Other Operating Data:                      
Depreciation & amortization   $ 47,449  $ 42,030  $ 39,050  $ 45,677  $ 42,698 
Capital expenditures   $ 40,908  $ 43,747  $ 48,961  $ 49,349  $ 38,789 
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges (9)    10.57x  12.32x  13.10x  12.18x  21.96x

Balance Sheet Data:                      
Total assets (10)   $ 922,209  $785,356  $702,141  $736,203  $523,049 
Long-term debt   $ 273,968  $222,399  $214,200  $230,000  $ —   
Total shareholders’ equity   $ 300,063  $261,139  $198,443  $ 211,865  $323,618 

(1) Our financial results for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002 include other charges of $12.2 million ($7.7 million after-tax) in each year. The other
charges in 2003 include $9.6 million of early termination costs associated with a U.S. data processing contract, $2.7 million of charges related to the
downsizing of our Brazilian card operation, and $(0.1) million of market value recoveries on our collateral assignment in life insurance policies, net of
severance charges. The other charges in 2002 include an impairment write-off of $4.2 million for the remaining intangible asset value assigned to an
acquired customer contract in our Brazilian card operation, due to the loss of the customer; a $4.0 million charge for the settlement of a class action lawsuit,
net of insurance proceeds; and $4.0 million of severance charges and market value losses on our collateral assignment in life insurance policies. See Note 3
to the consolidated financial statements for further information.
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(2) On January 1, 2002, we adopted Emerging Issues Task Force Issue No. 01-14, “Income Statement Characterization of Reimbursements Received for ‘Out-
of-Pocket’ Expenses Incurred,” which required reimbursements received for out-of-pocket expenses to be reclassified from operating expenses to revenues.
Amounts for years prior to 2002 were reclassified to conform to this presentation.

(3) General corporate expense was $21.9 million, $18.5 million, $19.3 million, $11.9 million, and $7.8 million, respectively, for the years ended December 31,
2004, 2003, 2002, 2001, and 2000.

(4) We adopted SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” effective January 1, 2002, which ceased the amortization of goodwill. Adoption of the
non-amortization provisions of SFAS No. 142 as of January 1, 2000 would have increased net income for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000,
respectively, by $7.3 million and $6.8 million, which is net of $1.3 million and $1.2 million of income taxes.

(5) In conjunction with our spin-off from Equifax in July 2001, we made a cash payment to Equifax of $275 million to reflect our share of Equifax’s pre-
distribution debt used to establish our initial capitalization. This was funded through $400 million of unsecured revolving credit facilities we obtained in
July 2001. Interest expense for periods prior to the spin-off principally consist of interest paid on a line of credit held by our Brazilian card business and
interest charged by Equifax on overnight funds borrowed on our behalf.

(6) The cumulative effect of accounting change expense of $1.3 million in 2003 reflects the adoption of certain provisions of Financial Accounting Standards
Board Interpretation No. 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, an Interpretation of Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51,” on December 31, 2003
related to the synthetic lease on our St. Petersburg, Florida operations facility. See Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements for further information.

(7) Prior to our spin-off from Equifax, basic weighted average shares outstanding was computed by applying the distribution ratio of one share of Certegy
common stock for every two shares of Equifax common stock held to the historical Equifax weighted average shares outstanding for the same periods
presented.

(8) Prior to our spin-off from Equifax, diluted weighted average shares outstanding was estimated based on the dilutive effect of stock options calculated in the
third quarter of 2001.

(9) For purposes of calculating the ratio of earnings to fixed charges, “earnings” consist of our income from continuing operations before income taxes,
cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle, and fixed charges, but including minority interests in earnings. “Fixed charges” consist of interest on
indebtedness, amortization of deferred financing costs, and an estimated amount of rental expense that is deemed to be representative of the interest factor.

(10) Historically, we netted the claims payable and claims recoverable amounts related to our Check Services business within other current liabilities in the
consolidated balance sheets. Beginning in 2002, we reclassified the claims recoverable as a current asset and the claims payable as a current liability.
Amounts for years prior to 2002 were reclassified to conform to this presentation.

 
ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
 The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with Item 6: Selected Financial Data and Item 8: Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data included elsewhere in this report.
 

Additionally, throughout this management’s discussion and analysis, we refer to certain financial amounts both on a before- and after-tax basis.
Management believes it is helpful to include the after-tax effect of certain financial charges to allow investors and management to evaluate their impact on net
income and diluted earnings per share.
 
Overview
 We provide credit card, debit card, and other transaction processing and check risk management services to financial institutions and merchants in the U.S.
and internationally through two segments, Card Services and Check Services. Card Services provides card issuer services in the U.S., the U.K., Brazil, Chile,
Australia, New Zealand, Ireland, Thailand, and the Caribbean. Additionally, Card Services provides merchant processing and e-banking services in the U.S. and
card issuer software, support, and consulting services in numerous countries. Check Services provides check risk management services and related processing
services in the U.S., the U.K., Canada, France, Ireland, Australia, and New Zealand.
 

18



Table of Contents

Card Services. Card Services provides a full range of card issuer services that enable banks, credit unions, retailers, and others to issue VISA and
MasterCard credit and debit cards, private label cards, and other electronic payment cards for use by both consumer and business accounts. Additionally, we
process American Express cards in Australia and the Caribbean. Our debit card services support both off-line debit cards, which are processed similarly to credit
cards, and on-line debit cards, through which cardholders obtain immediate access to funds in their bank accounts through ATMs or merchant point-of-sale
terminals. In the U.S., our card processing business is concentrated in the independent community bank and credit union segments of the market, while
internationally, we service both large and small financial institutions. We provide our card issuer services internationally through our operations in the U.S.,
Brazil, Chile, the U.K., Australia, and the Caribbean. Our merchant processing services enable retailers and other businesses to accept credit, debit, and other
electronic payment cards from purchasers of their goods and services, while our e-banking services enable financial institutions to offer Internet banking and
related products to consumers and businesses. Card issuing software, support, and consulting services allow customers to manage their credit card programs.
 

Card transactions continue to increase as a percentage of total point-of-sale payments, which fuels continuing demand for card-related products. We
continue to launch new products aimed at serving this demand. In recent years, we have introduced a variety of stored-value card types, Internet banking, and
electronic bill presentment/payment products, as well as a number of card enhancement and loyalty/reward programs. The common theme among these offerings
continues to be convenience and security for the consumer coupled with value to the financial institution.
 

Over the past seven years, we pursued growth in international markets through acquisitions in Brazil, Chile, and the Caribbean, and the start-up of our card
processing operations in the U.K. and Australia. In 2000, we entered into a five-year agreement with a multi-national Australian-based financial institution to
process cards issued in Australia, New Zealand, the U.K., and Ireland, with operations commencing in the second quarter of 2001. This financial institution is
serviced from our card processing operation in Australia, as well as from our card processing operation in the U.K. In 2003, we entered into an eight-year
agreement with a Thailand financial institution to process its VISA and MasterCard credit cards and unsecured personal loans. This financial institution is also
serviced from our card processing operation in Australia. Card Services plans to pursue further card processing opportunities in the Asia Pacific Region, utilizing
our Australian operation as the processing center.
 

We believe that the increased use of credit, debit, and other electronic payment cards around the globe will continue to present the card processing industry
with significant growth opportunities. We intend to continue to expand our card processing business in the independent community bank and credit union
segments of the market. Moreover, our future growth and profitability will significantly depend upon our ability to penetrate additional international markets,
including emerging markets for electronic transaction processing. Our certification as an American Express processor also provides further growth opportunities
for us in the global card market.
 

Check Services. Check Services provides check risk management and related processing products and services to businesses accepting or cashing checks at
the point-of-sale. These services utilize our proprietary check authorization systems and risk assessment decision platforms. A significant portion of our revenues
from check risk management services is generated from several large national and regional merchants, including national retail chains. Other customers of our
Check Services segment include hotels, automotive dealers, telecommunications companies, supermarkets, casinos, mail order houses, and other businesses. Our
services allow our clients to run their customers’ personal and business checks through an automated decision-making process that assesses the likelihood that a
check will clear. We provide our check risk management products and services internationally in Canada, the U.K., Ireland, France, Australia, and New Zealand.
Our principal product in all those countries is check guarantee services, although mass retailers are beginning to utilize our check verification, collection services,
and deferred debit processing services.
 

In recent years, we have introduced several new products for existing and new markets, such as third-party check collections; electronic check risk
management solutions for point-of-sale, call center, and electronic commerce applications; and PayCheck Accept™, which enables supermarkets and gaming
establishments to reduce the risk of check losses and fraud in connection with their payroll check cashing services. Additionally, the acquisition of Game
Financial Corporation (“Game Financial”) on March 1, 2004, helps position us as a leading provider of comprehensive cash access services in the gaming
industry and broadens our check risk management product line and customer base.
 

We believe check writing has begun to decline as a total percentage of point-of-sale payments due, in part, to the growing use of debit and credit cards. At
the same time, however, demand for our services is strong due to factors that include increasing sophistication of check fraud and higher concentration of bad
checks written at the point-of-sale due to a trend of higher credit quality consumers paying more with credit and debit cards and writing fewer checks. These
factors are contributing to a growing reliance of retailers and other businesses on outside vendors, such as us, to provide check risk management services.
 

19



Table of Contents

Key Performance Indicators. Management uses various key indicators to manage its business, including revenue and operating income growth, operating
margin, earnings per share growth, number of cards and accounts on file, and volumes processed.
 

Comparability of Financial Results. Our financial results for 2003 were adversely impacted by the loss of a large customer in our merchant processing
business, which was acquired and moved its account to its new owner’s processor in the third quarter of 2002, and the loss of a large customer in our Brazilian
card operation, which discontinued using our card processing services at the beginning of March 2003. In our Check Services segment, our financial results in
2003 were adversely impacted by slow retail volumes due to general economic conditions, and, in addition, incremental start-up costs relating to our check
cashing services business. Additionally, the business developments described in the next section also affected the comparability of our financial results for the
years ended December 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002.
 
Business Developments
 Discontinued Operations. Our merchant processing operations consist of two businesses: (1) merchant acquiring, where we are a direct party to contracts
with merchants regarding our provision of card processing services for the merchant, and we are subject to the associated risk that a cardholder billing dispute
will be resolved in favor of the cardholder (referred to as a cardholder “chargeback”), and (2) institution processing, where we provide authorization, settlement,
and customer service to community banks and others that contract directly with merchant customers. We view merchant acquiring as a non-strategic business and
over the past few years, have operated this business conservatively to reduce exposure to merchant risk, which in the short-term improved overall profitability but
limited growth. In September 2004, the Board of Directors of Certegy approved a plan to sell our merchant acquiring business, at which time, the held for sale
criteria in Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets” (“SFAS 144”),
were met. We plan to continue to operate the institution processing business, which we believe is complementary to our card issuing business.
 

We have a number of potential purchasers who have expressed interest in our merchant acquiring business. We are currently reviewing qualified offers. We
currently anticipate that the proceeds from the sale of this business will be used to pay down our revolving credit facility borrowings. We could change the use of
this cash for strategic acquisitions if deemed appropriate.
 

Our financial statements reflect the merchant acquiring business as a discontinued operation with the related assets and liabilities classified under the
captions “Assets held for sale” and “Liabilities related to assets held for sale” in the consolidated balance sheets. The results of operations are treated as income
from discontinued operations, net of tax, and separately stated in the consolidated statements of income, below income from continuing operations. The merchant
acquiring operations were historically included in the Card Services segment. Refer to Note 5 in the consolidated financial statements for further information.
 

Acquisitions. On March 1, 2004, we completed the purchases of Game Financial, a provider of debit and credit card cash advances, ATM access, and check
cashing services in gaming institutions, and Crittson Financial Services LLC (“Crittson”), a full service provider of card and merchant processing services. The
acquisition of Game Financial helps position us as a leading provider of comprehensive cash access services in the gaming industry and broadens our check risk
management product line and customer base, while the acquisition of Crittson further strengthens our U.S. market share as the leading third party credit card
processor for community banks and credit unions. On August 6, 2004, we completed the acquisition of Caribbean CariCard Services, Inc. (“CariCard”), a third
party transaction processor in the Caribbean. CariCard provides a wide range of products and services to financial institutions, retailers, and the petroleum
industry that service markets in 16 countries throughout the Caribbean.
 

These acquisitions had a combined initial cash purchase price of $46.2 million, net of $24.6 million of cash acquired. During 2004, we paid net additional
consideration of $0.3 million to the former owners of the businesses acquired resulting from a final determination of net assets acquired. These payments were
recorded as adjustments to goodwill. Additionally, we received $1.0 million from the former owner of one of the businesses acquired as a reduction in purchase
price due to the termination of a customer contract subsequent to the acquisition. This payment was recorded as an adjustment to the value assigned to acquired
customer contracts.
 

In connection with these acquisitions, we recorded acquisition liabilities totaling $7.8 million for early termination costs associated with a data processing
contract of one of the acquired businesses, severance and relocation costs for employees of the acquired businesses, and professional fees. These costs are
reflected as assumed liabilities in the allocation of the purchase price to net assets acquired. As of December 31, 2004, $6.3 million of these costs had been paid
and charged against the liability. The remaining amounts are expected to be paid during 2005.
 

The purchase price allocation, including the purchase price adjustments of $0.3 million and $1.0 million, resulted in identifiable intangible assets of $20.4
million, which are being amortized primarily over seven years. This intangible asset value was assigned to acquired customer contracts. Goodwill recognized in
these acquisitions amounted to $39.3 million, which is expected to be fully deductible for tax purposes. Goodwill was assigned to the Card Services and Check
Services segments in the amounts of $21.9 million and $17.4 million, respectively.
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In connection with the acquisition of Game Financial, we may receive purchase price reductions for certain customers if those customers terminate their
contracts during designated periods subsequent to the acquisition. The maximum amount that could be received by us is $8.7 million. Additionally, in connection
with the acquisition of Crittson, we may be required to pay certain additional amounts of up to $1.2 million, payable in cash and to be accounted for under the
purchase method, contingent upon the acquired business achieving specified levels of revenue growth during designated periods subsequent to the acquisition.
Any such payments to or by us would result in adjustments to goodwill or in the case of customer contract settlements, to identifiable intangible assets.
 

On December 31, 2002, we completed the purchase of Netzee, Inc., a provider of Internet banking products and e-commerce solutions to community banks
and credit unions, for $10.4 million in cash. Approximately $7.8 million of the purchase price was allocated to identifiable intangible assets for acquired customer
contracts, which are being amortized on a straight-line basis primarily over five years.
 

In connection with this acquisition, we recorded acquisition liabilities totaling $0.6 million primarily for severance costs for employees of the acquired
businesses and professional fees. These costs were reflected as assumed liabilities in the allocation of the purchase price to net assets acquired. As of December
31, 2003, all of these costs had been paid and charged against the liability.
 

The above acquisitions were accounted for as purchases and their results of operations have been included in the consolidated statements of income from
the dates of acquisition. The pro forma effects of these acquisitions on our consolidated financial statements were not material.
 

Approximately $5.8 million of the Crittson purchase price, which represents merchant acquiring operations, was reclassified to discontinued operations,
including $4.0 million of goodwill and $1.2 million of identifiable intangible assets. Additionally, during 2003, we acquired a merchant portfolio for $4.5 million
in cash, which was being amortized on a straight-line basis over seven years. This acquisition was also reclassified to discontinued operations (see Note 5 to the
consolidated financial statements for further information).
 

$200 Million Note Offering. In September 2003, we completed our offering of $200 million aggregate principal amount of 4.75 percent senior unsecured
notes, which mature in September 2008. The proceeds from this offering were used to pay off the outstanding indebtedness under our $300 million revolving
credit facility and for general corporate purposes (see Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements for further information).
 

Adoption of FIN 46. On December 31, 2003, we adopted certain provisions of Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation No. 46, “Consolidation
of Variable Interest Entities, an Interpretation of Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51” (“FIN 46”) as required for the synthetic lease on our St. Petersburg,
Florida operations facility. In conjunction with the adoption of FIN 46, we recognized a cumulative effect of accounting change expense of $1.3 million after-tax,
or $0.02 per diluted share. Additionally, we recorded property and equipment of $21.0 million, which is net of accumulated depreciation, deferred income tax
assets of $0.8 million, long-term notes payable of $22.4 million, and a minority interest liability of $0.8 million, which is included in other long-term liabilities in
the consolidated balance sheet (see Notes 2 and 6 to the consolidated financial statements for further information).
 

Share Repurchase Authority. In May 2004, the Board of Directors approved a $100 million share repurchase program, which replaced the prior authority.
As of December 31, 2004, we had approximately $43.3 million remaining authority for share repurchases.
 

Other Charges in 2003 and 2002. During 2003, we recorded other charges of $12.2 million ($7.7 million after-tax). These charges include $9.6 million of
early termination costs associated with a U.S. data processing contract, $2.7 million of charges related to the downsizing of our Brazilian card operation, and
$(0.1) million of market value recoveries on our collateral assignment in life insurance policies, net of severance charges. In 2002, we also recorded other charges
of $12.2 million ($7.7 million after-tax). These charges include an impairment write-off of $4.2 million for the remaining intangible asset value assigned to an
acquired customer contract in our Brazilian card operation, due to the loss of the customer; a $4.0 million charge for the settlement of a class action lawsuit, net of
insurance proceeds; and $4.0 million of severance charges and market value losses on our collateral assignment in life insurance policies (see Note 3 to the
consolidated financial statements for further information).
 
Components of Income Statement
 Card Services generates revenues from charges based on transaction volumes, accounts or cards processed, and fees for various services and products,
while Check Services generates revenues from charges based on transaction volumes, face value of checks guaranteed, and fees for various check services and
products. Revenues depend upon a number of factors, such as demand for and price of our services, the technological competitiveness of our product line, our
reputation for providing timely and reliable service, competition
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within our industry, and general economic conditions. Costs of services consist primarily of the costs of transaction processing systems; personnel costs to
develop and maintain applications, operate computer networks, and provide customer support; losses from check guarantee services; interchange (processing fees
paid to credit card associations) and other fees related to merchant processing; depreciation and occupancy costs associated with the facilities where these
functions are performed; and reimbursed out-of-pocket expenses. Selling, general, and administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries, wages, and related
expenses paid to sales, non-revenue customer support functions, and administrative employees and management.
 

As mentioned previously, our merchant processing operations consist of two businesses, merchant acquiring and institution processing. In our merchant
acquiring business, where we are a direct party to contracts with merchants, revenues collected for services are based primarily on a discount rate, which
considers the cost of interchange fees. In our institution processing business, where our relationship is with the financial institution that contracts directly with the
merchant, we collect the interchange fees in addition to transaction fees. In both instances, we are responsible for collecting the interchange fees after settling
with the credit card associations and thus, interchange fees are recorded as a component of revenues and costs of services in the consolidated statements of
income. Interchange fees reflected in the consolidated statements of income for 2004, 2003, and 2002 from continuing operations (institution processing) were
$69.0 million, $62.8 million, and $86.0 million, respectively.
 
Highlights of the 2004 Consolidated Financial Results
 Highlights of the 2004 consolidated financial results, as compared to 2003, including other charges and cumulative effect of accounting change in 2003, are
as follows:
 
 •  Revenues grew 12.8 percent to $1.0 billion.
 
 •  Operating income of $179.7 million increased 21.2 percent.
 
 •  Interest expense totaled $12.9 million versus $8.0 million in 2003.
 
 

•  Net income increased 21.0 percent to $111.8 million, comprised of $105.9 million from continuing operations and $5.9 million from discontinued
operations.

 
 

•  Diluted earnings per share increased 25.0 percent to $1.75 per share, comprised of $1.66 from continuing operations and $0.09 from discontinued
operations.

 
In 2004, we repurchased 2.7 million shares of our common stock at a cost of $96.5 million, while capital expenditures totaled $40.9 million.

 
Consolidated Results of Operations
 The following table summarizes our consolidated financial results for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002:
 

   

2004

  

2003(1)

  

2002(1)

 
   (in millions, except per share amounts)  
Revenues   $ 1,039.5  $ 921.7  $ 906.8 
Operating expenses   $ 859.9  $ 773.5  $ 759.6 
Operating income   $ 179.7  $ 148.2  $ 147.2 
Other income, net   $ 1.2  $ 2.3  $ 1.1 
Interest expense   $ (12.9)  $ (8.0)  $ (7.1)
Income from continuing operations before cumulative effect of accounting change   $ 105.9  $ 89.8  $ 87.1 
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax (2)   $ 5.9  $ 3.9  $ 2.9 
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of tax (3)   $ —    $ (1.3)  $ —   
Net income   $ 111.8  $ 92.4  $ 90.0 
Diluted EPS:              

Income from continuing operations before cumulative effect of accounting change   $ 1.66  $ 1.36  $ 1.26 
Income from discontinued operations    0.09   0.06   0.04 
Cumulative effect of accounting change    —     (0.02)   —   

     
Net income   $ 1.75  $ 1.40  $ 1.30 

     

(1) The consolidated results for the twelve months ended December 31, 2003 and 2002 each include other charges of $12.2 million ($7.7 million after-tax, or
$0.12 per diluted share) as previously described.
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(2) In September 2004, the Board of Directors approved a plan to sell our merchant acquiring business, at which time the held for sale criteria in SFAS 144
was met. We expect that the merchant acquiring business will be sold within a year of approving this plan. Consolidated results have been restated in our
Management’s Discussion and Analysis and Financial Statements for discontinued operations.

(3) The cumulative effect of accounting change expense of $1.3 million after-tax reflects the adoption of certain provisions of FIN 46 on December 31, 2003 as
required for the synthetic lease on our St. Petersburg, Florida operations facility.

 
Consolidated Revenues
 Year 2004 compared with Year 2003
 Consolidated revenues in 2004 of $1.0 billion increased $117.8 million, or 12.8 percent, over 2003. Card Services revenues grew $39.6 million, or 7.2
percent, while Check Services experienced revenue growth of $78.1 million, or 21.1 percent.
 

Overall, our revenue growth was driven by acquisitions, strong growth in our North America card issuing and global check operations, and favorable
currency rates, which more than offset the $5.6 million decline in software revenue and the annualization of the loss of a large customer in our Brazilian card
operations in March 2003. The strengthening of certain foreign currencies against the U.S. dollar increased total U.S. dollar revenues by $15.9 million in 2004.
 
Year 2003 compared with Year 2002
 Consolidated revenues in 2003 of $921.7 million increased $14.9 million, or 1.6 percent, over 2002. Card Services revenues decreased $9.0 million, or 1.6
percent, while Check Services experienced revenue growth of $23.9 million, or 6.9 percent.
 

Overall, our revenue growth was driven by strong growth in our card issuer operations outside of South America and growth in our global check business,
which offset the impact of the loss of a large customer in our Brazilian card issuer business in March 2003 and the loss of a large customer in our merchant
processing business in the third quarter of 2002. The strengthening of certain foreign currencies against the U.S. dollar increased total U.S. dollar revenues by
$6.7 million in 2003. The strengthening exchange rates of the British pound and Australian dollar more than offset the more volatile Brazilian real.
 
Consolidated Operating Expenses
 Year 2004 compared with Year 2003
 Consolidated operating expenses in 2004 of $859.9 million increased $86.3 million, or 11.2 percent, over 2003. Operating expenses for Card Services
increased $21.3 million, or 5.0 percent, while Check Services increased $61.6 million, or 18.9 percent. Corporate expenses of $21.9 million increased $3.4
million over 2003. The 2003 consolidated operating expenses include $12.2 million of other charges. The strengthening of certain foreign currencies against the
U.S. dollar increased total U.S. dollar operating expenses by $14.0 million in 2004.
 

Costs of services in 2004 of $739.6 million increased $85.5 million, or 13.1 percent, over 2003. Card Services experienced a $30.3 million, or 8.0 percent,
increase in costs of services primarily driven by a $6.2 million increase in card merchant processing interchange fees (costs of services included $69.0 million and
$62.8 million of interchange fees in 2004 and 2003, respectively), a $5.6 million increase in reimbursable expenses, the Crittson and CariCard acquisitions, and
unfavorable currency trends. Costs of services in Check Services increased $55.2 million, or 19.9 percent, driven by the Game Financial acquisition, growth in
our cash access operations, as well as unfavorable currency trends.
 

Selling, general, and administrative (“SG&A”) expenses in 2004 of $120.3 million increased $13.0 million, or 12.2 percent, over 2003. Card Services
experienced a $2.5 million, or 6.3 percent, increase in SG&A costs driven by higher international business development costs and the growth in North America
card issuing operations, which more than offset the reduction in SG&A costs for the downsizing of our Brazilian card operations in March 2003. SG&A costs in
Check Services increased $7.4 million, or 15.3 percent, as a result of the acquisition of Game Financial and the growth in our cash access operations. Corporate
SG&A expense increased $3.1 million, or 16.3 percent, primarily due to higher audit fees related to Sarbanes-Oxley Section 404 compliance and higher employee
benefit and relocation costs.
 

During 2003, we recorded other charges of $12.2 million ($7.7 million after-tax). These charges include $9.6 million of early termination costs associated
with a U.S. data processing contract, $2.7 million of charges related to the downsizing of our Brazilian card operation, and $(0.1) million of market value
recoveries on our collateral assignment in life insurance policies, net of severance charges.
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Year 2003 compared with Year 2002
 Consolidated operating expenses in 2003 of $773.5 million increased $13.9 million, or 1.8 percent, over 2002. Operating expenses for Card Services
decreased $6.6 million, or 1.5 percent, while Check Services increased $21.3 million, or 7.0 percent. Corporate expenses of $18.5 million decreased $0.8 million,
or 4.1 percent, below 2002. Both 2003 and 2002 consolidated operating expenses include $12.2 million of other charges. The strengthening of certain foreign
currencies against the U.S. dollar increased total U.S. dollar operating expenses by $4.7 million in 2003.
 

Costs of services in 2003 of $654.1 million increased $17.0 million, or 2.7 percent, over 2002. Card Services experienced a $5.3 million, or 1.4 percent,
decline in costs of services driven by a $23.2 million decrease in card merchant processing interchange fees due to the loss of a large customer in the third quarter
of 2002 (costs of services included $62.8 million and $86.0 million of interchange fees in 2003 and 2002, respectively) and a decrease in our South American
card issuing costs of services due to the loss of a large customer in our Brazilian card operation in March 2003. Costs of services in our card issuing businesses in
the U.S., the U.K., and Australia increased due to strong volume growth. Costs of services in Check Services increased $22.3 million, or 8.7 percent, driven by
volume growth in our global core check businesses, as well as incremental cash access costs of services attributable to the continued roll-out of services in 2003.
 

Selling, general, and administrative (“SG&A”) expenses in 2003 of $107.2 million decreased $3.1 million, or 2.8 percent, over 2002. Card Services
experienced a $6.7 million, or 14.3 percent, decrease in SG&A costs driven by the downsizing of our Brazilian card operation in early 2003 and cost reductions in
our U.K. card operation, which more than offset the incremental selling and administrative costs related to the acquisition of Netzee on December 31, 2002 and
higher selling and administrative costs in card issuing, primarily in the U.S. SG&A costs in Check Services increased $2.6 million, or 5.8 percent, primarily
driven by the growth in new client acquisitions during the year. Corporate SG&A expense increased $1.0 million, or 5.5 percent, primarily due to higher
employee benefit and insurance costs.
 

During 2003, we recorded other charges of $12.2 million ($7.7 million after-tax). These charges include $9.6 million of early termination costs associated
with a U.S. data processing contract, $2.7 million of charges related to the downsizing of our Brazilian card operation, and $(0.1) million of market value
recoveries on our collateral assignment in life insurance policies, net of severance charges.
 

In 2002, we recorded other charges of $12.2 million ($7.7 million after-tax). These charges include an impairment write-off of $4.2 million for the
remaining intangible asset value assigned to an acquired customer contract in our Brazilian card operation, due to the loss of the customer; a $4.0 million charge
for the settlement of a class action lawsuit, net of insurance proceeds; and $4.0 million of severance charges and market value losses on our collateral assignment
in life insurance policies.
 
Consolidated Operating Income
 Year 2004 compared with Year 2003
 Consolidated operating income in 2004 increased $31.4 million, or 21.2 percent, over 2003. Card Services operating income increased $18.4 million, or
15.0 percent, while Check Services operating income increased $16.5 million, or 37.0 percent. General corporate expense increased $3.4 million, over 2003. Our
consolidated operating margin grew from 16.1 percent in 2003 to 17.3 percent in 2004. The 2003 consolidated operating income includes $12.2 million of other
charges.
 

The operating income growth experienced in 2004 was primarily driven by acquisitions, revenue growth in our North American card issuing and global
check operations, and improvement in our Check Services margin. Front-end proprietary risk modeling technology and improved collections, which reduced
check guarantee net losses, and increased margins in cash access drove Check Services profitability. The strengthening of certain foreign currencies against the
U.S. dollar increased total U.S. dollar operating income by approximately $1.9 million in 2004.
 
Year 2003 compared with Year 2002
 Consolidated operating income in 2003 increased $1.0 million, or 0.7 percent, over 2002. Card Services operating income declined $2.4 million, or 1.9
percent, while Check Services operating income increased $2.7 million, or 6.4 percent. General corporate expense declined $0.8 million, or 4.1 percent, below
2002. Combined operating margins were 16.1 percent in 2003 and 16.2 percent in 2002. Both 2003 and 2002 consolidated operating income includes $12.2
million of other charges.
 

The operating income growth experienced in 2003 was primarily driven by strong revenue growth in card issuing outside of South America. The
strengthening of certain foreign currencies against the U.S. dollar increased total U.S. dollar operating income by approximately $2.0 million in 2003. The
strengthening exchange rates of the British pound and Australian dollar, more than offset the more volatile Brazilian real.
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Consolidated Other Income, Net
 Consolidated other income, net, which principally consists of interest income and net foreign currency exchange gains, totaled $1.2 million, $2.3 million,
and $1.1 million during 2004, 2003, and 2002, respectively. The higher 2003 amounts over the respective prior and current year periods is due primarily to
income earned on temporary cash balances, primarily outside the U.S. Certain of these funds were transferred to the U.S. during 2004 and used to repay short-
term borrowings under our revolving credit facility.
 
Consolidated Interest Expense
 Interest expense in 2004, 2003, and 2002 totaled $12.9 million, $8.0 million, and $7.1 million, respectively. The increase in 2004 over the respective prior
periods is driven by the issuance of our $200 million of five-year notes at 4.75 percent in September 2003, which resulted in a higher rate of interest. During
2004, we also incurred interest expense on our revolving credit facility related to borrowings for our acquisitions and share repurchases. In addition, the new lease
accounting (FIN 46) on our St. Petersburg, Florida operations facility, which became effective on December 31, 2003, resulted in higher interest expense in 2004.
 

Our outstanding long-term debt at December 31, 2004 consists of 1) $199.5 million of five-year notes, which is net of unamortized discount, 2) $48.6
million of outstanding revolving credit facility borrowings used to partially fund our acquisitions and share repurchases during 2004, 3) $22.4 million of long-
term notes payable related to our St. Petersburg, Florida synthetic lease resulting from the adoption of certain provisions of FIN 46 (see Notes 2 and 6 to the
consolidated financial statements for further information), and 4) $3.5 million of capital lease obligations for computer and other equipment.
 
Effective Tax Rate
 Our effective tax rates were 37.0 percent (before the cumulative effect of the accounting change) in both 2004 and 2003 and 38.3 percent in 2002. Our
lower effective rates in 2004 and 2003 were driven by the implementation of certain international and state tax planning strategies. We expect our effective tax
rate to be 37.5 percent in 2005, which includes the impact of the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R), “Share-Based Payment,” on January 1, 2005. See “New
Accounting Pronouncements” within this management’s discussion and analysis for further information.
 
Consolidated Net Income and Earnings per Share
 Year 2004 compared with Year 2003
 Consolidated net income in 2004 of $111.8 million increased $19.4 million, or 21.0 percent, compared to 2003, which includes the cumulative effect of a
change in accounting principle charge of $1.3 million. Diluted earnings per share of $1.75 increased $0.35, or 25.0 percent, compared to 2003, which includes the
cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle charge of $0.02. Income from continuing operations of $105.9 million in 2004 increased $16.0 million, or
17.8 percent, while income from discontinued operations of $5.9 million increased $2.0 million, or 52.3 percent. The discontinued operating results in 2004
benefited from $0.5 million of reduced after-tax amortization expense, in accordance with the requirements of SFAS 144, which requires amortization of long-
lived assets to cease upon classification as held for sale.
 

The repurchase of 2.7 million shares of common stock in 2004 had a favorable impact on earnings per share compared to the prior year by reducing our
weighted average shares outstanding in 2004 by approximately 1.4 million shares.
 
Year 2003 compared with Year 2002
 Consolidated net income, including the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle in 2003, of $92.4 million increased $2.4 million, or 2.7
percent, compared to 2002, while diluted earnings per share in 2003, including the cumulative effect of the accounting change, of $1.40 increased $0.10, or 7.7
percent. Income from continuing operations of $89.8 million in 2003 increased $2.8 million, or 3.2 percent, while income from discontinued operations of $3.9
million increased $1.0 million, or 33.2 percent.
 

Both 2003 and 2002 consolidated net income includes $12.2 million of other charges ($7.7 million after-tax). As described earlier, we adopted certain
provisions of FIN 46 on December 31, 2003 as required for the synthetic lease on our St. Petersburg, Florida operations facility. In conjunction with the adoption
of these provisions of FIN 46, we recognized a cumulative effect of accounting change expense of $1.3 million after-tax, or $0.02 per diluted share.
 

The repurchase of 2.6 million shares of common stock in 2003 had a favorable impact on earnings per share compared to the prior year by reducing our
weighted average shares outstanding by approximately 1.0 million shares.
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Segment Results
 The following table summarizes our segment results for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002:
 

   

2004

  

2003

  

2002

 
   (in millions)  
Revenues:              

Card Services   $ 590.4  $550.7  $559.7 
Check Services    449.1   371.0   347.1 

     
   $1,039.5  $921.7  $906.8 
     
Operating Income:              

Card Services   $ 140.5  $122.2  $124.6 
Check Services    61.0   44.6   41.9 

     
    201.6   166.7   166.5 

General corporate expense    (21.9)  (18.5)  (19.3)
     
   $ 179.7  $148.2  $147.2 
     

 
Card Services
 Overview
 Our card processing business in North America is concentrated in the community bank and credit union market segments. We have long-term contractual
alliances with two trade associations representing independent community banks and credit unions in the U.S., the Independent Community Bankers of America
(“the ICBA”) and Card Services for Credit Unions (“CSCU”), which expire in 2008 and 2009, respectively. In 2003, we entered into a ten-year agreement with
IBM to provide data processing and related services for our U.S. operations, which replaced an existing arrangement we had with EDS. We expect to achieve
significant cost savings and future operational flexibility through this arrangement. In March 2004, we acquired Crittson, a full-service provider of card and
merchant processing services.
 

Card transactions continue to increase as a percentage of total point-of-sale payments, which fuels continuing demand for card-related products. We
continue to launch new products aimed at serving this demand. In recent years, we have introduced a variety of stored-value card types, Internet banking, and
electronic bill presentment/payment products, as well as a number of card enhancement and loyalty/reward programs. The common theme among these offerings
continues to be convenience and security for the consumer coupled with value to the financial institution.
 

Over the past seven years, we pursued growth in international markets. In September 1998, Card Services expanded its operations into South America by
acquiring a 59.3 percent interest in our card processing operation in Brazil, and subsequently acquired the remaining 40.7 percent ownership in May 2001. In June
1999, we started a card processing operation in the U.K., owning a 51 percent interest, and acquired full ownership in September 2000. In January 2000, we
acquired Procard, a card processing operation in Chile. Also in 2000, we entered into a five-year agreement with a multi-national Australian-based financial
institution to process cards issued in Australia, New Zealand, the U.K., and Ireland, with operations commencing in the second quarter of 2001. This financial
institution is serviced from our card processing operation in Australia, as well as from our card processing operation in the U.K. In 2003, we entered into an eight-
year agreement with a Thailand financial institution to process its VISA and MasterCard credit cards and unsecured personal loans. This financial institution is
also serviced from our card processing operation in Australia. Card Services plans to pursue further card processing opportunities in the Asia Pacific Region,
utilizing our Australian operation as the processing center. In August 2004, we acquired CariCard, further expanding our Card Services in the Caribbean.
 

As mentioned previously, in September 2004, the Board of Directors approved a plan to sell our merchant acquiring business, at which time, the held for
sale criteria in SFAS 144 were met; therefore, our financial statements reflect the merchant acquiring business as a discontinued operation. The results of
operations are treated as income from discontinued operations, net of tax, and separately stated in the consolidated statements of income, below income from
continuing operations. The merchant acquiring operations were historically included in the Card Services segment. We plan to continue to operate the institution
processing business, which we believe is complementary to our card issuing business. We expect that the merchant acquiring business will be sold within a year
of approving this plan.
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Year 2004 compared with Year 2003
 Card Services revenues of $590.4 million in 2004 increased $39.6 million, or 7.2 percent, over 2003, primarily attributable to growth in North America
card issuing, the acquisitions of Crittson and CariCard, and favorable currency trends, which more than offset the $5.6 million decline in software revenue and the
annualization of the loss of a large customer in our Brazilian card operations in March 2003. The strengthening of certain foreign currencies against the U.S.
dollar increased our U.S. dollar revenues by approximately $7.9 million in 2004. At December 31, 2004, we were processing 48.9 million cards compared to 46.4
million at December 31, 2003.
 

North American card issuing revenues of $405.9 million in 2004 increased $36.0 million, or 9.7 percent, over the prior year revenues of $369.8 million.
This increase was fueled by new customer signings, growth in e-banking and card loyalty programs, an account activation initiative, and the acquisition of
Crittson in March 2004. North American card transactions increased 4.7 percent over the prior year, with debit card transaction growth of 8.5 percent and credit
card transaction growth of 2.7 percent. We added approximately 0.5 million domestic cards during 2004, increasing our domestic card base to 23.8 million at
December 31, 2004.
 

International card issuing revenues of $96.7 million in 2004 increased $4.0 million, or 4.4 percent, over the prior year revenues of $92.7 million, driven by
new account growth, favorable currency trends, and the acquisition of CariCard in August 2004, which more than offset the comparative impact of the loss of a
large customer in our Brazilian card operations in March 2003. The strengthening of certain foreign currencies against the U.S. dollar increased our U.S. dollar
revenues by approximately $7.9 million in 2004. International card growth totaled 1.9 million cards in 2004, an 8.4 percent increase over 2003.
 

Merchant processing revenues (from continuing operations) of $81.8 million in 2004 increased $5.2 million, or 6.7 percent, compared to $76.6 million in
2003, driven by interchange pass-through revenue, which more than offset the decline in revenue, net of interchange fees, due to change in mix of business and
price modifications. Interchange pass-through revenue grew from $62.8 million in 2003 to $69.0 million in 2004, an increase of $6.2 million.
 

Card issuing software and support revenue of $6.0 million decreased $5.6 million compared to 2003 revenue of $11.6 million, attributable to a large
software implementation and consulting project that was substantially completed in late 2003.
 

Card Services operating income of $140.5 million in 2004 increased $18.4 million, or 15.0 percent, compared to operating income of $122.2 million in
2003, which includes $11.5 million of other charges. Revenue growth in North America card issuing and acquisitions drove this growth, which more than offset
the decline in software profits and the annualization of the loss of a large customer in our Brazilian card operations in March 2003. The impact of changes of
certain foreign currencies against the U.S. dollar had only a minimal impact on our U.S. dollar operating income in 2004.
 
Year 2003 compared with Year 2002
 Card Services revenues of $550.7 million in 2003 decreased $9.0 million, or 1.6 percent, below 2002. The loss of a large customer in our Brazilian card
operation, which discontinued using our card processing services at the beginning of March 2003 and the loss of a large customer in our merchant processing
business, which was acquired and moved its account to its new owner’s processor in the third quarter of 2002, were the largest drivers behind this decline. We
experienced strong growth in card issuing revenue outside of South America, while card issuing software and support revenue grew $2.1 million, attributable to a
large software implementation and consulting project that commenced in late 2002. The strengthening of certain foreign currencies against the U.S. dollar
increased our U.S. dollar revenues by approximately $1.6 million in 2003. The strengthening exchange rates of the British pound and Australian dollar more than
offset the more volatile Brazilian real. At December 31, 2003, we were processing 46.4 million cards. During 2003, we added approximately 4.5 million new
cards to our global portfolio, which was offset by a 4.7 million card old base reduction for planned deconversions and deletion of inactive cards in our
international operations.
 

North American card issuing revenues of $369.8 million in 2003 increased $40.4 million, or 12.3 percent, over the prior year. This growth is the result of
increasing card usage, new card issuance, and growth in full-service card loyalty products and other products, including enhancement programs and e-banking.
North American card transactions increased 9.9 percent over the prior year, with debit card transaction growth of 18.9 percent and credit card transaction growth
of 3.6 percent. We added approximately 0.9 million domestic cards during 2003, increasing our domestic card base to 23.4 million at December 31, 2003.
 

International card issuing revenues of $92.7 million in 2003 decreased $26.4 million, or 22.2 percent, primarily driven by the loss of a large customer in
our Brazilian card operation in March 2003. Outside of South America, our revenue growth was driven by the launch of new products and services, as well as
volume growth on our existing customer base in both the U.K. and Australia. The strengthening of certain foreign currencies against the U.S. dollar increased our
U.S. dollar revenues by approximately $1.6 million in 2003. The strengthening exchange rates of the British pound and Australian dollar more than offset the
more volatile Brazilian real. During 2003, we added approximately 3.6 million new cards to our international portfolio, which was offset by a 4.7 million card old
base reduction for planned deconversions and deletion of inactive cards.
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Merchant processing revenues (from continuing operations) of $76.6 million in 2003 decreased $25.1 million, or 24.7 percent, below the prior year. The
loss of a large customer in the third quarter of 2002 and lower debit interchange rates contributed to a reduction in interchange pass-through revenue from $86.0
million in 2002 to $62.8 million in 2003, a change of $23.2 million. Net of interchange pass-through, revenues in 2003 were below the prior year by $2.0 million,
or 12.4 percent.
 

Card issuing software and support revenue of $11.6 million increased $2.1 million over the prior year attributable to a large software implementation and
consulting project that commenced in late 2002.
 

Card Services operating income of $122.2 million in 2003, which includes $11.5 million of other charges, decreased $2.4 million, or 1.9 percent, compared
to operating income of $124.6 million in 2002, which includes $6.1 million of other charges. We experienced growth in our card issuing operations outside of
South America, driven by strong top-line growth and cost efficiencies around the globe, including a reduction in our workforce that occurred in late 2002 and
reduced data processing costs in the U.S. as a result of our new data processing agreement with IBM; however, these factors were more than offset by a $5.4
million increase in other charges over 2002 and the negative impacts of the loss of a large customer in our Brazilian card operation in March 2003. The
strengthening of certain foreign currencies against the U.S. dollar increased our U.S. dollar operating income by approximately $0.9 million in 2003. The
strengthening exchange rates of the British pound and Australian dollar more than offset the more volatile Brazilian real.
 
Check Services
 Overview
 We believe check writing has begun to decline as a total percentage of point-of-sale payments due, in part, to the growing use of debit and credit cards. At
the same time, however, demand for our services is strong due to factors that include increasing sophistication of check fraud and higher concentration of bad
checks written at the point-of-sale due to a trend of higher credit quality consumers paying more with credit and debit cards and writing fewer checks. These
factors are contributing to a growing reliance of retailers and other businesses on outside vendors, such as us, to provide check risk management services. In
recent years, we have introduced several new products for existing and new markets, including payroll check cashing and third-party check collections. Also, in
March 2004, we acquired Game Financial, a provider of debit and credit card cash advances, ATM access and check cashing services in gaming institutions.
 
Year 2004 compared with Year 2003
 Check Services revenues of $449.1 million in 2004 increased $78.1 million, or 21.1 percent, over 2003, driven by increased retail check volumes, new
customer signings, growth in our cash access operations, increased third-party collections, and the acquisition of Game Financial. In addition, the strengthening of
foreign currencies against the U.S. dollar increased our U.S. dollar revenues by approximately $8.0 million in 2004. The face amount of checks we authorized
totaled $40.3 billion in 2004 as compared to $35.2 billion in 2003. Guarantee volumes grew from $28.0 billion in 2003 to $30.1 billion in 2004, a 7.2 percent
increase over the prior year.
 

North American check revenues of $374.9 million increased $67.1 million, or 21.8 percent, compared with revenues of $307.8 million in 2003, driven by a
stronger economy, an improving job market, and new domestic customers. Also, the continued rollout of new check cashing locations and the acquisition of
Game Financial contributed to North America revenue growth. The face amount of checks we authorized in the U.S. totaled $36.5 billion in 2004 as compared to
$31.8 billion in 2003.
 

International check revenues of $74.2 million in 2004 increased $11.0 million, or 17.5 percent, over 2003 revenues of $63.2 million due primarily to
favorable currency trends and higher volumes. The strengthening of the British pound against the U.S. dollar increased our U.S. dollar revenues by approximately
$8.0 million in 2004. The face amount of checks we authorized internationally increased to $3.8 billion in 2004 as compared to $3.4 billion in 2003.
 

Check Services operating income of $61.0 million in 2004 increased $16.5 million, or 37.0 percent, compared to operating income of $44.6 million in
2003, which includes $1.0 million of other charges. The growth in Check Services operating income is primarily attributable to top-line growth and improvement
in our domestic margin, as well as the acquisition of Game Financial in March 2004. Front-end proprietary risk modeling technology and improved collections,
which reduced check guarantee net losses, and increased margins in cash access drove profitability. The strengthening of foreign currencies against the U.S. dollar
increased our U.S. dollar operating income by approximately $2.0 million in 2004.
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Year 2003 compared with Year 2002
 Check Services revenues of $371.0 million in 2003 increased $23.9 million, or 6.9 percent, over 2002, driven by volume growth and new customer
signings in both our domestic and international check operations. The strengthening of the foreign currencies against the U.S. dollar increased our U.S. dollar
revenues by approximately $5.1 million in 2003. The face amount of checks we authorized totaled $35.2 billion in 2003 as compared to $35.0 billion in 2002.
Guarantee volumes grew from $26.7 billion in 2002 to $28.0 billion in 2003, a 5.2 percent increase over the prior year.
 

North American check revenues of $307.8 million increased $13.2 million, or 4.5 percent, over 2002, driven by a 4.4 percent increase in check guarantee
volumes, largely resulting from the addition of new customers, and growth in our check cashing revenues. Growth in our core business was impacted by weak
retail sales throughout the year driven by soft consumer spending. The face amount of checks we authorized in the U.S. totaled $31.8 billion in 2003 as compared
to $31.6 billion in 2002.
 

International check revenues of $63.2 million in 2003 increased $10.7 million, or 20.5 percent, over 2002, as the face amount of checks we authorized
increased to $3.4 billion in 2003 as compared to $3.3 billion in 2002. The strengthening of the British pound against the U.S. dollar increased our U.S. dollar
revenues by approximately $5.1 million in 2003.
 

Check Services operating income of $44.6 million in 2003, which includes $1.0 million of other charges, increased $2.7 million, or 6.4 percent, compared
to operating income of $41.9 million in 2002, which includes $4.7 million of other charges. The growth in Check Services operating income is attributable to $3.7
million lower other charges in 2003, which more than offset the negative impact of lower-margin new customer signings, mix shifts, and economic factors, as
well as incremental check cashing start-up costs in 2003 compared to 2002. The strengthening of the foreign currencies against the U.S. dollar increased our U.S.
dollar operating income by approximately $1.1 million in 2003.
 
General Corporate Expense
 Year 2004 compared with Year 2003
 General corporate expense of $21.9 million in 2004 increased $3.4 million, or 18.3 percent, compared to $18.5 million in 2003, which includes $(0.3)
million of market value recoveries on our collateral assignment in life insurance policies. The increase in general corporate expense is due in large part to higher
audit fees related to Sarbanes-Oxley Section 404 compliance and higher employee-related costs including benefits and relocation.
 
Year 2003 compared to Year 2002
 General corporate expense of $18.5 million in 2003, which includes $(0.3) million of market value recoveries on our collateral assignment in life insurance
policies, decreased $0.8 million, or 4.1 percent, compared to general corporate expense of $19.3 million in 2002, which includes $1.4 million of severance and
market value losses on our collateral assignment in life insurance policies. The decline in general corporate expense is attributable to the $1.7 million decrease in
other charges in 2003, which more than offset the growth in general corporate expense driven by higher insurance and employee benefits costs in 2003 compared
to 2002.
 
Liquidity and Capital Resources
 We have historically generated and continue to generate strong cash flows from our operating activities that we use to further invest in our business through
expenditures for capital and strategic acquisitions. Additionally, since our spin-off from Equifax in 2001, we have engaged in periodic repurchases of our
common shares, when it has been deemed appropriate, and began to pay cash dividends to our shareholders in 2003. Proceeds from stock option exercises have
varied each year, primarily driven by changes in our stock price.
 

In conjunction with the spin-off from Equifax, we made a cash payment to Equifax in the amount of $275 million in July 2001 to reflect Certegy’s share of
Equifax’s pre-distribution debt used to establish our initial capitalization. This payment was funded through $400 million of unsecured revolving credit facilities
we obtained. Since that time, we have used available cash flow to reduce our outstanding balance on these facilities and on September 10, 2003, we used the
proceeds from our offering of 4.75 percent fixed rate five-year notes with a face value of $200 million to pay down the remaining revolver balance.
 

On March 1, 2004, we completed the purchases of Game Financial and Crittson and on August 6, 2004, we completed the purchase of CariCard. These
acquisitions had a combined cash purchase price of $45.5 million, net of $24.6 million of cash acquired and additional consideration adjustments settled during
2004. Approximately $5.8 million of the Crittson purchase price, which represents the merchant acquiring operations, was reclassified to discontinued operations
(see Note 5 to the consolidated financial
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statements for further information). We funded these acquisitions through borrowings on our revolving credit facility and as of December 31, 2004, had $48.6
million outstanding on this facility. A majority of the cash acquired with these acquisitions relates to Game Financial, which provides check cashing and cash
advance services for the gaming industry. In certain casino locations, Game Financial maintains cash access booths, where consumers can cash personal checks,
and various “point-of-sale” devices, where cash advance services are facilitated. These point-of-sale devices include PC’s, kiosks, and ATMs. In other casino
locations, these transactions are conducted in the casino’s own cage operation by casino employees using Game Financial’s system.
 

Additionally, we repurchased approximately 2.7 million shares of our common stock in 2004 at a total cost of $96.5 million. In May 2004, our Board of
Directors approved a $100 million share repurchase program. At December 31, 2004, we had $43.3 million remaining under this program.
 

Cash flow from operations is expected to be strong in 2005. Our cash needs for 2005 will be primarily related to capital expenditures and payment of
dividends. We expect our capital expenditures for 2005 to approximate $60 million to $65 million, which includes approximately $8 million of spending that was
previously expected to have occurred in 2004, as well as spending associated with new contract acquisition costs. We plan to use a significant portion of our
remaining available cash flow to repurchase our common shares; however, the extent of share repurchases could change based upon acquisition opportunities.
Additionally, we currently anticipate that the proceeds from the sale of our merchant acquiring business will be used to pay down our revolving credit facility
borrowings; however, the use of this cash could also change based upon acquisition opportunities.
 

Our revolving credit facility includes certain limitations on cash transfers amongst Certegy and its subsidiaries. Additionally, during 2002, we determined
that our investments in certain foreign subsidiaries are permanently invested and will not be repatriated to the U.S. in the foreseeable future. U.S. tax
consequences on the undistributed earnings of these subsidiaries are no longer considered in the tax provision calculation in accordance with APB Opinion No.
23. Any future change in management’s plans regarding reinvestment of these earnings will require us to accrue for the additional tax impact of any amounts no
longer permanently reinvested. This accrual would be recorded at the time management determines that these earnings are no longer permanently reinvested.
 

We regularly evaluate cash requirements for current operations, development activities, and acquisitions. We may elect to raise additional funds for these
purposes, either through further bank financing or the public capital markets, as appropriate. Based on our recent financial results and current financial position,
we believe that additional funding will be available if required to meet our capital requirements.
 
Year 2004 compared with Year 2003
 Operating Activities. We continue to generate significant cash flows from our operating activities. Operating cash flows totaled $144.8 million in 2004,
which represents an increase of $13.0 million compared to 2003. The 2004 cash flow generated from net income was $111.8 million, adjusted for income from
discontinued operations of $5.9 million, depreciation and amortization of $47.4 million, deferred taxes of $3.7 million, and other amortization and non-cash items
of $14.5 million. Cash outflow from changes in assets and liabilities was $19.3 million as compared to $25.6 million in the prior year driven by improved cash
flow for net claims accounts, attributable to risk modeling technology and improved collections which reduced check guarantee net losses in 2004, and reduced
cash outflow for other long-term assets, offset by the impact of the timing of collections on receivables.
 

We used our cash flow from operating activities primarily to reinvest in our existing businesses through expenditures for equipment and systems
development, as well as to repurchase shares, make dividend payments, and partially fund our acquisitions of Game Financial, Crittson, and CariCard.
 

Investing Activities. Capital expenditures in 2004 totaled $40.9 million, which represents a decrease of $2.8 million compared to the prior year. Capital
expenditures in 2004 were primarily for processing equipment and software in our global card issuing operations and systems development for new products and
services. The acquisitions of Game Financial, Crittson, and CariCard totaled $39.7 million, which is net of cash acquired.
 

Financing Activities. Net borrowings on our revolving credit facility in 2004 totaled $48.6 million, which were primarily related to the acquisitions and
share repurchases. We repurchased approximately 2.7 million shares of common stock in 2004 at a total cost of $96.5 million. Proceeds from the exercise of stock
options in 2004 totaled $11.3 million, compared with $5.5 million in the prior year. Dividend payments to shareholders, which we began to pay in the fourth
quarter of 2003, totaled $12.6 million in 2004.
 

Discontinued Operations. Cash provided by discontinued operations was $6.1 million in 2004, compared to $1.5 million in 2003, consisting of operating
cash flows of $12.1 million in 2004 compared to $6.3 million in the prior year, and investing cash outflows of $6.0 million in 2004 compared to $4.7 million in
2003. The increase in operating cash flows is primarily driven by deferred income taxes on acquired merchant portfolios. Investing cash outflows in 2004 consist
of $0.2 million of capital expenditures and $5.8 million for the acquisition of the merchant acquiring portfolio of Crittson. Investing cash outflows in 2003 consist
of $0.2 million for capital expenditures and $4.5 million for the acquisition of a merchant portfolio.
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Year 2003 compared with Year 2002
 Operating Activities. We generated significant cash flow from operating activities, totaling $131.8 million in 2003, an increase of $12.0 million compared
to 2002. The 2003 cash flow was produced from net income of $92.4 million, adjusted for income from discontinued operations and the cumulative effect of a
change in accounting principle charge of $3.9 million and $1.3 million, respectively, depreciation and amortization of $42.0 million, deferred taxes of $13.8
million, and other amortization and non-cash items of $11.8 million. Cash outflow from changes in assets and liabilities was $25.6 million as compared to $25.4
million in the prior year.
 

We used our cash flow from operating activities primarily to reinvest in our existing businesses through expenditures for equipment and systems
development. We also used operating cash flows to repay temporary borrowings on our revolving credit facility and to fund treasury stock purchases.
 

Investing Activities. Capital expenditures in 2003 of $43.7 million decreased $5.2 million below the prior year period. Capital expenditures in 2003 were
primarily for processing equipment and software in our global card issuing operations, systems development for new products and services, and capital
investment for our check cashing program.
 

Financing Activities. In September 2003, we completed our offering of $200 million aggregate principal amount of unsecured 4.75 percent notes (priced to
yield 4.82 percent) due in 2008. The notes rank equally with all of our existing and future unsecured, unsubordinated debt. The notes were sold at a discount of
$0.6 million, which along with related note issuance costs, will be amortized over the term of the notes. We used the net proceeds from this offering to pay off the
outstanding indebtedness under our $300 million revolving credit facility and for general corporate purposes.
 

We repurchased 2.6 million shares of common stock during 2003 at a total cost of $73.6 million. There were $79.6 million of common stock repurchases
during the prior year period. Proceeds from the exercise of stock options in 2003 totaled $5.5 million, compared with $15.9 million in the prior year period. In
August and November 2003, the Board of Directors approved a quarterly common stock dividend of $0.05 per share, which were paid on October 15, 2003 and
January 15, 2004, respectively. The amount of the quarterly dividend paid in 2003 was $3.2 million.
 

Discontinued Operations. Cash provided by discontinued operations was $1.5 million in 2003, consisting of operating cash flows of $6.3 million and
investing cash outflows of $4.7 million in 2003 for capital expenditures and the acquisition of a merchant portfolio, compared to operating cash flows of $6.8
million in 2002.
 
General
 Revolving Credit Facility. In September 2003, we cancelled our $300 million revolving credit facility and replaced it with a new $200 million revolving
credit facility, which expires in September 2006. The new facility has substantially the same terms as the former facility, except there are no subsidiary
guarantees. The new facility bears interest at an annual rate of LIBOR plus 100 basis points and contains certain financial covenants related to interest coverage
and funded debt to cash flow. Borrowings on the new facility are available to meet working capital needs and to fund strategic acquisitions and the periodic
repurchase of shares when deemed appropriate. The amount outstanding under the facility at December 31, 2004 was $48.6 million. There was no outstanding
balance under this facility at December 31, 2003.
 

We also have an unsecured revolving credit facility that provides advances to finance our customers’ shortfalls in the daily funding requirements associated
with our credit and debit card settlement operations. Upon renewal of this facility in June 2003, we lowered the total available borrowing amount from $130
million to $100 million. Outstanding borrowings on this credit facility are classified as part of our settlement payables in the consolidated balance sheets. There
were no amounts outstanding under this facility at December 31, 2004 or December 31, 2003.
 

Contractual Obligations. In 2003, we entered into a ten-year agreement with IBM, which replaced our existing agreement with EDS for U.S. data
processing services. The transition from EDS to IBM was completed in the third quarter of 2003.
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The following table summarizes our significant contractual obligations and commitments as of December 31, 2004:
 

   

Payments due by

   

Total

  

Less than 1
year

  

1 to 3
years

  

4 to 5
years

  

Thereafter

   (in millions)
Long-term debt, excluding discount and capital leases (Note 6)   $271.0  $ —    $ 48.6  $222.4  $ —  
Operating leases (Note 10)    46.6   11.1   17.0   9.3   9.2
Capital leases (Note 6)    5.1   1.4   2.8   0.9   —  
Data processing agreement obligations (Note 10)    254.6   37.7   68.4   52.1   96.4
           

Total   $577.3  $ 50.2  $136.8  $284.7  $ 105.6
           

Note: This table excludes other obligations that we may have, such as employee benefit obligations (discussed in Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements),
residual value guarantees under our synthetic leases (see Note 10 to the consolidated financial statements), and other current and long-term liabilities reflected
in our consolidated balance sheets.
 

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements. Note 10 to the consolidated financial statements also describes certain off-balance sheet arrangements in the form of
synthetic leases and the change in accounting for one of the leases that was adopted on December 31, 2003 in accordance with certain provisions of FIN 46.
 

Other than facility leasing arrangements, we do not engage in off-balance sheet financing activities. We entered into synthetic operating leases in order to
provide us with favorable financing arrangements with regard to the facilities subject to the leases. The first synthetic lease on our Madison, Wisconsin facility of
$10.1 million was entered into in 1997 and the second synthetic lease on our St. Petersburg, Florida operations facility of $23.2 million was entered into in 1999,
both of which expire in 2009. Under these synthetic lease arrangements, we have guaranteed the residual value of the leased properties to the lessors. In the event
the properties are sold by the lessors at the end of the lease terms, we would be responsible for any shortfall of the sales proceeds under $26.2 million, which
approximates 79 percent of the value of the properties at the beginning of the lease terms. Based on the current fair market values of the leased properties, we do
not expect to be required to make payments under these residual value guarantees. On December 31, 2003, we adopted certain provisions of FIN 46, which
required us to consolidate our St. Petersburg, Florida operations facility in our consolidated financial statements.
 

As described in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, we have an interest rate swap arrangement in effect that fixes the interest rate for one of our
variable rate synthetic lease obligations. This derivative has been designated as a cash flow hedge, was documented as fully effective, and at December 31, 2004,
was valued as a liability totaling $1.2 million.
 

Related Parties. We do not have any material related party transactions.
 
Critical Accounting Policies
 The preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect reported amounts
and related disclosures. Management considers an accounting estimate to be critical if:
 
 •  it requires assumptions to be made that were uncertain at the time the estimate was made; and
 
 

•  changes in the estimate or different estimates that could have been selected could have a material impact on our consolidated results of operations or
financial condition.

 
Our significant accounting policies are described in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements. We believe that the following accounting policies

involve a higher degree of complexity and warrant specific description.
 

Reserves for Card Processing and Check Guarantee Losses. We recognize a reserve for estimated losses related to our card issuing and merchant acquiring
businesses based on historical experience and other relevant factors. In our card issuing business, we record estimates to accrue for losses resulting from
transaction processing errors. We utilize a number of systems and procedures within our card issuing business in order to minimize such transaction processing
errors from occurring. In our merchant acquiring business, if, due to the insolvency or bankruptcy of the merchant or other reasons, we are not able to collect
amounts from our merchant customers for cardholder chargebacks, we must bear the credit risk for the full amount of the cardholder transaction. We require cash
deposits and other types of collateral from certain customers to minimize any such risk. In addition, we utilize a number
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of systems and procedures to manage risk and believe that the diversification of our merchant customers among industries and geographic regions minimizes our
risk of loss. Card processing loss reserves are primarily determined by performing a historical analysis of our loss experience and considering other factors that
could affect that experience in the future. Such factors include the general economy and the credit quality of customers. Once these factors are considered, we
assess the reserve adequacy by comparing the recorded reserve to the estimated amount based on an analysis of the current trend changes or specific anticipated
future events. Any adjustments are charged to costs of services. These card processing loss reserve amounts are subject to risk that actual losses may be greater
than our estimates. At December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003, we had aggregate card processing loss reserves of $0.9 million and $1.1 million, respectively,
which are included in other current liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets.
 

As further discussed in Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements, in September 2004, the Board of Directors approved a plan to sell our merchant
acquiring business; therefore, our financial statements reflect the merchant acquiring business as discontinued operations. The portion of the card processing loss
reserve related to the merchant acquiring business has not been reclassified to discontinued operations in the consolidated balance sheets as, upon the ultimate
sale of the merchant acquiring business, we may retain the credit risk for cardholder transactions that we processed prior to the sale.
 

In our check guarantee business, if a guaranteed check presented to a merchant customer is dishonored by the check writer’s bank, we reimburse our
merchant customer for the check’s face value and pursue collection of the amount from the delinquent check writer. Loss reserves and anticipated recoveries are
primarily determined by performing a historical analysis of our check loss and recovery experience and considering other factors that could affect that experience
in the future. Such factors include the general economy, the overall industry mix of our customer volumes, statistical analysis of check fraud trends within our
customer volumes, and the quality of returned checks. Once these factors are considered, we establish a rate for check losses that is calculated by dividing the
expected check losses by dollar volume processed and a rate for anticipated recoveries that is calculated by dividing the anticipated recoveries by the total amount
of related check losses. These rates are then applied against the dollar volume processed and check losses, respectively, each month and charged to costs of
services. The estimated check returns and recovery amounts are subject to risk that actual amounts returned and recovered may be different than our estimates.
We had accrued claims payable and accrued claims recoverable balances of $36.2 million and $39.3 million at December 31, 2004 and $38.3 million and $46.5
million at December 31, 2003, respectively. We recorded card processing losses and check guarantee losses, net of anticipated recoveries excluding service fees,
of $170.0 million, $174.6 million, and $166.7 million, respectively, for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002.
 

Historically, such estimation processes have proven to be materially accurate; however, our projections of probable card processing losses, check guarantee
losses, and anticipated recoveries are inherently uncertain, and as a result, we cannot predict with certainty the amount of such items. Changes in economic
conditions, the risk characteristics and composition of our customers, and other factors could impact our actual and projected amounts. We recorded card
processing losses and check guarantee losses, net of anticipated recoveries excluding service fees, of $170.0 million, $174.6 million, and $166.7 million,
respectively, for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002. A one percent increase in our card processing losses and check guarantee losses, net of
anticipated recoveries excluding service fees, in 2004 would have reduced 2004 net income by approximately $1.1 million after-tax.
 

Valuation of Goodwill and Other Long-Lived Assets. Goodwill and certain other intangible assets are tested for impairment at least annually in accordance
with SFAS No. 142 “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” (“SFAS 142”), and all other long-lived assets are tested for impairment in accordance with SFAS
144. We regularly evaluate whether events and circumstances have occurred which indicate that the carrying amounts of goodwill and other long-lived assets
(property and equipment, other intangible assets, systems development and capitalized contract costs, and other assets) may be impaired or not recoverable.
Significant factors that are considered that could trigger an impairment review include: changes in business strategy, market conditions, or the manner of use of an
asset, underperformance relative to historical or expected future operating results, and negative industry or economic trends. In evaluating our long-lived assets
other than goodwill for possible impairment, management estimates the asset’s future undiscounted cash flows to measure whether the asset is recoverable. If it is
determined that the asset is not recoverable, we measure the impairment based on the projected discounted cash flows of the asset over its remaining life. In the
opinion of management, goodwill and other long-lived assets are appropriately valued at December 31, 2004 and 2003.
 

We make certain estimates, assumptions, and projections about our financial performance and our industry that affect the determination of the expected
future cash flows used in our impairment tests. While we believe that our estimates of future cash flows are reasonable, these estimates are not guarantees of
future performance and are subject to risks and uncertainties that may cause actual results to differ from what is assumed in these impairment tests. Should we be
unable to achieve certain of our business plans, this could have a future impact on management’s opinion regarding the valuation of assets, which could result in
an impairment.
 

Income Taxes. We record income taxes in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes,” using the asset and liability
method. The asset and liability method requires the recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities for expected future tax consequences of temporary differences
that exist between the tax bases and financial reporting bases of our assets and liabilities, based on enacted tax rates expected to apply in the years in which the
temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. A valuation allowance is provided against deferred tax assets when it is more likely than not that
some or all of a deferred tax asset
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will not be realized. At present, all Brazilian deferred tax assets are fully reserved in our valuation allowance. Brazil currently has approximately $30 million of
net operating losses that are subject to restrictions on utilization. No provision is made for U.S. income taxes on undistributed earnings of certain foreign
subsidiaries because those earnings are considered permanently reinvested in the operations of those subsidiaries.
 

In addition to estimating the future tax rates applicable to the reversal of tax differences, management must also make certain assumptions regarding
whether tax differences are permanent or temporary. If the differences are temporary, management must estimate the timing of their reversal and whether taxable
operating income in future periods will be sufficient to fully recognize any gross deferred tax assets.
 

For the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002, management made no material changes in its assumptions regarding the determination of the
provision for income taxes, except that during 2002, we determined that our investments in certain foreign subsidiaries are permanently invested and will not be
repatriated to the U.S. in the foreseeable future. U.S. tax consequences on the undistributed earnings of these subsidiaries are no longer considered in the tax
provision calculation in accordance with APB Opinion No. 23. At December 31, 2004, there are approximately $41.7 million of undistributed net earnings for
which no additional U.S. tax has been provided. The U.S. recently enacted a one-time tax reduction on cash distributions of these undistributed foreign earnings,
which by election could apply in 2004. We did not make this election for 2004 and at this time intend to keep our undistributed earnings reinvested in foreign
operations. Any future change in management’s plans regarding reinvestment of these earnings will require us to accrue for the additional tax impact of any
amounts no longer permanently reinvested. This accrual would be recorded at the time management determines that these earnings are no longer permanently
reinvested.
 

Certain events could occur that would materially affect our estimates and assumptions regarding deferred taxes. Changes in current tax laws and applicable
enacted tax rates could affect the valuation of deferred tax assets and liabilities, thereby impacting our income tax provision. Additionally, significant declines in
taxable operating income could materially impact the realizable value of deferred tax assets.
 

For the year ended December 31, 2004, our provision for income taxes from continuing operations was $62.1 million, consisting of $65.6 million for
current tax expense and $3.5 million for deferred tax benefit. Our pre-tax earnings from continuing operations for financial reporting purposes have historically
been higher than taxable income due primarily to deductions for stock option exercises not included in pre-tax income for financial reporting, amortization of
software development, and the special bonus depreciation allowance. Our pre-tax earnings for financial reporting are less than taxable income in 2004 due
primarily to accelerated collection of accrued check guarantee claims and an increase in net employee benefit accruals. Changes in management’s estimates and
assumptions regarding the enacted tax rate applied to deferred tax assets and liabilities, the ability to realize the value of deferred tax assets, or the timing of the
reversal of tax basis differences could potentially impact the provision for income taxes. A one percent change in the effective tax rate from 37.0 percent in 2004
to 38.0 percent would have increased the 2004 income tax provision by $1.7 million.
 

Employee Benefit Obligations. The plan obligations and related assets of our defined benefit retirement and postretirement plans are presented in Note 9 to
the consolidated financial statements. Plan assets, which consist primarily of marketable equity and debt instruments, are valued using market quotations. Plan
obligations and the annual net periodic benefit cost are determined by independent actuaries and through the use of a number of assumptions. Key assumptions in
measuring the plan obligations include the discount rate, the rate of salary increases, and the estimated future return on plan assets. In determining the discount
rate, we utilize the yield on high-quality, fixed-income investments currently available with maturities corresponding to the anticipated timing of benefit
payments. Salary increase assumptions are based upon historical experience and anticipated future management actions. The expected long-term rate of return on
plan assets was made considering the plan asset mix, historical returns on equity securities, and expected yields to maturity for debt securities.
 

For calculating retirement plan expense, a market-related value of assets is used. The market-related value of assets recognizes the difference between
actual returns and expected returns over five years at a rate of 20% per year. While the asset return and interest rate environment have negatively impacted the
funded status of our U.S. retirement plan, we do not currently have minimum funding requirements, as set forth in ERISA and federal tax laws. We did not
contribute to the plan in 2004 and do not anticipate contributing to the plan in 2005. Information about the expected future employer contributions and benefit
payments for our employee benefit plans are detailed in Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.
 

Net periodic benefit cost for our employee retirement and postretirement plans for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002 were $3.9 million,
$1.4 million, and $0.5 million, respectively, which includes $4.4 million, $4.3 million, and $4.3 million of expected return on plan assets.
 

We have made certain other estimates that, while not involving the same degree of judgment, are important to understanding our financial statements. On
an ongoing basis, management evaluates its estimates and judgments in these areas based on its historical
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experience and other relevant factors. Management’s estimates as of the date of the financial statements reflect its best judgment giving consideration to all
currently available facts and circumstances. As such, these estimates may require adjustment in the future, as additional facts become known or as circumstances
change.
 
New Accounting Pronouncements
 On December 16, 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004), “Share-Based Payment” (“SFAS 123(R)”), which is a revision of SFAS No. 123,
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” (“SFAS 123”). SFAS 123(R) supersedes Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock
Issued to Employees” (“APB 25”), and amends SFAS No. 95, “Statement of Cash Flows.” Generally, the approach in SFAS 123(R) is similar to the approach
described in SFAS 123. However, SFAS 123(R) requires all share-based payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options, to be recognized in
the income statement based on their fair values. Pro forma disclosure is no longer an alternative.
 

SFAS 123(R) must be adopted no later than July 1, 2005. Early adoption will be permitted in periods in which financial statements have not yet been
issued. We expect to adopt SFAS 123(R) on January 1, 2005, using the Black-Scholes-Merton option valuation model.
 

SFAS 123(R) permits public companies to adopt its requirements using one of two methods:
 

 
•  A “modified prospective” method in which compensation cost is recognized beginning with the effective date (a) based on the requirements of SFAS

123(R) for all shared-based payments granted after the effective date and (b) based on the requirements of SFAS 123 for all awards granted to
employees prior to the effective date of SFAS 123(R) that remain unvested on the effective date.

 

 
•  A “modified retrospective” method which includes the requirements of the modified prospective method described above, but also permits entities to

restate based on the amounts previously recognized under SFAS 123 for purposes of pro forma disclosures either (a) all periods presented or (b) prior
interim periods of the year of adoption.

 
We plan to adopt SFAS 123(R) using the modified retrospective method, restating all prior periods.

 
As permitted by SFAS 123, we currently account for share-based payments to employees using APB 25’s intrinsic value method and, as such, generally

recognize no compensation cost for employee stock options. Accordingly, the adoption of SFAS 123(R)’s fair value method will have a significant impact on our
results of operations, although it will have no impact on our overall financial position. We expect the impact of adoption of SFAS 123(R) will reduce 2005 diluted
earnings per share by approximately $0.08 to $0.09, and will result in an effective tax rate of 37.5%. Had we adopted SFAS 123(R) in prior periods, net income
and earnings per share would have been reduced to the following pro forma amounts:
 

   

2004

  

2003

  

2002

   
(In thousands, except
per share amounts)

Net income:             
As reported   $ 111,810  $92,402  $89,984
Pro forma   $103,612  $84,706  $79,640

Earnings per share (basic):             
As reported   $ 1.78  $ 1.42  $ 1.32
Pro forma   $ 1.65  $ 1.30  $ 1.17

Earnings per share (diluted):             
As reported   $ 1.75  $ 1.40  $ 1.30
Pro forma   $ 1.62  $ 1.29  $ 1.15

 
SFAS 123(R) also requires the benefits of tax deductions in excess of recognized compensation cost to be reported as a financing cash flow, rather than as

an operating cash flow as required under current literature. This requirement will reduce net operating cash flows and increase net financing cash flows in periods
after adoption. While we cannot estimate what those amounts will be in the future (because they depend on, among other things, when employees exercise stock
options), the amount of operating cash flows recognized in prior periods for such excess tax deductions were $3.2 million, $1.3 million, and $3.8 million in 2004,
2003 and 2002, respectively.
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Seasonality, Inflation, and Economic Downturns
 We are subject to certain seasonal fluctuations, such as peak activity during the holiday buying season. We do not believe that inflation has had a material
effect on our operating results; however, inflation could adversely affect our financial results were it to result in a substantial weakening in economic conditions
that adversely affects the level of consumer spending.
 

The Brazilian market is characterized by economic uncertainty that causes volatility in currency values, and historically has resulted in severe inflationary
pressures. Notwithstanding this uncertainty, we believe that the long-term prospects offered by the Brazilian market are attractive and our continued focus on
growing our Brazilian business and attaining cost efficiencies should provide us with a cost structure that can withstand short-term declines in business driven by
the uncertain market and the loss of a large customer in March 2003.
 

Our Brazilian operations had net assets of approximately $110.2 million at December 31, 2004, which includes a net equity reduction of $87.1 million as a
result of cumulative foreign currency translation. Pursuant to SFAS 142 and SFAS 144, these assets are subject to regular evaluations to assess their
recoverability. In the opinion of management, these assets are appropriately valued at December 31, 2004 and 2003; however, if we are unable to achieve our
business plans and improve profitability in our Brazilian operations by growing revenue or achieving the necessary cost efficient structure in the future, this could
have an impact on our opinion regarding the valuation of these assets, which could lead to an impairment charge against net income.
 
ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
 Based on analysis completed and described below, we do not believe that we are exposed to material market risk from changes in interest rates or foreign
currency exchange rates.
 

Interest rates. We have an unsecured revolving credit facility and a synthetic lease obligation that have variable interest rates; therefore, we are exposed to
the impact of interest rate fluctuations. This risk is somewhat mitigated by our ability to fix the base LIBOR rate for periods of up to six months on our revolving
credit facility and by using interest rate swap arrangements. Amounts outstanding under the revolving credit facility at December 31, 2004 were $48.6 million,
while the balance on our synthetic lease obligation at December 31, 2004 was $22.4 million. We have performed an interest rate sensitivity analysis assuming a
100 basis point increase in LIBOR for our outstanding revolving credit facility borrowings and synthetic lease obligation and the increase in interest expense
would be immaterial in 2004 and 2003.
 

Foreign currency exchange rates. Approximately 15.8 percent of our consolidated revenues for the year ended December 31, 2004 and 37.3 percent of our
consolidated assets at December 31, 2004 are associated with operations outside of the U.S. The U.S. dollar balance sheets and statements of income for these
businesses are subject to currency fluctuations. We are most vulnerable to fluctuations in the Brazilian real and the British pound against the U.S. dollar.
Historically, we have not entered into derivative financial instruments to mitigate this risk, as it has not been cost-effective. The impact of currency fluctuations
on profitability has not been significant since both revenues and operating costs of these businesses are denominated in local currency. If the U.S. dollar had a 10
percent higher appreciation against our non-U.S. dollar denominated businesses, consolidated revenues and operating income would have been reduced by $14.9
million and $1.3 million, respectively, in 2004, and $15.6 million and $0.6 million, respectively, in 2003. We may use derivative financial instruments in the
future if we deem it useful in mitigating an exposure to foreign currency exchange rates. The cumulative translation adjustment, largely related to our investment
in our Brazilian card processing operation, was a $58.6 million and $75.1 million reduction of shareholders’ equity at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Financial Statements
 
The Board of Directors and Shareholders
Certegy Inc.
 We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Certegy Inc. as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the related consolidated statements of
income, shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2004. These consolidated financial statements are the
responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.
 
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining,
on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinion.
 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of Certegy Inc. at
December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2004,
in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
 
As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed the manner in which it accounts for a variable interest entity upon adoption
of certain provisions of Financial Accounting Standards Board Financial Interpretation No. 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities” on December 31,
2003.
 
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the effectiveness of Certegy Inc.’s
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated March 11, 2005 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.
 
/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
 
Atlanta, Georgia
March 11, 2005
 

38



Table of Contents

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on
Internal Control over Financial Reporting
 
The Board of Directors and Shareholders
Certegy Inc.
 We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting, that
Certegy Inc. maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria). Certegy Inc.’s management is responsible
for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting
based on our audit.
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.
Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design
and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
 
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial
reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in
accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of
unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
 
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with
the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
 
In our opinion, management’s assessment that Certegy Inc. maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, is fairly stated,
in all material respects, based on the COSO criteria. Also, in our opinion, Certegy Inc. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on the COSO criteria.
 
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated balance sheets of
Certegy Inc. as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the related consolidated statements of income, shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended December 31, 2004 and our report dated March 11, 2005 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.
 
/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
 
Atlanta, Georgia
March 11, 2005
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Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
 Certegy’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Under those rules, internal control over financial reporting is defined as a process designed by, or
under the supervision of, Certegy’s principal executive and principal financial officers, and effected by its board of directors, management and other personnel, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles and includes those policies and procedures that:
 
 •  Pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of Certegy’s assets;
 

 
•  Provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally

accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of Certegy’s management
and directors; and

 
 

•  Provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of Certegy’s assets that could
have a material effect on the financial statements.

 
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. In addition, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with
the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
 
Management assessed the effectiveness of Certegy’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004. In making this assessment, management
used the criteria set forth in Internal Control–Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.
 
Based on that assessment, management believes that Certegy’s internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2004.
 
Management’s assessment of the effectiveness of Certegy’s internal control over financial reporting has been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, an independent
registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which is included herein.
 
March 11, 2005
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CERTEGY INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

(In thousands, except per share amounts)
 

   

Year Ended December 31,

 

   

2004

  

2003

  

2002

 
Revenues (Note 2)   $1,039,506  $921,734  $906,791 
     
Operating expenses:              

Costs of services (Note 2)    739,600   654,099   637,123 
Selling, general and administrative    120,252   107,217   110,269 
Other (Note 3)    —     12,203   12,230 

     
    859,852   773,519   759,622 
     
Operating income    179,654   148,215   147,169 
Other income, net    1,207   2,339   1,119 
Interest expense    (12,914)  (7,950)  (7,120)
     
Income from continuing operations before income taxes and cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle.    167,947   142,604   141,168 
Provision for income taxes    (62,071)  (52,764)  (54,110)
     
Income from continuing operations before cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle    105,876   89,840   87,058 
Income from discontinued operations, net of taxes of $3,595, $2,288, and $1,854, respectively (Note 5)    5,934   3,897   2,926 
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle, net of $832 income tax benefit (Note 2)    —     (1,335)  —   
     
Net income   $ 111,810  $ 92,402  $ 89,984 
     
Basic earnings per share (Note 2):              

Income from continuing operations before cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle   $ 1.69  $ 1.38  $ 1.28 
Income from discontinued operations    0.09   0.06   0.04 
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle    —     (0.02)  —   

     
Net income   $ 1.78  $ 1.42  $ 1.32 

     
Average shares outstanding    62,818   65,094   68,254 

     
Diluted earnings per share (Note 2):              

Income from continuing operations before cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle   $ 1.66  $ 1.36  $ 1.26 
Income from discontinued operations    0.09   0.06   0.04 
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle    —     (0.02)  —   

     
Net income   $ 1.75  $ 1.40  $ 1.30 

     
Average shares outstanding    63,966   65,870   69,033 

     
Dividends declared per share of common stock   $ 0.20  $ 0.10  $ —   
     
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CERTEGY INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In thousands, except par values)
 

   

December 31,

 

   

2004

  

2003

 
ASSETS          
Current assets:          

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 41,801  $ 22,280 
Settlement deposits    44,855   26,128 
Trade accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $2,175 and $1,883 in 2004 and 2003, respectively    120,767   103,285 
Settlement receivables    49,861   59,196 
Claims recoverable    39,316   46,478 
Other receivables    48,053   26,907 
Other current assets (Note 2)    22,236   23,304 
Assets held for sale (Note 5)    41,828   35,826 

    
Total current assets    408,717   343,404 

Property and equipment, net (Note 2)    61,490   58,897 
Goodwill, net (Note 2)    232,941   187,627 
Other intangible assets, net (Note 2)    25,506   10,332 
Systems development and capitalized contract costs, net    123,135   119,770 
Other assets, net (Note 2)    70,420   65,326 
    

Total assets   $ 922,209  $ 785,356 
    
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY          
Current liabilities:          

Accounts payable and other accrued expenses   $ 56,764  $ 40,237 
Settlement payables    94,716   85,324 
Claims payable    36,204   38,270 
Compensation and benefit liabilities    19,384   20,535 
Income taxes payable    14,398   8,012 
Other payables    22,882   10,855 
Other current liabilities (Note 2)    28,271   29,496 
Liabilities related to assets held for sale (Note 5)    17,719   11,536 

    
Total current liabilities    290,338   244,265 

Long-term debt (Note 6)    273,968   222,399 
Deferred income taxes (Note 7)    40,295   44,076 
Other long-term liabilities    17,545   13,477 
    

Total liabilities    622,146   524,217 
    
Commitments and contingencies (Note 10)          
Shareholders’ equity:          

Preferred stock, $0.01 par value; 100,000 shares authorized; none issued and outstanding    —     —   
Common stock, $0.01 par value; 300,000 shares authorized; 69,507 shares issued and 62,383 and 64,352 shares outstanding in

2004 and 2003, respectively    695   695 
Paid-in capital    253,995   249,351 
Retained earnings    325,681   226,495 
Deferred compensation    (9,648)  (10,187)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (Note 2)    (59,194)  (75,854)
Treasury stock, at cost; 7,124 and 5,155 shares in 2004 and 2003, respectively    (211,466)  (129,361)

    
Total shareholders’ equity    300,063   261,139 

    
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity   $ 922,209  $ 785,356 
    
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CERTEGY INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)
 

   

Year Ended December 31,

 

   

2004

  

2003

  

2002

 
Cash flows from operating activities:              

Net income   $ 111,810  $ 92,402  $ 89,984 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities of continuing operations:              

Income from discontinued operations (Note 5)    (5,934)  (3,897)  (2,926)
Depreciation and amortization    47,449   42,030   39,050 
Amortization of deferred compensation and financing costs    6,294   5,438   5,069 
Income tax benefit from exercise of stock options    3,206   1,298   3,772 
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle    —     1,335   —   
Other non-cash items    5,031   5,045   4,957 
Deferred income taxes    (3,706)  13,759   5,340 
Changes in assets and liabilities, excluding effects of acquisitions:              

Accounts receivable, net    (22,516)  (1,891)  (5,191)
Current liabilities, excluding settlement and claims payable    (4,086)  (4,725)  (6,258)
Claims accounts, net    5,225   (5,092)  (2,031)
Other current assets    2,713   (2,077)  (3,660)
Other long-term liabilities    3,466   (141)  (279)
Other long-term assets    (4,135)  (11,665)  (7,971)

     
Net cash provided by operating activities    144,817   131,819   119,856 
     
Cash flows from investing activities:              

Capital expenditures    (40,908)  (43,747)  (48,961)
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired (Note 4)    (39,721)  —     (10,433)

     
Net cash used in investing activities    (80,629)  (43,747)  (59,394)
     
Cash flows from financing activities:              

Net additions to (repayments of) revolving credit facilities    48,600   (214,200)  (15,800)
Proceeds from note issuance, net of discount and payment of debt issuance costs    —     196,130   —   
Treasury stock purchases    (96,502)  (73,550)  (79,554)
Dividends paid    (12,633)  (3,242)  —   
Proceeds from exercise of stock options    11,291   5,502   15,935 
Other    (1,151)  (32)  (359)

     
Net cash used in financing activities    (50,395)  (89,392)  (79,778)
     
Effect of foreign currency exchange rates on cash    (390)  7,886   (991)
     
Net cash provided by discontinued operations (Note 5)    6,118   1,548   6,799 
     
Net cash provided (used)    19,521   8,114   (13,508)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year    22,280   14,166   27,674 
     
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year   $ 41,801  $ 22,280  $ 14,166 
     
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CERTEGY INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(In thousands)
 

  

Shares
Outstanding

  

Common
Stock

 

Paid-in
Capital

  

Retained
Earnings

  

Deferred
Compensation

  

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive

Loss

  

Treasury
Stock

  

Total
Shareholders’

Equity

  

Comprehensive
Income

 
Balance, December 31, 2001  68,836  $ 688 $232,099  $ 50,568  $ (3,651) $ (67,839) $ —    $ 211,865  $ 76,525 
                                
2002 changes:                                   

Net income             89,984               89,984  $ 89,984 
Foreign currency translation

adjustment                     (45,787)      (45,787)  (45,787)
Restricted stock issued, net of

cancellations  264   2  7,286       (9,056)      1,578   (190)    
Treasury stock purchased  (3,407)                     (79,554)  (79,554)    
Stock options exercised  703   5  5,958               9,972   15,935     
Income tax benefit from stock

options         3,772                   3,772     
Amortization of deferred

compensation                 3,591           3,591     
Cash flow hedging activities,

net of tax benefit of $849                     (1,173)      (1,173)  (1,173)
          
Balance, December 31, 2002  66,396   695  249,115   140,552   (9,116)  (114,799)  (68,004)  198,443  $ 43,024 
                                
2003 changes:                                   

Net income             92,402               92,402  $ 92,402 
Foreign currency translation

adjustment                     38,291       38,291   38,291 
Restricted stock issued  210      226       (5,629)      5,403   —       
Treasury stock purchased  (2,552)                     (73,550)  (73,550)    
Dividends declared             (6,459)              (6,459)    
Stock options exercised  298      (1,288)              6,790   5,502     
Income tax benefit from stock

options         1,298                   1,298     
Amortization of deferred

compensation                 4,558           4,558     
Cash flow hedging activities,

net of taxes of $417                     654       654   654 
          
Balance, December 31, 2003  64,352   695  249,351   226,495   (10,187)  (75,854)  (129,361)  261,139  $ 131,347 
                                
2004 changes:                                   

Net income             111,810               111,810  $ 111,810 
Foreign currency translation

adjustment, net of taxes of
$992                     16,462       16,462   16,462 

Restricted stock issued, net of
cancellations  129      1,736       (4,289)      2,553   —       

Restricted stock unit
amortization         255                   255     

Treasury stock purchased  (2,657)                     (96,502)  (96,502)    
Dividends declared             (12,624)              (12,624)    
Stock options exercised  559      (553)              11,844   11,291     
Income tax benefit from stock

options         3,206                   3,206     
Amortization of deferred

compensation                 4,828           4,828     
Cash flow hedging activities,

net of taxes of $126                     198       198   198 
          
Balance, December 31, 2004  62,383  $ 695 $253,995  $325,681  $ (9,648) $ (59,194) $(211,466) $ 300,063  $ 128,470 
          
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 
Note 1—Basis of Presentation
 On July 7, 2001, Equifax Inc. spun-off its Payment Services division by consolidating all of the assets and liabilities of the businesses that comprised the
Payment Services division into Certegy Inc. (“Certegy” or “the Company”) and distributing all of the outstanding shares of Certegy common stock to Equifax
shareholders.
 

The Company provides credit card, debit card, and other transaction processing and check risk management services to financial institutions and merchants
in the U.S. and internationally through two segments, Card Services and Check Services (see Note 12 for segment information). Card Services provides card
issuer services in the U.S., the U.K., Brazil, Chile, Australia, New Zealand, Ireland, Thailand, and the Caribbean. Additionally, Card Services provides merchant
processing and e-banking services in the U.S. and card issuer software, support, and consulting services in numerous countries. Check Services provides check
risk management services and related processing services in the U.S., the U.K., Canada, France, Ireland, Australia, and New Zealand.
 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its majority-owned subsidiaries. The consolidated financial
statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S. (“GAAP”) and present the
Company’s consolidated financial position, results of operations, changes in shareholders’ equity and cash flows. All significant intercompany transactions and
balances have been eliminated. Certain prior period amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current period presentation. These primarily include
reclassifications between costs of services and selling, general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of income, reclassifications to further
delineate balance sheet categories in the consolidated balance sheets, and reclassification of assets held for sale and liabilities related to assets held for sale for
discontinued operations (Note 5).
 
Note 2—Significant Accounting Policies
 Use of Estimates. The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions. These
estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements, as well as reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. Actual results could differ from these estimates.
 

Revenue Recognition. The Company recognizes revenues from its credit and debit card processing and related services based on a specified amount per
account, per card, or per transaction when processed or as services are rendered.
 

Revenues for card merchant processing services are recognized in the period the transactions are processed or when the services are performed, based on a
percentage of the gross amount charged. The Company’s merchant processing operations consist of two businesses: (1) merchant acquiring, where the Company
is a direct party to contracts with merchants regarding its provision of card processing services for the merchant, and the Company is subject to the associated risk
that a cardholder billing dispute will be resolved in favor of the cardholder (referred to as a cardholder “chargeback”), and (2) institution processing, where the
Company provides authorization, settlement, and customer service to community banks and others that contract directly with merchant customers. When the
Company is a direct party to contracts with merchants, revenues collected for services are based primarily on a discount rate, which considers the cost of
interchange fees, which are processing fees paid to credit card associations. When the Company’s relationship is with the financial institution that contracts
directly with the merchant, the Company collects the interchange fees in addition to transaction fees. In both instances, the Company is responsible for collecting
the interchange fees after settling with the credit card associations and thus, interchange fees are recorded as a component of revenues and costs of services in the
consolidated statements of income. As further discussed in Note 5, in September 2004, the Board of Directors approved a plan to sell the Company’s merchant
acquiring business; therefore, the Company’s financial statements reflect the results of operations of the merchant acquiring business as discontinued operations.
Interchange fees reflected in the consolidated statements of income for 2004, 2003, and 2002 from continuing operations were $69.0 million, $62.8 million, and
$86.0 million, respectively.
 

Check guarantee is the process of electronically authorizing a check being presented to the Company’s merchant customer, through an extensive database,
and guaranteeing the face value of the check to the merchant customer. Revenues for check guarantee services are based on a percentage of the face value of each
guaranteed check and are recognized when the obligations to the merchant customer are fulfilled. Check verification services are similar to check guarantee
services, except the Company does not guarantee the verified checks, and the risk of loss is retained by the merchant customer. Revenues for check verification
services are based on a fixed amount per check and are recognized when the checks are verified.
 

The Company licenses card issuer software products that allow customers to manage their credit card programs. These products include a complete suite of
UNIX and mainframe credit card issuing and acquiring software. Software license revenues are recognized in
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accordance with Statement of Position 97-2, “Software Revenue Recognition.” In certain software arrangements, the Company provides consulting services,
which include implementation and upgrades to the existing base software. For license sales that do not include consulting services, and where the license fee is
fixed and determinable, collectibility is probable, and evidence of an arrangement exists, revenue is recognized when delivery has occurred. For professional
services related to card issuer software and for licenses that include consulting or processing services, revenue is recognized over the period the services are
performed. Card issuer software maintenance and support revenues are recognized over the term of the contract or as services are performed.
 

The collection of fees for services or products prior to the period such services or products are provided to customers are deferred and recognized over the
period such services are provided or as products are delivered.
 

Reserve for Card Processing and Check Guarantee Losses. The Company recognizes a reserve for estimated losses related to its card issuing and
merchant acquiring businesses based on historical experience and other relevant factors. In the Company’s card issuing business, the Company records estimates
to accrue for losses resulting from transaction processing errors. The Company utilizes a number of systems and procedures within its card issuing business in
order to minimize such transaction processing errors from occurring. In the Company’s merchant acquiring business, if, due to the insolvency or bankruptcy of
the merchant or other reasons, the Company is not able to collect amounts from its merchant customers for cardholder chargebacks, the Company must bear the
credit risk for the full amount of the cardholder transaction. The Company requires cash deposits and other types of collateral from certain merchants to minimize
any such risk. In addition, the Company utilizes a number of systems and procedures to manage merchant risk and believes that the diversification of its merchant
portfolio among industries and geographic regions minimizes its risk of loss. These card processing loss reserve amounts are subject to risk that actual losses may
be greater than the Company’s estimates. At December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003, the Company had aggregate card processing loss reserves of $0.9
million and $1.1 million, respectively, which are included in other current liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets.
 

Effective January 1, 2003, the Company adopted Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Interpretation No. 45, “Guarantor’s Accounting and
Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others” (“FIN 45”), which requires the recognition of a liability for
the amount of the fair value of a guarantee. A liability is required to be maintained until the settlement or expiration of the guarantee for transactions occurring
after December 31, 2002. The adoption of FIN 45 did not have a material impact on the Company’s card processing business, as based on historical experience,
ongoing credit risk assessments, and the collateral held, the fair value of the Company’s guarantee for merchant chargebacks approximates the credit loss
reserves.
 

As further discussed in Note 5, in September 2004, the Board of Directors approved a plan to sell the Company’s merchant acquiring business; therefore,
the Company’s financial statements reflect the merchant acquiring business as discontinued operations. The portion of the card processing loss reserves related to
the merchant acquiring business has not been reclassified to discontinued operations in the consolidated balance sheets as, upon the ultimate sale of the merchant
acquiring business, the Company may retain the credit risk for cardholder transactions processed by the Company prior to the sale.
 

In the Company’s check guarantee business, if a guaranteed check presented to a merchant customer is dishonored by the check writer’s bank, the
Company reimburses its merchant customer for the check’s face value and pursues collection of the amount from the delinquent check writer. The Company’s
merchant customers have approximately 60 days from the check date to present claims for dishonored checks to the Company. The Company has a maximum
potential liability equal to the value of all checks presented to its merchant customers; however, through historical experience and analysis, the Company is able
to reasonably estimate its liability for check returns. The Company recognizes a liability to its merchant customers for estimated check returns (claims payable)
and a receivable for amounts the Company estimates it will recover from the check writers (claims recoverable), based on historical experience and other relevant
factors. The estimated check returns and recovery amounts are subject to risk that actual amounts returned and recovered may be different than the Company’s
estimates. The Company had accrued claims payable and accrued claims recoverable balances of $36.2 million and $39.3 million at December 31, 2004 and
$38.3 million and $46.5 million at December 31, 2003, respectively.
 

As a result of FIN 45, with regards to check guarantee transactions occurring after December 31, 2002, the Company is required to maintain a liability for
each guaranteed check equal to the fair value of the guarantee, until the settlement or expiration of the guarantee. As the Company was already applying similar
accounting policies for the recognition of its guarantee obligations and related revenue, the adoption of FIN 45 did not have a material impact on the Company’s
check guarantee business.
 

The Company settles its claim obligations with merchants on average within 14 days. Recoverability of claims from the check writers extends beyond this
timeframe, but generally occurs within a one-year timeframe.
 

The Company recorded card processing losses and check guarantee losses, net of anticipated recoveries excluding service fees, of $170.0 million, $174.6
million, and $166.7 million, respectively, for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002. Amounts written-off, or in the case of check guarantee losses,
the amounts paid to the Company’s merchant customers, net of amounts recovered from check writers excluding service fees, were $165.1 million, $180.7
million, and $168.8 million, respectively, for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002.
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Other Charges. It is the Company’s policy to present other charges, such as severance, impairment, or restructuring, if significant for a given reporting
period, on a separate line item within operating expenses in the consolidated statements of income. In the normal course of business, it is not unusual for the
Company to have ongoing severance charges that are not significant and therefore, not presented separately in the consolidated statements of income.
 

Share-Based Compensation. On December 16, 2004, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 123 (revised 2004),
“Share-Based Payment” (“SFAS 123(R)”), which is a revision of SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” (“SFAS 123”). SFAS 123(R)
supersedes Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” (“APB 25”), and amends SFAS No. 95, “Statement of
Cash Flows.” Generally, the approach in SFAS 123(R) is similar to the approach described in SFAS 123. However, SFAS 123(R) requires all share-based
payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options, to be recognized in the income statement based on their fair values. Pro forma disclosure is
no longer an alternative.
 

SFAS 123(R) must be adopted no later than July 1, 2005. Early adoption will be permitted in periods in which financial statements have not yet been
issued. The Company expects to adopt SFAS 123(R) on January 1, 2005, using the Black-Scholes-Merton option valuation model.
 

SFAS 123(R) permits public companies to adopt its requirements using one of two methods:
 

 
•  A “modified prospective” method in which compensation cost is recognized beginning with the effective date (a) based on the requirements of SFAS

123(R) for all shared-based payments granted after the effective date and (b) based on the requirements of SFAS 123 for all awards granted to
employees prior to the effective date of SFAS 123(R) that remain unvested on the effective date.

 

 
•  A “modified retrospective” method which includes the requirements of the modified prospective method described above, but also permits entities to

restate based on the amounts previously recognized under SFAS 123 for purposes of pro forma disclosures either (a) all periods presented or (b) prior
interim periods of the year of adoption.

 
The Company plans to adopt SFAS 123(R) using the modified retrospective method, restating all prior periods.

 
As permitted by SFAS 123, the Company currently accounts for share-based payments to employees using APB 25’s intrinsic value method and, as such,

generally recognizes no compensation cost for employee stock options. Accordingly, the adoption of SFAS 123(R)’s fair value method will have a significant
impact on the Company’s results of operations, although it will have no impact on the Company’s overall financial position. The Company expects the impact of
adoption of SFAS 123(R) will reduce 2005 diluted earnings per share by approximately $0.08 to $0.09, and will result in an effective tax rate of 37.5%. Had the
Company adopted SFAS 123(R) in prior periods, the impact of that standard would have approximated the impact of SFAS 123 as described in the disclosure of
pro forma net income and earnings per share in Note 8. SFAS 123(R) also requires the benefits of tax deductions in excess of recognized compensation cost to be
reported as a financing cash flow, rather than as an operating cash flow as required under current literature. This requirement will reduce net operating cash flows
and increase net financing cash flows in periods after adoption. While the Company cannot estimate what those amounts will be in the future (because they
depend on, among other things, when employees exercise stock options), the amount of operating cash flows recognized in prior periods for such excess tax
deductions were $3.2 million, $1.3 million, and $3.8 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
 

Earnings Per Share. Basic earnings per share (“EPS”) is calculated by dividing net income by the weighted average number of common shares
outstanding during the period.
 

Diluted EPS reflects the potential dilution that would occur if stock options or other contracts to issue common stock were exercised and resulted in
additional common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted weighted average shares outstanding in 2004, 2003 and 2002 excludes 37 thousand, 2.0 million
and 1.4 million weighted average shares, respectively, since these shares were antidilutive.
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A reconciliation of the average outstanding shares used in the basic and diluted EPS calculations for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002 is
as follows:
 

   

2004

  

2003

  

2002

   (In thousands)
Weighted average shares outstanding (basic)   62,818  65,094  68,254
Effect of dilutive securities:          

Stock options   815  479  721
Restricted stock and restricted stock units   333  297  58

       
Weighted average shares outstanding (diluted)   63,966  65,870  69,033
       

 
Cash and Cash Equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and all liquid investments with an initial maturity of three months or less

when purchased.
 

Settlement Deposits, Receivables, and Payables. Settlement receivables and payables result from timing differences in the Company’s settlement process
with merchants, financial institutions, and credit card associations related to merchant and card transaction processing and third-party check collections. Cash
held by the Company associated with this settlement process is classified as settlement deposits in the consolidated balance sheets.
 

The Company has an unsecured revolving credit facility that it uses to finance its customers’ shortfalls in the daily funding requirements associated with
the Company’s credit and debit card settlement operations. Amounts borrowed are typically repaid within one to two business days, as customers fund the
shortfalls. The credit agreement provides the Company with the option to select an interest rate for borrowings under this facility tied to the prime rate, LIBOR
plus 100 basis points, or the federal funds rate plus 125 basis points. The credit agreement contains various covenants and restrictions, including, among other
things, limitations on the ability to incur subsidiary indebtedness, to grant liens, to undertake certain mergers, to liquidate, to make certain investments and
acquisitions, to pay dividends and redeem shares, and to dispose of certain assets. The terms of the credit agreement also require the Company to maintain certain
leverage and fixed charge coverage ratios. The borrowings under this facility, which have not been guaranteed by any of the Company’s subsidiaries, are
unsecured and rank on parity in right of payment with all other unsecured and unsubordinated indebtedness from time to time outstanding. In June 2003, the
Company lowered the borrowing amount from $130 million to $100 million. This facility has a term of 364 days and is renewed annually. Amounts may be
repaid at any time within this term. There were no amounts outstanding under this facility at December 31, 2004 or 2003.
 

Trade Accounts Receivable. The Company’s provisions for losses on trade accounts receivable were $1.1 million, $2.0 million, and $1.7 million,
respectively, and write-offs, net of recoveries, were $0.8 million, $2.8 million, and $1.6 million, respectively, for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003, and
2002.
 

Other Receivables and Other Payables. Other receivables and other payables represent amounts due from consumers and amounts due to the Company’s
merchant customers, respectively, related to the Company’s deferred debit processing services, which are offered in Australia and the U.K. Additionally, other
receivables include amounts due from various financial institutions for the settlement of credit card, debit card, or ATM transactions generated by consumers to
access cash or written payment instruments in the Company’s cash access business. Other payables also include amounts due to a third-party for written payment
instruments issued by the Company in its cash access business. The Company uses a third-party to fund these payment instruments until such time that the
Company is able to secure its own licenses for the sale of payment instruments in those states in which it operates it cash access business.
 

Other Current Assets. The Company’s other current assets at December 31, 2004 and 2003 consist of the following:
 

   

2004

  

2003

   (In thousands)
Prepaid expenses   $13,395  $11,658
Current deferred income taxes (Note 7)    3,768   2,242
Inventories and supplies    2,417   1,889
Other current assets    2,656   7,515
     
   $22,236  $23,304
     

 
Property and Equipment. The cost of property and equipment is depreciated on a straight-line basis over estimated useful lives as follows: building—40

years; leasehold improvements—not to exceed lease terms; data processing equipment—3 to 5 years; and furniture and other equipment—3 to 8 years.
Maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred.
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Property and equipment at December 31, 2004 and 2003 consist of the following:
 

   

2004

  

2003

 
   (In thousands)  
Land   $ 1,500  $ 1,500 
Building and improvements    38,852   37,794 
Data processing equipment    72,014   62,551 
Furniture and other equipment    60,283   51,765 
    
    172,649   153,610 
Less accumulated depreciation    (111,159)  (94,713)
    
   $ 61,490  $ 58,897 
    

 
Depreciation and amortization expense for property and equipment was $19.0 million in 2004, $16.8 million in 2003, and $15.3 million in 2002.

 
Equipment under capital lease, which is included in data processing equipment, was $6.2 million and $0.6 million at December 31, 2004 and 2003,

respectively. Accumulated depreciation related to these assets totaled $1.3 million and $44 thousand at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
 

In December 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 46 (revised 2003), “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, an Interpretation of Accounting
Research Bulletin No. 51” (“FIN 46”). FIN 46 requires the consolidation of variable interest entities in which an enterprise absorbs a majority of the entity’s
expected losses, receives a majority of the entity’s expected residual returns, or both, as a result of ownership, contractual or other financial interests in the entity.
 

The Company is the tenant of certain real property located in St. Petersburg, Florida (the “Leased Property”) pursuant to the terms of a synthetic lease
agreement dated December 30, 1999 (the “Synthetic Lease”) with an unconsolidated variable interest entity (the “VIE”), as landlord. This agreement was
amended in September 2004 to document the change in the annual rate of interest from LIBOR plus 47.5 basis points to LIBOR plus 90 basis points and to
conform certain definitions to the Company’s revolving credit facility agreement, which was amended in August 2004. The term of the Synthetic Lease expires
on September 17, 2009, but can be renewed through September 17, 2014. In order to acquire the Leased Property, third parties have invested capital at risk equal
to 3.5% of the assets of the VIE with the remainder being financed through a debt obligation of the VIE. This, and certain other criteria, allowed the Company to
not consolidate the VIE in the Company’s financial statements prior to adopting FIN 46. Rather, the Company accounted for the arrangement as an operating
lease. Accordingly, neither the leased facility nor the related debt was recorded in the Company’s accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Upon notice to the
VIE and the satisfaction of certain other conditions, the Company has the option to purchase the Leased Property at its original cost or to direct the sale of the
facility to a third party.
 

Upon adoption of certain provisions of FIN 46 on December 31, 2003, the Company consolidated the VIE and recorded a cumulative effect of accounting
change expense of $1.3 million after-tax, or $0.02 per diluted share. Upon consolidation of the VIE, property and equipment increased by $21.0 million, which is
net of accumulated depreciation of $2.2 million, long-term notes payable increased by $22.4 million, deferred income tax assets increased by $0.8 million, and a
minority interest liability of $0.8 million was recorded, which is included in other long-term liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet.
 

The effect on diluted EPS would have been less than $0.01 in 2003 and 2002 if FIN 46 had been adopted as of the beginning of 2002.
 

At December 31, 2004, the value of the property and equipment related to the VIE included in the Company’s consolidated balance sheet was $20.5
million, which is net of accumulated depreciation of $2.7 million.
 

Goodwill. In 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” (“SFAS 142”). SFAS 142 eliminates the amortization of
goodwill and certain other intangible assets and requires that reporting unit goodwill be evaluated for impairment by applying a fair value-based test. The
Company adopted the requirements of SFAS 142 as of June 30, 2001, for all acquisitions subsequent to that date, and as of January 1, 2002, for all acquisitions
prior to June 30, 2001.
 

SFAS 142 prescribes the method for determining goodwill impairment. First, a determination of the fair value of the reporting
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unit is made using expected future discounted cash flows. If the net book value of the reporting unit exceeds the fair value, an allocation of the reporting unit’s
fair value to all of its assets and liabilities in a manner similar to purchase price allocation is made, with any residual fair value being allocated to goodwill. The
fair value of the goodwill is then compared to its carrying amount to determine impairment. During 2002, the Company completed its initial fair value-based
impairment tests and in doing so, it determined that goodwill was not impaired; therefore, no transitional impairment charge was recorded. SFAS 142 further
requires that reporting unit goodwill be re-evaluated and tested for impairment at least on an annual basis. Accordingly, during 2004 and 2003, the Company
updated its impairment evaluation and determined that reporting unit goodwill remained unimpaired.
 

A summary of the changes in the net carrying amount of goodwill by reporting segment for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 is as follows:
 

   

Card Svcs

  

Check Svcs

  

Total

 
   (In thousands)  
Balance as of January 1, 2003   $140,644  $ 28,312  $168,956 
Foreign currency translation    17,324   1,347   18,671 
      
Balance as of December 31, 2003    157,968   29,659   187,627 
Acquisitions    21,916   17,408   39,324 
Discontinued operations    (4,005)  —     (4,005)
Foreign currency translation    9,020   975   9,995 
      
Balance as of December 31, 2004   $184,899  $ 48,042  $232,941 
      

 
During 2004, the Company completed acquisitions of Game Financial Corporation (“Game Financial”), Crittson Financial Services LLC (“Crittson”), and

Caribbean CariCard Services, Inc. (“CariCard”) (Note 4). The goodwill allocated to the merchant acquiring portion of the Crittson acquisition was reclassified to
discontinued operations (Note 5).
 

The Company makes certain estimates, assumptions, and projections about its financial performance and its industry that affect the determination of the
expected future cash flows used in the Company’s impairment tests. While the Company believes that its estimates of future cash flows are reasonable, these
estimates are not guarantees of future performance and are subject to risks and uncertainties that may cause actual results to differ from what is assumed in these
impairment tests. Should the Company be unable to achieve certain of its business plans, this could have a future impact on management’s opinion regarding the
valuation of assets, which could result in an impairment.
 

Other Intangible Assets. The Company’s acquired intangible assets subject to amortization at December 31, 2004 and 2003 are as follows:
 

   

December 31, 2004

  

December 31, 2003

 

   

Gross Carrying
Amount

  

Accumulated
Amortization

  

Gross Carrying
Amount

  

Accumulated
Amortization

 
   (In thousands)  
Acquired customer contracts   $ 27,328  $ (5,431) $ 8,143  $ (1,765)
Other    4,853   (1,244)  4,853   (899)
        
   $ 32,181  $ (6,675) $ 12,996  $ (2,664)
        
Net book value   $ 25,506      $ 10,332     

              
 

The Company’s acquired intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The weighted-average amortization
period for acquired customer contracts is six years, while the weighted-average amortization period for other acquired intangible assets, which primarily consist
of data files and customer lists, is 13 years.
 

During 2004, the Company completed the acquisitions of Game Financial, Crittson, and CariCard, resulting in identifiable intangible assets of $20.4
million recorded as part of the purchase price allocation, of which $1.2 million was reclassified to discontinued operations (Note 5). These intangible assets
represent the values assigned to acquired customer contracts and are being amortized on a straight-line basis primarily over seven years. On December 31, 2002,
the Company completed the purchase of Netzee, Inc., a provider of Internet banking products and e-commerce solutions to community banks and credit unions,
resulting in identifiable intangible assets of $7.8 million recorded as part of the purchase price allocation. These intangible assets represent the values assigned to
acquired customer contracts and are being amortized on a straight-line basis primarily over five years (Note 4).
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During 2002, the Company recorded an impairment charge of $4.2 million in other charges in the consolidated statement of income to write-off the
unamortized balance of an acquired customer contract in the Company’s Brazilian card operation, due to the loss of a customer (Note 3). This intangible asset was
recorded in the Company’s Card Services segment.
 

Amortization expense associated with the Company’s acquired intangible assets totaled $4.0 million, $2.0 million, and $0.8 million for the years ended
December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Estimated amortization expense for the Company’s acquired intangible assets for each of the five succeeding
fiscal years is as follows: 2005-$4.6 million; 2006-$4.6 million; 2007-$4.6 million; 2008-$3.0 million; and 2009-$3.0 million.
 

The Company has no intangible assets with indefinite useful lives.
 

Systems Development and Capitalized Contract Costs. The Company develops and purchases computer software that is used internally to provide
processing services to customers or for internal administrative use, and to a lesser extent, software to be sold or licensed to customers. These systems
development costs are capitalized based on Statement of Position 98-1, “Accounting for Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use,”
which requires the capitalization of qualifying internal and external costs incurred in connection with the design, coding, installation, and testing of internal use
software. The Company ceases capitalization at the point at which the project is substantially complete and ready for its intended use. Systems development costs
are amortized on a straight-line basis generally over five to eight years, as determined by their estimated useful lives.
 

Additionally, the Company capitalizes contract acquisition costs related to signing or renewing long-term customer contracts to the extent recoverable
through future operations, contractual minimums, and/or penalties in the case of early termination. These costs, primarily consisting of internal conversion costs
and cash payments for rights to provide processing services, are amortized on a straight-line basis generally over the terms of the customer contracts.
 

Amortization expense for systems development and capitalized contract costs was $24.4 million, $23.2 million, and $23.0 million in 2004, 2003, and 2002,
respectively. As of December 31, 2004 and 2003, accumulated amortization was $116.8 million and $107.7 million, respectively.
 

Other Assets. Other assets, net at December 31, 2004 and 2003 consist of the following:
 

   

2004

  

2003

   (In thousands)
Prepaid pension cost (Note 9)   $16,656  $19,428
Cash surrender value of life insurance policies    13,998   10,816
Deferred income taxes (Note 7)    4,873   6,691
SERP intangible asset (Note 9)    4,742   4,356
Deferred financing costs, net    2,596   3,480
Other    27,555   20,555
     
   $70,420  $65,326
     

 
Other Current Liabilities. The Company’s other current liabilities at December 31, 2004 and 2003 consist of the following:

 

   

2004

  

2003

   (In thousands)
Deferred revenue   $ 8,414  $ 8,833
Accrued interest    2,810   3,179
Other    17,047   17,484
     
   $28,271  $29,496
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Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss. Accumulated other comprehensive loss at December 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002 consists of the following
components:
 

   

2004

  

2003

  

2002

 
   (In thousands)  
Cumulative foreign currency translation adjustment   $(58,645) $(75,107) $(113,398)
Cumulative loss from cash flow hedging activities    (549)  (747)  (1,401)
     
   $(59,194) $(75,854) $(114,799)
     

 
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets. Long-lived assets other than goodwill include property and equipment, other intangible assets, systems development

and capitalized contract costs, and other assets. In accordance with SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets” (“SFAS
144”), the Company regularly evaluates whether events and circumstances have occurred which indicate that the carrying amount of long-lived assets may
warrant revision or may not be recoverable. When factors indicate that long-lived assets should be evaluated for possible impairment, the Company uses an
estimate of the future undiscounted net cash flows of the related business over the remaining life of the asset in measuring whether the carrying amount of the
related asset is recoverable. To the extent these projections indicate that future undiscounted net cash flows are not sufficient to recover the carrying amounts of
the related assets, the underlying assets are written down by charges to expense so that the carrying amount is equal to fair value, primarily determined based on
future discounted cash flows. In the opinion of management, the Company’s long-lived assets are appropriately valued at December 31, 2004 and 2003.
 

The Company makes certain estimates, assumptions, and projections about its financial performance and its industry that affect the determination of the
expected future cash flows used in the Company’s impairment tests. While the Company believes that its estimates of future cash flows are reasonable, these
estimates are not guarantees of future performance and are subject to risks and uncertainties that may cause actual results to differ from what is assumed in these
impairment tests. Should the Company be unable to achieve certain of its business plans, this could have a future impact on management’s opinion regarding the
valuation of assets, which could result in an impairment.
 

Foreign Currency Translation. The Company has foreign subsidiaries whose functional currency is their local currency. Gains and losses on transactions
denominated in currencies other than the functional currencies are included in determining net income for the period in which exchange rates change. The assets
and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries, including long-term intercompany balances, are translated at the year-end rate of exchange, and income statement items are
translated at the average rates prevailing during the year. The resulting translation adjustment is recorded as a component of shareholders’ equity. The effects of
foreign currency gains and losses arising from these translations of assets and liabilities are included as a component of other comprehensive income.
 

Supplemental Cash Flow Information. Supplemental cash flow disclosures for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002 are as follows:
 

   

2004

  

2003

  

2002

   (In thousands)
Income taxes paid, net of amounts refunded   $55,534  $39,163  $46,169
Interest paid   $11,958  $ 4,536  $ 7,186

 
Financial Instruments. The Company considers the carrying amounts of its financial instruments, including cash and cash equivalents, receivables,

accounts payable, and accrued liabilities to approximate their fair market values due to their short maturity. The fair value of the Company’s long-term unsecured
notes was $204.4 million at December 31, 2004, compared to the carrying amount of $199.5 million. The fair value was derived using the discounted value of
future cash flows at rates currently available for notes with similar terms. All other debt instruments at December 31, 2004, approximated their fair values given
the debt arrangements have variable interest rates that reflect current terms and conditions for similar debt. The fair value of the Company’s long-term unsecured
notes was $207.9 million at December 31, 2003, compared to the carrying amount of $199.4 million.
 

SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities” (“SFAS 133”) requires that a company recognize derivatives as assets or
liabilities on its balance sheet, and also requires that the gain or loss related to the effective portion of derivatives designated as cash flow hedges be recorded as a
component of other comprehensive income. The Company has an interest rate swap arrangement that, in effect, fixes the interest rate for a related variable rate
lease obligation (Note 10). This derivative has been designated as a cash flow hedge, was documented as fully effective, and at December 31, 2004 and 2003, was
valued as a liability totaling $1.2 million and $1.5 million, respectively. The notional amount of the debt underlying the swap arrangement at the date of the
transaction was $10.1 million.
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The value of this swap arrangement is included in other current liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets, and the related gains or losses are recorded,
net of income tax effects, as a component of other comprehensive income.
 
Note 3—Other Charges
 It is the Company’s policy to present other charges, such as severance, impairment, or restructuring charges, if significant for a given reporting period, on a
separate line item within operating expenses in the consolidated statements of income. In the normal course of business, it is not unusual for the Company to have
ongoing severance charges that are not significant and therefore, not presented separately in the consolidated statements of income.
 

During 2003, the Company recorded other charges of $12.2 million ($7.7 million after-tax). These charges included $9.6 million of early termination costs
associated with a U.S. data processing contract, $2.7 million of charges related to the downsizing of the Company’s Brazilian card operation, and ($0.1) million of
market value recoveries on the Company’s collateral assignment in life insurance policies (the carrying value of the Company’s collateral assignment is the lesser
of the policies’ cash surrender value or the premiums paid), net of severance charges. These charges were recorded in accordance with SFAS No. 146,
“Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities,” and SFAS 144.
 

Early Termination Costs. In March 2003, the Company entered into a ten-year agreement with IBM to provide data processing services for its U.S.
operations. The Company anticipates that this agreement, which replaces an existing arrangement the Company had with EDS, will provide cost savings and
future operational flexibility to the Company. The Company recorded a charge of $9.6 million in March 2003 for early contract termination costs under the terms
of the existing EDS contract, which included a $6.7 million termination charge and $2.9 million for “wind-down” costs payable to EDS related to the disposal or
redeployment of EDS equipment, the placement of EDS personnel, and the termination of third-party agreements. Approximately $8.8 million of this charge was
recorded in Card Services, while the remaining $0.8 million was recorded in Check Services. The conversion to IBM was completed during the third quarter of
2003 and all charges were paid as of December 31, 2004.
 

Downsizing of Brazilian Card Operation. Due to the loss of a large customer, which discontinued using our card processing services at the beginning of
March 2003, in the Company’s Brazilian card operation, and the continued focus on attaining cost efficiencies, the Company downsized its Brazilian card
operation during the first quarter of 2003. In conjunction with this downsizing, the Company recorded charges of $2.7 million, which included severance charges
of approximately $0.7 million, a $0.2 million charge for third-party contract termination costs, and $1.8 million of asset impairment charges related to equipment
and capitalized software development costs. The impairment resulted from the downsizing of the operation and management’s strategic focus away from certain
development models in order to attain on-going cost efficiencies in its operations. All of the 2003 contract termination costs and severance charges were paid as
of December 31, 2004.
 

During 2002, the Company recorded other charges of $12.2 million ($7.7 million after-tax). These charges included an impairment write-off of $4.2 million
for the remaining intangible asset value assigned to an acquired customer contract in the Company’s Brazilian card operation, due to the loss of a customer (Note
2); a $4.0 million charge for the settlement of a class action lawsuit, net of insurance proceeds; and $4.0 million of severance charges and market value losses on
the Company’s collateral assignment in life insurance policies. All of the 2002 severance and legal settlement charges were paid as of December 31, 2003.
 
Note 4—Acquisitions
 On March 1, 2004, the Company completed the purchases of Game Financial, a provider of debit and credit card cash advances, ATM access, and check
cashing services in gaming institutions, and Crittson, a full service provider of card and merchant processing services. The acquisition of Game Financial helps
position the Company as a leading provider of comprehensive cash access services in the gaming industry and broadens its check risk management product line
and customer base, while the acquisition of Crittson further strengthens the Company’s U.S. market share as the leading third party credit card processor for
community banks and credit unions. On August 6, 2004, the Company completed the acquisition of CariCard, a third-party transaction processor in the
Caribbean. CariCard provides a wide range of products and services to financial institutions, retailers, and the petroleum industry that service markets in 16
countries throughout the Caribbean.
 

These acquisitions had a combined initial cash purchase price of $46.2 million, net of $24.6 million of cash acquired. During 2004, the Company paid net
additional consideration of $0.3 million to the former owners of the businesses acquired resulting from a final determination of net assets acquired. These
payments were recorded as adjustments to goodwill. Additionally, the Company received $1.0 million from the former owner of one of the businesses acquired as
a reduction in purchase price due to the termination of a customer contract subsequent to the acquisition. This payment was recorded as an adjustment to the value
assigned to acquired customer contracts.
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In connection with these acquisitions, the Company recorded acquisition liabilities totaling $7.8 million for early termination costs associated with a data
processing contract of one of the acquired businesses, severance and relocation costs for employees of the acquired businesses, and professional fees. These costs
are reflected as assumed liabilities in the allocation of the purchase price to net assets acquired. As of December 31, 2004, $6.3 million of these costs had been
paid and charged against the liability. The remaining amounts are expected to be paid during 2005.
 

The purchase price allocation, including the purchase price adjustments of $0.3 million and $1.0 million, resulted in identifiable intangible assets of $20.4
million, which are being amortized primarily over seven years. This intangible asset value was assigned to acquired customer contracts. Goodwill recognized in
these acquisitions amounted to $39.3 million, which is expected to be fully deductible for tax purposes. Goodwill was assigned to the Card Services and Check
Services segments in the amounts of $21.9 million and $17.4 million, respectively.
 

In connection with the acquisition of Game Financial, the Company may receive purchase price reductions for certain customers if those customers
terminate their contracts during designated periods subsequent to the acquisition. The maximum amount that could be received by the Company is $8.7 million.
Additionally, in connection with the acquisition of Crittson, the Company may be required to pay certain additional amounts of up to $1.2 million, payable in cash
and to be accounted for under the purchase method, contingent upon the acquired business achieving specified levels of revenue growth during designated periods
subsequent to the acquisition. Any such payments to or by the Company would result in adjustments to goodwill or in the case of customer contract settlements,
to identifiable intangible assets.
 

On December 31, 2002, the Company completed the purchase of Netzee, Inc., a provider of Internet banking products and e-commerce solutions to
community banks and credit unions, for $10.4 million in cash. Approximately $7.8 million of the purchase price was allocated to identifiable intangible assets for
acquired customer contracts, which are being amortized on a straight-line basis primarily over five years.
 

In connection with this acquisition, the Company recorded acquisition liabilities totaling $0.6 million primarily for severance costs for employees of the
acquired businesses and professional fees. These costs were reflected as assumed liabilities in the allocation of the purchase price to net assets acquired. As of
December 31, 2003, all of these costs had been paid and charged against the liability.
 

The above acquisitions were accounted for as purchases and their results of operations have been included in the consolidated statements of income from
the dates of acquisition. The pro forma effects of these acquisitions on the Company’s consolidated financial statements were not material.
 

The following table summarizes the purchase price allocation of the acquisitions, including professional fees and other related acquisition costs, to the
assets and liabilities assumed, based on their estimated fair values:
 

   

2004

  

2002

 
   (In thousands)  
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 24,638  $ —   
Trade accounts receivable, net    1,993   1,167 
Other receivables    9,741   531 
Other current assets    1,429   129 
Property and equipment, net    2,660   1,491 
Goodwill    39,324   —   
Other intangible assets    20,408   7,822 
Other assets    518   2,375 
    

Total assets acquired    100,711   13,515 
    
Accounts payable and other accrued expenses    (13,135)  —   
Other payables    (11,332)  —   
Other current liabilities    (6,049)  (2,413)
Other long-term liabilities    (36)  (669)
    

Total liabilities assumed    (30,552)  (3,082)
    

Net assets acquired   $ 70,159  $10,433 
    

 
Approximately $5.8 million of the Crittson purchase price, which represents merchant acquiring operations, was reclassified
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to discontinued operations (Note 5), including $4.0 million of goodwill and $1.2 million of identifiable intangible assets. Additionally, during 2003, the Company
acquired a merchant portfolio for $4.5 million in cash, which was being amortized on a straight-line basis over seven years. This acquisition was also reclassified
to discontinued operations (Note 5).
 
Note 5—Discontinued Operations
 The Company’s merchant processing operations consist of two businesses: (1) merchant acquiring, where the Company is a direct party to contracts with
merchants regarding its provision of card processing services for the merchant, and the Company is subject to the associated risk that a cardholder billing dispute
will be resolved in favor of the cardholder (referred to as a cardholder “chargeback”), and (2) institution processing, where the Company provides authorization,
settlement, and customer service to community banks and others that contract directly with merchant customers. The Company views merchant acquiring as a
non-strategic business and over the past few years, has operated this business conservatively to reduce exposure to merchant risk, which in the short-term
improved overall profitability but limited growth. In September 2004, the Board of Directors approved a plan to sell the Company’s merchant acquiring business,
at which time, the held for sale criteria in SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,” were met. The Company expects
that the merchant acquiring business will be sold within a year of approving this plan.
 

The Company’s financial statements reflect the merchant acquiring business as a discontinued operation with the related assets and liabilities classified
under the captions “Assets held for sale” and “Liabilities related to assets held for sale” in the consolidated balance sheets. The results of operations are treated as
income from discontinued operations, net of tax, and separately stated in the consolidated statements of income, below income from continuing operations. The
merchant acquiring operations were historically included in the Card Services segment.
 

The Company plans to continue to operate the institution processing business, which it believes is complementary to its card issuing business.
 

Summarized financial information for discontinued operations for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 is as follows:
 

   

2004

  

2003

  

2002

 
   (In thousands)  
Revenues   $107,194  $93,730  $101,177 
Operating expenses    97,665   87,545   96,397 
     
Income before taxes    9,529   6,185   4,780 
Provision for income taxes    (3,595)  (2,288)  (1,854)
     
Income from discontinued operations   $ 5,934  $ 3,897  $ 2,926 
     

 
The assets held for sale and liabilities related to assets held for sale as of December 31, 2004 and 2003 are as follows:

 

   

December 31,
2004

  

December 31,
2003

 
   (In thousands)  
Assets:          

Settlement deposits   $ 1,716  $ 3,510 
Trade accounts receivable, net    6,424   4,873 
Settlement receivables    8,774   5,976 
Other current assets    372   —   
Goodwill, net    4,005   —   
Other intangible assets, net    20,537   21,467 

     
Assets held for sale   $ 41,828  $ 35,826 

     
Liabilities:          

Accounts payable and accrued expenses   $ 1,271  $ 1,363 
Settlement payables    10,490   9,486 
Other current liabilities    —     (360)
Deferred income taxes    5,958   1,047 

     
Liabilities related to assets held for sale   $ 17,719  $ 11,536 
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Summarized cash flow information associated with discontinued operations for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 is as follows:
 

   

2004

  

2003

  

2002

 
   (In thousands)  
Income from discontinued operations   $ 5,934  $ 3,897  $2,926 
Deferred income taxes    4,994   718   1,509 
Changes in assets and liabilities:              

Accounts receivable, net    (968)  (1,063)  (259)
Current liabilities, excluding settlement and claims payable    (200)  296   373 
Other current assets    (8)  —     —   
Other long-term assets    2,327   2,429   2,250 

     
    12,079   6,277   6,799 
     
Capital expenditures    (161)  (208)  —   
Acquisitions (Note 4)    (5,800)  (4,521)  —   
     
    (5,961)  (4,729)  —   
     
Net cash provided by discontinued operations   $ 6,118  $ 1,548  $6,799 
     

 
Note 6—Long-Term Debt
 Long-term debt at December 31, 2004 and 2003 consists of the following:
 

   

2004

  

2003

   (In thousands)
Unsecured notes, 4.75%, due 2008, net of unamortized discount of $0.5 million and $0.6 million in 2004 and 2003,

respectively   $199,543  $199,420
Borrowings under revolving credit facility    48,600   —  
Notes payable, due 2009    22,364   22,364
Capital lease obligations, less current portion    3,461   615
     
   $273,968  $222,399
     

 
Unsecured Notes. In September 2003, the Company completed its offering of $200 million (aggregate principal amount) of unsecured 4.75% fixed-rate

notes due in 2008. The notes rank equally with all of the Company’s existing and future unsecured, unsubordinated indebtedness from time to time outstanding.
The notes were sold at a discount of $0.6 million, which along with related note issuance costs, are amortized on a straight-line basis over the term of the notes.
The Company used the net proceeds from the offering to repay the outstanding indebtedness under its $300 million revolving credit facility and for general
corporate purposes. The notes accrue interest starting on September 10, 2003 at a rate of 4.75% per year, payable semi-annually in arrears on each March 15 and
September 15, beginning on March 15, 2004.
 

Revolving Credit Facilities. On July 6, 2001, the Company entered into an amended and restated revolving credit agreement with a group of commercial
banks. The credit agreement initially provided for an aggregate of $400 million in borrowings, consisting of a $100 million 364-day facility and a three-year $300
million facility. The Company did not renew the $100 million 364-day facility upon its expiration in 2002. In June 2003, the Company signed an extension of the
$300 million multi-year facility, extending that facility through June 2005. The $300 million facility bore interest at an annual rate of LIBOR plus 100 basis
points and contained certain financial covenants related to interest coverage and funded debt to cash flow. Borrowings under this facility were guaranteed by the
Company’s subsidiaries. Borrowings were made on this facility in 2001 to fund a $275 million payment to Equifax in conjunction with the spin-off. It was also
used to meet working capital and acquisition needs through 2003. Outstanding amounts were due upon the expiration date of the facility in June 2005. The
Company had $214.2 million outstanding under this facility at December 31, 2002, which was repaid in 2003 with the proceeds from the issuance of the
Company’s unsecured five-year notes.
 

In September 2003, the Company cancelled its $300 million revolving credit facility and replaced it with a new $200 million revolving credit facility,
which expires in September 2006. The new facility has substantially the same terms as the former facility, except there are no subsidiary guarantees. The new
facility bears interest at an annual rate of LIBOR plus 100 basis points and
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contains certain financial covenants related to interest coverage and funded debt to cash flow. Borrowings on the new facility are available to meet working
capital needs and to fund strategic acquisitions and the periodic repurchases of shares when deemed appropriate. This facility was amended in August 2004 to
reduce certain restrictions on intercompany loans and cash transfers among subsidiaries. Outstanding amounts are due upon the expiration date of the facility in
September 2006. The Company had outstanding borrowings of $48.6 million at December 31, 2004 and no outstanding borrowings at December 31, 2003. This
facility had a weighted average interest rate of 2.57% at December 31, 2004 and 2.58% at December 31, 2003.
 

The Company also has an unsecured revolving credit facility that it uses to finance its customers’ shortfalls in the daily funding requirements associated
with the Company’s credit and debit card settlement operations (Note 2). In June 2003, the Company lowered the borrowing amount from $130 million to $100
million. This facility has a term of 364 days and is renewed annually. Outstanding borrowings on this credit facility are classified as part of the Company’s
settlement payables in the consolidated balance sheets. There were no amounts outstanding under this facility at December 31, 2004 or 2003.
 

Notes Payable. As described in Note 2, the Company consolidated its St. Petersburg, Florida synthetic lease on December 31, 2003, in accordance with
certain provisions of FIN 46. As a component of this consolidation, the Company recorded long-term notes payable of $22.4 million, which are due at the
expiration of the synthetic lease in September 2009. These notes currently bear interest at an annual rate of LIBOR plus 90 basis points and had a weighted
average interest rate of 2.25% at December 31, 2004 and 1.76% at December 31, 2003.
 

Capital Lease Obligations. In 2004, the Company entered into capital leases for data processing equipment over a five-year term. In July 2003, the
Company entered into a capital lease agreement to lease various types of computer equipment under a pre-arranged pricing schedule with a four-year lease term.
Assets leased under these agreements totaled $6.2 million and $0.6 million at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
 

Future maturities of capital lease obligations, including current portion, as of December 31, 2004 are as follows (in thousands):
 

2005   $1,436 
2006    1,436 
2007    1,389 
2008    774 
2009    79 
   
    5,114 
Less amounts representing interest    (399)
   
Present value of minimum lease payments   $4,715 
   

 
Note 7—Income Taxes
 The Company files a consolidated U.S. federal income tax return with its domestic subsidiaries. Foreign subsidiaries file separate income tax returns based
on each subsidiary’s operations. Where available, the Company does use foreign group relief provisions to reduce taxes payable within the same country tax
group.
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The provision for income taxes from continuing operations before cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle consists of the following:
 

   

2004

  

2003

  

2002

 
   (In thousands)  
Current:              

Federal   $51,940  $29,153  $37,283 
State    6,141   3,755   3,896 
Foreign    7,492   5,513   7,882 

     
    65,573   38,421   49,061 
     
Deferred:              

Federal    (4,169)  15,519   4,386 
State    (769)  1,009   904 
Foreign    1,436   (2,185)  (241)

     
    (3,502)  14,343   5,049 
     
   $62,071  $52,764  $54,110 
     

 
The provision for income taxes is based on pre-tax income from continuing operations as follows:

 

   

2004

  

2003

  

2002

   (In thousands)
United States   $152,998  $144,585  $124,351
Foreign    14,949   (1,981)  16,817
      
   $167,947  $142,604  $141,168
      

 
The provision for income taxes from continuing operations before cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle is reconciled with the U.S. federal

statutory rate as follows:
 

   

2004

  

2003

  

2002

 
   (In thousands)  
Provision calculated at federal statutory rate   $58,781  35.0% $49,911  35.0% $49,409  35.0%
State and local taxes, net of federal benefit    3,492  2.1   3,755  2.6   3,121  2.2 
Foreign tax on U.S. income    982  0.6   367  0.3   3,849  2.7 
Foreign tax credit, current and deferred    —    —     —    —     (2,418) (1.7)
Unremitted earnings of foreign subsidiaries    (1,096) (0.7)   (528) (0.4)   (504) (0.4)
Research credits    —    —     (308) (0.2)   —    —   
Other    (88) —     (433) (0.3)   653  0.5 
        
   $62,071  37.0% $52,764  37.0% $54,110  38.3%
        

 
During 2002, the Company determined that its investments in certain foreign subsidiaries are permanently invested and will not be repatriated to the U.S. in

the foreseeable future. Future U.S. tax consequences on the undistributed earnings of these subsidiaries are no longer considered in the tax provision calculation
in accordance with APB Opinion No. 23. At December 31, 2004, there are approximately $41.7 million of undistributed net earnings for which no additional U.S.
tax has been provided.
 

During 2004, the U.S. enacted legislation that would permit companies with undistributed foreign earnings to repatriate those earnings in either 2004 or
2005 at a preferential rate of approximately 5.25%. To qualify for the preferential rate, the cash dividend must be extraordinary (i.e. greater than the average
foreign dividends paid over a test period), cannot be used to fund loans back to controlled foreign subsidiaries, and must be invested in the U.S. pursuant to a
domestic reinvestment plan that is approved by the Company’s chief executive officer and its Board of Directors, management committee or similar body.
 

Management has determined that the level of cash held by its controlled foreign subsidiaries is required for operations outside of the U.S. As such, the
Company did not make qualifying distributions during 2004, and does currently not intend to make qualifying distributions during 2005. Any change in
circumstance that indicates cash in foreign operations is no longer needed for those operations and cannot be redeployed in other foreign operations will be
evaluated at the time the circumstance arises.
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The Company records deferred income taxes using enacted tax laws and rates for the years in which the Company expects to pay the taxes. Deferred
income tax assets and liabilities are recorded based on the differences between the financial reporting and income tax bases of assets and liabilities. Management
evaluates the ultimate recoverability of deferred tax assets and records a valuation allowance for any portion of an asset for which ultimate realization is not
probable.
 

Components of the Company’s deferred income tax assets and liabilities related to continuing operations at December 31, 2004 and 2003 are as follows
(certain prior period amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current period presentation):
 

   

2004

  

2003

 
   (In thousands)  
Deferred income tax assets:          

Reserves and accrued expenses   $ 5,477  $ 5,309 
Net operating loss and foreign tax credit carryovers    15,458   7,878 
Depreciation    9   1,551 
Employee compensation and benefit plans    564   —   
Deferred income    1,171   992 
Other    3,715   3,471 

    
    26,394   19,201 
    
Deferred income tax liabilities:          

Intangibles and other assets    (40,646)  (33,671)
Employee compensation and benefit plans    —     (2,311)
Claims recoverable and payable, net    (2,284)  (5,215)
Undistributed earnings of certain foreign subsidiaries    —     (1,271)
Other    (4,142)  (6,447)

    
    (47,072)  (48,915)
    
Valuation allowances    (10,976)  (5,742)
    

Net deferred income tax liability   $(31,654) $(35,456)
    
Current deferred tax asset (included in other current assets)   $ 3,768  $ 2,242 
Long-term deferred tax asset (included in other assets)    4,873   6,691 
Current deferred tax liability (included in income taxes payable)    —     (313)
Long-term deferred tax liability    (40,295)  (44,076)
    
   $(31,654) $(35,456)
    

 
A significant portion of the Company’s deferred tax assets relate to net operating loss carryovers in countries outside the U.S. The Company considers the

need for a valuation allowance on a country-by-country basis taking into account the effects of local tax law. Management believes that there is sufficient
evidence to support its conclusion not to record a valuation allowance for deferred tax assets, other than for the U.S. foreign tax credit carryover and all Brazilian
deferred tax assets. Many factors are considered in this determination, including the fact that the losses were generated primarily by accelerated tax deductions for
software, those operations with significant net operating losses all have current year taxable income before net operating loss utilization, and the significant net
operating losses have an indefinite life.
 

Brazilian deferred tax assets are fully reserved, as those operations are not currently projected to generate a level of taxable income that makes realization
of these assets probable. The Company is currently able to utilize Brazilian losses in its U.S. income tax return so an increase in the valuation reserve for
Brazilian deferred tax does not increase overall income tax expense. However, utilization of the losses in the U.S. return makes realization of the U.S. foreign tax
credit carryover highly unlikely, requiring that it also be fully reserved.
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The deferred tax assets for net operating loss and foreign tax credit carryovers, net of valuation allowances, as of December 31, 2004 and 2003 consist of
the following:
 

   

2004

  

2003

 
   (In thousands)  
Net operating loss for Card Services U.K. (no expiration date)   $ 67  $ 2,396 
Net operating loss for Card Services Australia (no expiration date)    4,743   24 
Net operating loss for Card Services Brazil (no expiration date)    10,438   5,254 
Net operating loss for Check Services Canada    —     13 
Net operating loss for Card Services Thailand (expires 2009)    21   —   
Net operating loss for Card Services Chile (no expiration date)    10   7 
Contributions carryover    —     5 
U.S. foreign tax credit carryover at Certegy Inc. (expires 2006)    179   179 
    

Net operating loss and foreign tax credit carryovers    15,458   7,878 
Valuation allowance for Card Services Brazil    (10,438)  (5,254)
Valuation allowance for Certegy Inc.    (179)  (179)
    
   $ 4,841  $ 2,445 
    

 
In addition to the valuation allowances related to net operating loss and foreign tax credit carryovers, the Company has valuation allowances of $0.4

million and $0.3 million at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively, related to reserves and accrued expenses. The change in valuation allowances during 2004
is summarized as follows (in thousands):
 

Valuation allowances at December 31, 2003   $ 5,742
Current year change in valuation allowance for Brazil net operating loss    4,700
Current year change in valuation allowance for other Brazil deferred tax assets    22
Foreign currency translation on Brazil valuation allowance    512
   
Valuation allowances at December 31, 2004   $10,976
   

 
Note 8—Shareholders’ Equity
 Treasury Stock. During 2004, 2003, and 2002, the Company repurchased 2.7 million, 1.7 million, and 3.4 million shares of its common stock through
open market transactions at an aggregate cost of $96.5 million, $49.6 million, and $79.6 million, respectively. Additionally, during 2003, the Company
repurchased 0.9 million shares through a private transaction at an aggregate cost of $24.0 million. In May 2004, the Board of Directors of the Company approved
a $100 million share repurchase program, which replaced the prior authority. As of December 31, 2004, the Company had $43.3 million remaining under this
program for future share repurchases. During 2004, 2003, and 2002, the Company reissued approximately 0.7 million, 0.5 million, and 0.3 million treasury
shares, respectively, in connection with employee stock option exercises and restricted stock awards, net of cancellations.
 

Rights Plan. In June 2001, the Company’s Board of Directors adopted a Shareholder Rights Plan (the “Rights Plan”). The Rights Plan contains provisions
to protect the Company’s shareholders in the event of an unsolicited offer to acquire the Company, including offers that do not treat all shareholders equally, the
acquisition in the open market of shares constituting control without offering fair value to all shareholders, and other coercive, unfair or inadequate takeover bids
and practices that could impair the ability of the Board of Directors to represent shareholders’ interests fully. Pursuant to the Rights Plan, the Board of Directors
declared a dividend of one Share Purchase Right (a “Right”) for each outstanding share of the Company’s common stock, with distribution to be made to
shareholders of record as of July 6, 2001. The Rights, which will expire on July 6, 2011, initially will be represented by, and traded together with, the Company’s
common stock. The Rights are not currently exercisable and do not become exercisable unless certain triggering events occur. Among the triggering events is the
acquisition of 20 percent or more of the Company’s common stock by a person or group of affiliated or associated persons. Unless previously redeemed, upon the
occurrence of one of the specified triggering events, each Right that is not held by the 20 percent or more shareholder will entitle its holder to purchase one share
of common stock or, under certain circumstances, additional shares of common stock at a discounted price.
 

Stock Options. In June 2001, the Company’s Board of Directors adopted the Certegy Inc. Stock Incentive Plan (the “Employee Stock Plan”), pursuant to
which 6.6 million shares of authorized but unissued common stock were reserved. Under the provisions of the Employee Stock Plan, the number of shares
available for grant is increased each January through 2008 based on the number of common shares issued and outstanding. The Employee Stock Plan provides
that qualified and nonqualified stock options may be granted to officers and employees at exercise prices not less than market value on the date of grant. Options
generally vest over a three or four-year period and are exercisable for seven to ten years from the date of grant. Additionally, the Company adopted the Certegy
Inc. Non-Employee
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Director Stock Option Plan (the “Director Stock Plan”), pursuant to which 200,000 shares of stock are available for grant to non-employee directors in the form
of stock options. At December 31, 2004, there were approximately 1.2 million and 164,000 shares available for future option grants and restricted stock awards
under the Employee Stock Plan and the Director Stock Plan, respectively. The following is a summary of the stock option activity during 2004, 2003, and 2002:
 

   

Options

  

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price

   (Options in thousands)
Balance, January 1, 2002   3,599  $ 22.47

Granted (at market price)   1,547   33.38
Cancelled   (74)  25.36
Exercised   (703)  22.68

    
Balance, December 31, 2002   4,369  $ 26.26

Granted (at market price)   639   25.58
Cancelled   (196)  29.99
Exercised   (304)  18.89

    
Balance, December 31, 2003   4,508  $ 26.49

Granted (at market price)   767   33.77
Cancelled   (87)  30.81
Exercised   (580)  20.75

    
Balance, December 31, 2004   4,608  $ 28.34
    
Exercisable at December 31, 2004   3,312  $ 27.35
    

 
The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at December 31, 2004 (options in thousands):

 

   

Options Outstanding

  

Options Exercisable

Range of Exercise Prices

  

Options

  

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Contractual
Life in Years

  

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price

  

Options

  

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price

$10.20-$18.97   605  5.17  $ 17.90  525  $ 17.74
$19.94-$23.72   744  5.25  $ 22.11  741  $ 22.10
$24.54-$26.68   580  7.05  $ 25.25  271  $ 25.59
$26.92-$30.09   667  6.15  $ 29.00  598  $ 29.00
$30.40-$33.84   523  6.15  $ 32.48  256  $ 32.37
$34.96   1,141  7.12  $ 34.96  840  $ 34.96
$35.09-$42.75   328  6.36  $ 35.32  66  $ 35.17
$43.50   20  2.38  $ 43.50  15  $ 43.50
           
   4,608  6.23  $ 28.34  3,312  $ 27.35
           

 
The weighted-average grant-date fair value per share of options granted in 2004, 2003, and 2002 under the Employee Stock Plan and the Director Stock

Plan is as follows:
 

   

2004

  

2003

  

2002

Employee Stock Plan   $13.31  $9.07  $12.62
Director Stock Plan    N/A  $8.90  $15.24
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The fair value of options granted in 2004, 2003, and 2002 is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes-Merton option-pricing model based on
the following weighted average assumptions:
 

   

2004

  

2003

  

2002

 
Dividend yield   0.6% 0.6% 0.0%
Expected volatility   39.8% 40.0% 40.0%
Risk-free interest rate   3.6% 3.1% 3.1%
Expected life in years   4.8  4.8  4.7 

 
Pro Forma Information. In accordance with the provisions of SFAS 123, the Company has elected to apply APB Opinion No. 25 and related

interpretations in accounting for its stock option plans. Accordingly, the Company does not recognize compensation cost in connection with its stock option plans.
If the Company had elected to recognize compensation cost for these plans based on the fair value at the grant dates as prescribed by SFAS 123, net income and
earnings per share would have been reduced to the following pro forma amounts:
 

   

2004

  

2003

  

2002

   
(In thousands, except
per share amounts)

Net income:             
As reported   $ 111,810  $92,402  $89,984
Pro forma   $103,612  $84,706  $79,640

Earnings per share (basic):             
As reported   $ 1.78  $ 1.42  $ 1.32
Pro forma   $ 1.65  $ 1.30  $ 1.17

Earnings per share (diluted):             
As reported   $ 1.75  $ 1.40  $ 1.30
Pro forma   $ 1.62  $ 1.29  $ 1.15

 
Long-Term Incentive Plan and Restricted Stock Awards. In June 2001, the Company’s Board of Directors adopted the Certegy Inc. Key Management

Long-Term Incentive Plan for officers and other key employees. This plan, in conjunction with the Employee Stock Plan, provides for cash and restricted stock
awards. Cash awards are recorded as a liability based on the estimated cash payout under the award, while restricted stock grants are recorded as deferred
compensation, a reduction of shareholders’ equity, based on the quoted fair market value of the Company’s stock on the date of grant. Compensation expense
associated with these awards can fluctuate each year in the case of performance-based awards, based on the likelihood that the performance criteria will be met.
During 2004, 2003, and 2002, the Company granted 147,128 shares, 209,877 shares, and 287,000 shares of restricted stock to officers and key employees under
the Employee Stock Plan. The weighted-average grant-date fair value per share of restricted stock granted in 2004, 2003, and 2002 is $32.88, $26.82, and $33.57,
respectively. The shares become fully vested at the end of vesting periods, which range from 12 to 72 months. During 2004 and 2002, there were 18,125 and
22,800 restricted shares cancelled due to employee terminations. No restricted shares were cancelled in 2003. Compensation expense for these plans was $4.8
million in 2004, $4.6 million in 2003, and $4.5 million in 2002.
 

Restricted Stock Units. In July 2004, 13,475 restricted stock units were awarded to the Company’s Board of Directors. The restricted stock units vest one
year from the grant date, at which time common stock will be issued unless the Board member elects to defer delivery of the stock. Compensation expense is
recognized over the vesting period based on the quoted fair market value of the Company’s stock on the date of grant. The weighted-average grant-date fair value
per restricted stock unit granted is $37.80. Compensation expense recognized for these restricted stock units in 2004 was $0.3 million.
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Dividends. The Company began declaring cash dividends to common shareholders in the third quarter of 2003. Dividends declared during 2004 and 2003
are as follows:
 

   

Dividend
Per Share

  

Total
Dividend

      (in millions)
2004         
First Quarter   $ 0.05  $ 3.2
Second Quarter   $ 0.05  $ 3.2
Third Quarter   $ 0.05  $ 3.1
Fourth Quarter   $ 0.05  $ 3.1

2003         
First Quarter   $ —    $ —  
Second Quarter   $ —    $ —  
Third Quarter   $ 0.05  $ 3.2
Fourth Quarter   $ 0.05  $ 3.2

 
Note 9—Employee Benefits
 In December 2003, the Company adopted SFAS No. 132 (revised 2003), “Employers’ Disclosures about Pensions and Other Postretirement Benefits.” This
statement revised employers’ disclosures about pension and other postretirement benefit plans. It did not change the measurement or recognition of these plans.
 

The Company uses a measurement date of December 31 for the majority of its retirement and postretirement benefit plans.
 

Retirement Plan. The Company maintains a non-contributory qualified retirement plan covering most U.S. salaried employees (the U.S. Retirement
Income Plan, or “USRIP”). Benefits are primarily a function of salary and years of service.
 

A reconciliation of the changes in the fair value of plan assets of the USRIP for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 is as follows:
 

   

2004

  

2003

 
   (In thousands)  
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year   $48,495  $39,137 
Actual return on plan assets    4,730   9,600 
Benefits paid    (575)  (242)
    
Fair value of plan assets at end of year   $52,650  $48,495 
    

 
Benefits paid in the above table include only those amounts paid directly from plan assets.

 
The asset allocation for the USRIP at the end of 2004 and 2003 and the target allocation for 2005, by asset category, are as follows:

 

   

Target
Allocation

  

Percentage of Plan
Assets at

Measurement Date

 

   

2005

  

2004

  

2003

 
Asset Category:           

Equity securities   70% 72%  71%
Debt securities   30% 28%  29%

     
Total   100% 100%  100%

     
 

The Company’s pension plan assets are invested in a manner consistent with the fiduciary standards of the “Employment Retirement Income Security Act”
(“ERISA”). Plan investments are made with the safeguards and diversity to which a prudent investor would adhere and all transactions undertaken are for the sole
benefit of plan participants and their beneficiaries.
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The Company’s investment objective is to obtain the highest possible return commensurate with the level of assumed risk. Fund performances are
compared to benchmarks including the S&P 500 Stock Index, S&P 400 Stock Index, Russell Midcap Value Index, Russell 2000 Index, MSCI EAFE, Lehman
Brothers Aggregate Bond Index, and ML 3 Month T-Bill Index. The Company’s Investment Committee meets on a quarterly basis to review plan investments.
 

Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan. In November 2003, the Company established a supplemental executive retirement plan (“SERP”) for certain
key officers. The plan, which is unfunded, provides supplemental retirement payments based on salary and years of service. In connection with the establishment
of this plan, the Company recorded a $4.4 million intangible asset and additional minimum liability, representing the unfunded accumulated benefit obligation at
inception of the plan. The intangible asset and additional minimum liability was $4.7 million at December 31, 2004. The SERP has an accumulated benefit
obligation in excess of plan assets. The aggregate projected benefit obligation and accumulated benefit obligation are $7.4 million and $5.9 million, respectively,
as of December 31, 2004. The plan is unfunded and therefore, has no plan assets.
 

Postretirement Benefit Plan. The Company maintains certain healthcare and life insurance benefit plans for eligible retired employees. Substantially all of
the Company’s U.S. employees may become eligible for these benefits if they reach retirement age while working for the Company and satisfy certain years of
service requirements. Employees hired or rehired after December 31, 1998 have access to the plan’s healthcare benefits but are required to pay the premiums. The
cost of providing these benefits is recognized over the active service period of the employees.
 

On December 8, 2003, the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 (“the Act”) was enacted. The Act introduced both a
Medicare prescription drug benefit and a federal subsidy to sponsors of retiree healthcare plans. In January 2004, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position No. 106-1
(“FSP 106-1”), “Accounting and Disclosure Requirements Related to the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003.” This
statement permitted a sponsor of a postretirement benefit plan that provides a prescription drug benefit to make a one-time election to defer recognizing the
effects of the Act until authoritative guidance on accounting for the federal subsidy was issued or until certain other events occurred.
 

In May 2004, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position No. 106-2 (“FSP 106-2”), “Accounting and Disclosure Requirements Related to the Medicare
Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003,” which superseded FSP 106-1. FSP 106-2, which became effective in the third quarter of 2004,
provides guidance on accounting for the effects of the Act and requires certain disclosures regarding the effect of the federal subsidy provided by the Act. To
qualify for the subsidy, plan sponsors of Medicare-eligible retirees must provide prescription drug benefits, which are at least as valuable as the benefits that those
retirees would be entitled to under Medicare Part D. The Company maintains a postretirement benefit plan, which provides a prescription drug benefit. At this
time, the Company does not expect to be eligible to receive federal subsidies, but a final determination has not yet been made. The Company is awaiting final
guidance from the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services to make this determination. The Company does not believe that the Act will have a material
impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
 

A reconciliation of the changes in the benefit obligations for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 is as follows:
 

   

Retirement Plans

  

Postretirement Benefit Plan

   

2004

  

2003

  

2004

  

2003

   (In thousands)
Benefit obligations at beginning of year   $47,022  $32,108  $ 1,640  $ 1,315
SERP benefit obligation at inception    —     5,849   —     —  
Service cost    3,753   3,191   214   184
Interest cost    3,257   2,431   122   92
Plan amendments    —     248   —     —  
Actuarial loss    6,099   3,437   666   49
Benefits paid    (575)  (242)  (12)   —  
      
Benefit obligations at end of year   $59,556  $47,022  $ 2,630  $ 1,640
      
Accumulated benefit obligations at end of year   $51,128  $39,490  $ 2,630  $ 1,640
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The weighted-average assumptions used to determine benefit obligations at December 31, 2004 and 2003 are as follows:
 

   

Retirement Plans

    

   

USRIP

  

SERP

  

Postretirement
Benefit Plan

 

   

2004

  

2003

  

2004

  

2003

  

2004

  

2003

 
Discount rate   6.30% 6.75% 5.25% 6.75% 5.85% 6.75%
Rate of compensation increase   4.00% 4.25% 5.00% 5.00% N/A  N/A 

 
A reconciliation of the changes in the funded status for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 is as follows:

 

   

Retirement Plans

  

Postretirement Benefit Plan

 

   

2004

  

2003

  

2004

  

2003

 
   (In thousands)  
Funded status   $ (6,906) $ 1,473  $ (2,630)  $ (1,640)
Unrecognized actuarial loss (gain)    16,966   11,838   (317)   (1,048)
Unrecognized prior service cost (benefit)    5,439   5,953   (194)   (313)
       
Net amount recognized   $15,499  $19,264  $ (3,141)  $ (3,001)
       

 
Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheets at December 31, 2004 and 2003 are as follows:

 

   

Retirement Plans

  

Postretirement Benefit Plan

 

   

2004

  

2003

  

2004

  

2003

 
   (In thousands)  
Prepaid pension cost (Note 2)   $16,656  $19,428  $ —    $ —   
Accrued benefit cost    (5,899)  (4,520)  (3,141)   (3,001)
Intangible asset (Note 2)    4,742   4,356   —     —   
      
Net amount recognized   $15,499  $19,264  $ (3,141)  $ (3,001)
      

 
Accrued benefit costs for the SERP and postretirement benefit plans are included in other long-term liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets.

 
Net periodic benefit cost for the plans includes the following components for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002:

 

   

Retirement Plans

  

Postretirement Benefit Plan

 

   

2004

  

2003

  

2002

  

2004

  

2003

  

2002

 
   (In thousands)  
Service cost   $ 3,753  $ 3,191  $ 2,595  $ 214  $ 184  $ 336 
Interest cost    3,257   2,431   1,855   122   92   144 
Expected return on plan assets    (4,424)  (4,316)  (4,271)  —     —     —   
Recognized actuarial loss    665   —     —     —     —     —   
Amortization of net gain    —     —     —     (56)  (80)  —   
Amortization of prior service cost (benefit)    514   108   18   (128)  (170)  (215)
        
Net periodic benefit cost   $ 3,765  $ 1,414  $ 197  $ 152  $ 26  $ 265 
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The weighted-average assumptions used to determine periodic benefit cost for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002 are as follows:
 

   

USRIP

  

SERP

  

Postretirement Benefit Plan

 

   

2004

  

2003

  

2002

  

2004

  

2003

  

2002

  

2004

  

2003

  

2002

 
Discount rate   6.75% 7.00% 7.50% 6.75% 6.75% N/A  6.75%  7.00%  7.50%
Expected long-term return on plan assets   8.50% 8.50% 8.50% N/A  N/A  N/A  N/A  N/A  N/A 
Rate of compensation increase   4.25% 4.25% 4.25% 5.00% 5.00% N/A  N/A  N/A  N/A 

 
For measurement purposes, a 10 percent annual rate of increase in the per capita cost of covered health care benefits was assumed for 2005. The rate was

assumed to decrease gradually to 5 percent for 2010 and remain at that level thereafter. A one-percentage-point change in assumed health care cost trend rates
would have had an immaterial effect on the amounts reported for the postretirement benefit plan.
 

The expected long-term rate of return on plan assets was made considering the USRIP’s asset mix, historical returns on equity securities, and expected
yields to maturity for debt securities.
 

For calculating retirement plan expense, a market-related value of assets is used. The market-related value of assets recognizes the difference between
actual returns and expected returns over five years at a rate of 20% per year.
 

While the asset return and interest rate environment have negatively impacted the funded status of the USRIP, the Company does not currently have
minimum funding requirements, as set forth in ERISA and federal tax laws. The Company did not contribute to the USRIP in 2004 and does not anticipate
contributing to the USRIP in 2005.
 

Information about the expected future employer contributions and benefit payments for the USRIP, the SERP, and the Postretirement Benefit Plan is as
follow (in thousands):
 

   

Retirement
Plans

  

Postretirement
Benefit Plan

Employer Contributions:         
2005 (expected)   $ —    $ 28

Expected Benefit Payments         
2005   $ 613  $ 28
2006    824   38
2007    1,120   68
2008    1,422   107
2009    1,704   164
2010-2014    25,770   1,833

 
Foreign Retirement Plans. The Company also maintains various defined contribution plans for certain employees in its international locations. Expenses

for these plans for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002 were not material.
 

Employee Retirement Savings Plan. The Company’s retirement savings plan provides for annual contributions, within specified ranges, determined at the
discretion of the Board of Directors for the benefit of eligible employees in the form of Certegy common stock. Employees may sell their Certegy stock,
including shares contributed as the Company match, at any time. The Company’s expense for this plan was $1.7 million in 2004, $1.5 million in 2003, and $1.4
million in 2002.
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Note 10—Commitments and Contingencies
 Operating Leases. The Company’s operating leases principally involve office space and office equipment. Rental expense relating to these leases was
$11.3 million in 2004, $11.1 million in 2003, and $9.4 million in 2002.
 

Future minimum payment obligations for noncancelable operating leases exceeding one year are as follows as of December 31, 2004 (in thousands):
 

2005   $11,134
2006    9,411
2007    7,542
2008    5,805
2009    3,534
Thereafter    9,160
   
   $46,586
   

 
Data Processing Services Agreements. The Company has agreements with IBM and Proceda, which expire between 2007 and 2014, for portions of its

computer data processing operations and related functions. The Company’s estimated aggregate contractual obligation remaining under these agreements is
approximately $254.6 million as of December 31, 2004. However, this amount could be more or less depending on various factors such as the inflation rate, the
introduction of significant new technologies, or changes in the Company’s data processing needs as a result of acquisitions or divestitures. Under certain
circumstances, such as a change in control of the Company or for the Company’s convenience, the Company may terminate these agreements. However, the
agreements provide that the Company must pay a termination charge in the event of such a termination.
 

Synthetic Leases. The adoption of FIN 45 on January 1, 2003 as it relates to the residual value guarantees under the Company’s synthetic lease agreements
did not have a material impact on the Company’s financial results.
 

As discussed in Notes 2 and 6, the Company is the tenant of certain real property located in St. Petersburg, Florida. The aggregate value of the building and
land at that site when the Company entered into this arrangement was $23.2 million. Subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions, the Company has the option
to acquire this leased property at its original cost, or to direct the sale of this facility to a third party. The Company has provided a guarantee to the lessor that the
proceeds from a sale of the facility to a third party will equal or exceed a certain percentage of the original fair market value of the leased property. The
Company’s maximum exposure under this guarantee is approximately $18.1 million.
 

Effective December 31, 2003, the Company began consolidating this lease arrangement into its consolidated financial statements in accordance with certain
provisions of FIN 46.
 

The Company also has a synthetic lease arrangement with respect to its facilities in Madison, Wisconsin, which expires in 2009. This agreement was
amended in September 2004 to conform certain definitions to the Company’s revolving credit facility agreement, which was amended in August 2004. The
aggregate value of the building and land at that site when the Company entered into this arrangement was $10.1 million. Subject to the satisfaction of certain
conditions, the Company has the option to acquire this leased property at its original cost, or to direct the sale of this facility to a third party. The Company has
provided a guarantee to the lessor that the proceeds from a sale of the facility to a third party will equal or exceed a certain percentage of the original fair market
value of the leased property. The Company’s maximum exposure under this guarantee is approximately $8.1 million.
 

Based on the current fair market values of the leased properties, the Company does not expect to be required to make payments under these residual value
guarantees.
 

The Company has entered into an interest rate swap arrangement to fix the variable interest rate on the Madison, Wisconsin lease obligation (Note 2).
 

Change in Control Agreements. The Company has agreements with certain of its officers, which provide certain severance pay and benefits in the event
of a termination of the officer’s employment under certain circumstances following a “change in control” of the Company. “Change in control” is defined as the
accumulation by any person, entity, or group of 20 percent or more of the combined voting power of the Company’s voting stock or the occurrence of certain
other specified events. In the event of a “change in control,” vesting periods and payouts under the Stock Incentive Plan and the Long-Term Incentive Plan are
accelerated.
 

Litigation. A number of lawsuits seeking damages are brought against the Company each year in the ordinary course of business. In the opinion of
management, the ultimate resolution of these matters, individually or in the aggregate, will not have a materially adverse effect on the Company’s financial
position, liquidity, or results of operations.
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The Company provides for estimated legal fees and settlements relating to pending lawsuits. On October 22, 2004, a complaint for patent infringement was
filed in the matter of USA Payments, Inc. and Global Cash Access, Inc. v. U.S. Bancorp dba U.S. Bank, et al., Case No. CV-S-04-1470-JCM PAL, U.S. District
Court, District of Nevada. The complaint named Certegy Inc. and three of its subsidiaries, Certegy Check Services, Inc., Game Financial Corporation, and
GameCash, Inc. as defendants. The plaintiffs are seeking injunctive relief, an unspecified amount of damages (but no less than an unspecified reasonable royalty),
a trebling of damages, together with pre-judgment interest, and attorneys’ fees. Discovery has recently commenced and no trial date has been set. Management
believes it has meritorious defenses and is defending the matter vigorously.
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Note 11—Quarterly Consolidated Financial Information (Unaudited)
 Quarterly revenues and operating income by reportable segment (Note 12) and other summarized quarterly financial data for 2004 and 2003 are as follows
(in thousands, except per share amounts):
 

   

First

  

Second

  

Third

  

Fourth

 
2004                  
Revenues:                  

Card Services   $138,654  $144,928  $149,542  $157,258 
Check Services    100,686   110,736   113,118   124,584 

      
   $239,340  $255,664  $262,660  $281,842 
      
Operating income:                  

Card Services   $ 30,364  $ 33,620  $ 36,684  $ 39,858 
Check Services    8,767   12,191   15,474   24,604 

      
    39,131   45,811   52,158   64,462 

General corporate expense    (5,604)  (5,599)  (5,105)  (5,600)
      
   $ 33,527  $ 40,212  $ 47,053  $ 58,862 
      
Income from continuing operations   $ 19,386  $ 23,401  $ 27,775  $ 35,314 
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax (Note 5)    1,272   1,536   1,325   1,801 
      
Net income   $ 20,658  $ 24,937  $ 29,100  $ 37,115 
      
Basic earnings per share:                  

Income from continuing operations   $ 0.30  $ 0.37  $ 0.44  $ 0.57 
Income from discontinued operations    0.02   0.02   0.02   0.03 

      
Net income   $ 0.32  $ 0.40  $ 0.46  $ 0.60 

      
Diluted earnings per share:                  

Income from continuing operations   $ 0.30  $ 0.36  $ 0.44  $ 0.56 
Income from discontinued operations    0.02   0.02   0.02   0.03 

      
Net income   $ 0.32  $ 0.39  $ 0.46  $ 0.59 

      
Dividends declared per common share   $ 0.05  $ 0.05  $ 0.05  $ 0.05 
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First (1)

  

Second (1)

  

Third

  

Fourth

 
2003                  
Revenues:                  

Card Services   $134,831  $136,096  $140,209  $139,597 
Check Services    82,993   87,076   91,743   109,189 

      
   $217,824  $223,172  $231,952  $248,786 
      
Operating income:                  

Card Services   $ 19,037  $ 30,307  $ 34,893  $ 37,938 
Check Services    5,974   8,999   11,852   17,736 

      
    25,011   39,306   46,745   55,674 

General corporate expense    (4,976)  (3,464)  (4,959)  (5,122)
      
   $ 20,035  $ 35,842  $ 41,786  $ 50,552 
      
Income from continuing operations before cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle   $ 11,614  $ 21,989  $ 25,235  $ 31,002 
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax (Note 5)    578   979   1,090   1,250 
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle, net of tax (Note 2)    —     —     —     (1,335)
      
Net income   $ 12,192  $ 22,968  $ 26,325  $ 30,917 
      
Basic earnings per share:                  

Income from continuing operations before cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle   $ 0.18  $ 0.34  $ 0.39  $ 0.48 
Income from discontinued operations    0.01   0.01   0.02   0.02 
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle    —     —     —     (0.02)

      
Net income   $ 0.19  $ 0.35  $ 0.40  $ 0.48 

      
Diluted earnings per share:                  

Income from continuing operations before cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle   $ 0.18  $ 0.33  $ 0.38  $ 0.48 
Income from discontinued operations    0.01   0.01   0.02   0.02 
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle    —     —     —     (0.02)

      
Net income   $ 0.18  $ 0.35  $ 0.40  $ 0.48 

      
Dividends declared per common share   $ —    $ —    $ 0.05  $ 0.05 
      

(1) The first quarter and second quarter of 2003 include other charges of $12.6 million and $(0.4) million, respectively. See Note 3 for further information on
these charges.
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Note 12—Segment Information
 Segment information has been prepared in accordance with SFAS No. 131, “Disclosures About Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information”
(“SFAS 131”). The Company has two segments: credit and debit card processing (Card Services) and check risk management services (Check Services).
Segments were determined based on products and services provided by each segment (Note 1) and represent components of the Company about which separate
internal financial information is maintained and evaluated by senior management in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance. The
accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in the Company’s summary of significant accounting policies (Note 2). The Company
evaluates the segment performance based on its operating income. Intersegment sales and transfers, which are not material, have been eliminated.
 

Segment information for 2004, 2003, and 2002 is as follows (dollars in thousands):
 

   

2004

  

2003

  

2002

 

   

Amount

  

%

  

Amount

  

%

  

Amount

  

%

 
Revenues:                       

Card Services   $ 590,382  57% $550,733  60% $559,726  62%
Check Services    449,124  43   371,001  40   347,065  38 

        
   $1,039,506  100% $921,734  100% $906,791  100%
        
Operating income:                       

Card Services   $ 140,526  70% $122,175  73% $124,596  75%
Check Services    61,036  30   44,561  27   41,883  25 

        
    201,562  100%  166,736  100%  166,479  100%
                 

General corporate expense    (21,908)     (18,521)     (19,310)   

              
   $ 179,654     $148,215     $147,169    

              
Total assets at December 31:                       

Card Services   $ 533,304  58% $475,293  61%       
Check Services    292,936  32   215,529  27        
Corporate    54,141  6   58,708  7        
Discontinued operations (Note 5)    41,828  4   35,826  5        

             
   $ 922,209  100% $785,356  100%       

             
Depreciation and amortization:                       

Card Services   $ 34,054  72% $ 32,220  77% $ 31,886  82%
Check Services    12,114  25   8,688  21   6,572  17 
Corporate    1,281  3   1,122  2   592  1 

        
   $ 47,449  100% $ 42,030  100% $ 39,050  100%
        
Capital expenditures:                       

Card Services   $ 31,660  77% $ 29,309  67% $ 36,746  75%
Check Services    8,826  22   13,849  32   8,700  18 
Corporate    422  1   589  1   3,515  7 

        
   $ 40,908  100% $ 43,747  100% $ 48,961  100%
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Financial information by geographic area is as follows (dollars in thousands):
 

   

2004

  

2003

  

2002

 

   

Amount

  

%

  

Amount

  

%

  

Amount

  

%

 
Revenues (based on location of customer):                       

United States   $ 861,903  83% $754,123  82% $723,430  80%
United Kingdom    92,703  9   89,477  10   79,040  9 
Brazil    20,718  2   24,889  3   61,033  7 
Other    64,182  6   53,245  5   43,288  4 

           
   $1,039,506  100% $921,734  100% $906,791  100%
           
Long-lived assets at December 31:                       

United States   $ 299,938  59% $244,718  56%       
Brazil    112,784  22   105,073  24        
United Kingdom    59,813  12   59,351  14        
Other    36,084  7   26,119  6        

               
   $ 508,619  100% $435,261  100%       

               
 

Revenues from external customers by product and service offering are as follows (dollars in thousands):
 

   

2004

  

2003

  

2002

 

   

Amount

  

%

  

Amount

  

%

  

Amount

  

%

 
Card Issuer Services   $ 502,596  48% $462,522  50% $448,496  50%
Check Services    449,124  43   371,001  40   347,065  38 
Merchant Processing Services    81,774  8   76,618  9   101,729  11 
Card Issuer Software and Support    6,012  1   11,593  1   9,501  1 
           
   $1,039,506  100% $921,734  100% $906,791  100%
           
 
ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
 None.
 
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
 Disclosure Controls and Procedures
 An evaluation of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Securities Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e), was carried out
by the Company’s management, with the participation of the chief executive and chief financial officers, as of the end of the period covered by this Annual
Report on Form 10-K. No system of controls, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide absolute assurance that the objectives of the system of
controls are met, and no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that the system of controls has operated effectively in all cases. Our disclosure
controls and procedures however are designed to provide reasonable assurance that the objectives of disclosure controls and procedures are met.
 

Based on the evaluation discussed above, our chief executive and chief financial officers have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were
effective as of the date of that evaluation to provide reasonable assurance that the objectives of disclosure controls and procedures are met.
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Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
 Our management’s assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004 is included in Part
II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. That assessment has been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, our independent registered public accounting firm, as
stated in their report, which is also included in Part II, Item 8.
 

There were no changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the most recent fiscal quarter that have materially
affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
 
ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
 None.
 

PART III
 
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT
 Our Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on May 24, 2005 to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, will
contain information relating to our directors and audit committee, compliance with Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act, and our code of ethics applicable to our
chief executive, financial and accounting officers, which is incorporated by reference into this report. Information relating to our executive officers is included in
Item 1 of this report.
 
ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
 Our Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on May 24, 2005 to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, will
contain information relating to director and executive officer compensation, which is incorporated by reference into this report.
 
ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
 Our Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on May 24, 2005 to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, will
contain information relating to security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management, which is incorporated by reference into this report.
 

Our Proxy Statement will also contain information relating to our equity compensation plans, which is incorporated by reference into this report.
 
ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS
 Our Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on May 24, 2005 to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, will
contain information relating to certain relationships and related transactions between us and certain of our directors and executive officers, which is incorporated
by reference into this report.
 
ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES
 Our Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on May 24, 2005 to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, will
contain information relating to the fees charged and services provided by our principal accountant during the last two fiscal years and our pre-approval policy and
procedures for audit and non-audit services, which is incorporated by reference into this report.
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PART IV
 
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
 (a) The following documents are filed as part of this report:
 (1) Financial Statements:
 See Index to Financial Statements on page 37.
 
(2) Financial Statement Schedules:
 All schedules have been omitted because they are not applicable or the required information is included in the consolidated financial statements or notes to

the statements.
 
(3) Exhibits:
 The following is a complete list of exhibits included as part of this report, including those incorporated by reference. A list of those documents filed with

this report is set forth on the Exhibit Index appearing elsewhere in this report and is incorporated by reference.
 

Exhibit No.

 

Description

2.1
 

Distribution Agreement, Plan of Reorganization and Distribution, dated as of June 30, 2001, between Equifax Inc. and Certegy Inc., previously
filed as Exhibit 2.1 on Form 8-K filed July 20, 2001 (SEC File No. 001-16427) and incorporated by reference.

3.1
 

Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of Certegy Inc., previously filed as Exhibit 4.1 on Form 8-K filed July 20, 2001 (SEC File No.
001-16427) and incorporated by reference.

3.2
 

Amended and Restated Bylaws of Certegy Inc., previously filed as Exhibit 4.2 on Form 8-K filed July 20, 2001 (SEC File No. 001-16427) and
incorporated by reference.

3.2(a)
 

Amended and Restated Bylaws of Certegy Inc. dated February 5, 2004, previously filed as Exhibit 3.2(a) on Form 10-K filed February 17, 2004
(SEC File No. 001-16427) and incorporated by reference.

4.1
 

Rights Agreement, dated as of June 29, 2001, between Certegy Inc. and SunTrust Bank, as Rights Agent, previously filed as Exhibit 4.3 on Form
8-K filed July 20, 2001 (SEC File No. 001-16427) and incorporated by reference.

4.2
 

Indenture, dated September 10, 2003, between Certegy Inc. and SunTrust Bank, as Trustee, previously filed as Exhibit 4.1 on Form S-4 filed
September 26, 2003 (SEC File No. 333-109156) and incorporated by reference.

4.3

 

Registration Rights Agreement, dated September 10, 2003, among Certegy Inc., Bear, Stearns & Co. Inc., and the other parties referred to in
Schedule A to the Purchase Agreement, previously filed as Exhibit 4.2 on Form S-4 filed September 26, 2003 (SEC File No. 333-109156) and
incorporated by reference.

4.4
 

Form of 4.75% Note due in 2008 (included in Exhibit 4.1), previously filed as Exhibit 4.3 (included in Exhibit 4.1) on Form S-4 filed September
26, 2003 (SEC File No. 333-109156) and incorporated by reference.

4.5
 

Form of certificate representing Certegy Inc. Common Stock, previously filed as Exhibit 4.4 on Amendment No. 2 to Form 10 filed June 11, 2001
(SEC File No. 001-16427) and incorporated by reference.

10.1

 

Master Agreement previously filed as Exhibit 10.27 on Form 10-K filed March 30, 2000 by Equifax Inc. (SEC File No. 001-06605) and
incorporated by reference. (Document omits information pursuant to a Request for Confidential Treatment granted under Rule 24b-2 of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934.)

10.2

 

Transaction Document #1 previously filed as Exhibit 10.26 on Form 10-K filed March 30, 2000 by Equifax Inc. (SEC File No. 001-06605) and
incorporated by reference. (Document omits information pursuant to a Request for Confidential Treatment granted under Rule 24b-2 of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934.)
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Exhibit No.

 

Description

10.3

 

Assignment and Assumption of Lease and Other Operative Documents, dated June 25, 2001, among Equifax Inc., Certegy Inc., Prefco VI Limited
Partnership, Atlantic Financial Group, Ltd. and SunTrust Bank, previously filed as Exhibit 10.3 on Form 10-Q filed August 14, 2001 (SEC File
No. 001-16427) and incorporated by reference.

10.3(a)

 

Omnibus Amendment to Master Agreement, Lease, Loan Agreement and Definitions Appendix A (Florida) dated as of September 17, 2004,
entered into among Certegy Inc., Prefco VI Limited Partnership, and SunTrust Bank, previously filed as Exhibit 10.3(a) on Form 10-Q filed
November 9, 2004 (SEC File No. 001-16427) and incorporated by reference.

10.4

 

Amended and Restated 364-Day Revolving Credit Agreement, dated July 6, 2001, among Certegy Inc., SunTrust Bank, Wachovia Bank, N.A.,
Fleet National Bank, and Bank of America, N.A., previously filed as Exhibit 10.4 on Form 10-Q filed August 14, 2001 (SEC File No. 001-16427)
and incorporated by reference.

10.5

 

Amended and Restated Revolving Credit Agreement, dated July 6, 2001, among Certegy Inc., SunTrust Bank, Wachovia Bank, N.A., Fleet
National Bank, and Bank of America, N.A, previously filed as Exhibit 10.5 on Form
10-Q filed August 14, 2001 (SEC File No. 001-16427) and incorporated by reference.

10.6
 

$130,000,000 Credit Agreement, dated June 29, 2001, between Certegy Inc. and First Union National Bank., previously filed as Exhibit 10.6 on
Form 10-Q filed August 14, 2001 (SEC File No. 001-16427) and incorporated by reference.

10.6(a)

 

First Amendment to Credit Agreement dated as of September 17, 2004 by and between Certegy Inc., Wachovia Bank, National Association f/k/a
First Union National Bank, previously filed as Exhibit 10.6(a) on Form 10-Q filed November 9, 2004 (SEC File No. 001-16427) and incorporated
by reference.

10.7

 

Acquisition Agreement, dated May 24, 2001, among Equifax Payment Services, Inc., Equifax Do Brasil Holdings Ltda., Andrade Gutierrez
Telecomunicacoes Ltda., Andrade Gutierrez S.A., Construtora Andrade Gutierrez S.A. and Unnisa-Solucoes Em Meios De Pagamento Ltda.,
previously filed as Exhibit 10.7 on Form 10-Q filed August 14, 2001 (SEC File No. 001-16427) and incorporated by reference.

10.8

 

Acquisition Agreement, dated May 24, 2001, among Equifax Payment Services, Inc., Equifax Do Brasil Holdings Ltda., Socma Americana S.A.,
Sideco Do Brasil S.A. and Unnisa-Solucoes Em Meios De Pagamento Ltda., previously filed as Exhibit 10.8 on Form 10-Q filed August 14, 2001
(SEC File No. 001-16427) and incorporated by reference.

10.9
 

Tax Sharing and Indemnification Agreement, dated as of June 30, 2001, between Equifax Inc. and Certegy Inc., previously filed as Exhibit 99.1 on
Form 8-K filed July 20, 2001 (SEC File No. 001-16427) and incorporated by reference.

10.10
 

Employee Benefits Agreement, dated as of June 30, 2001, between Equifax Inc. and Certegy Inc., previously filed as Exhibit 99.2 on Form 8-K
filed July 20, 2001 (SEC File No. 001-16427) and incorporated by reference.

10.11
 

Tier I Change in Control Agreement, previously filed as Exhibit 10.11 on Amendment No. 2 to Form 10 filed June 11, 2001 (SEC file No. 001-
16427) and incorporated by reference. (1)

10.11(a)
 

Amended Tier I Change in Control Agreement revised May 16, 2002, previously filed as Exhibit 10.11(a) on Form 10-K filed February 17, 2004
(SEC File No. 001-16427) and incorporated by reference. (1)

10.12
 

Tier II Change in Control Agreement, previously filed as Exhibit 10.12 on Amendment No. 2 to Form 10 filed June 11, 2001 (SEC file No. 001-
16427) and incorporated by reference. (1)

10.12(a)
 

Amended Tier II Change in Control Agreement revised May 16, 2002 previously filed as Exhibit 10.12(a) on Form 10-K filed February 17, 2004
(SEC File No. 001-16427) and incorporated by reference. (1)

10.13
 

Certegy Inc. Executive Life and Supplemental Retirement Benefit Plan, previously filed as Exhibit 10.13 on Form 10-K filed March 25, 2002
(SEC File No. 001-16427) and incorporated by reference. (1)

10.14
 

Certegy Inc. Executive Life and Supplemental Retirement Benefit Plan Split Dollar Life Insurance Agreement (New Participant), previously filed
as Exhibit 10.14 on Form 10-K filed March 25, 2002 (SEC File No. 001-16427) and incorporated by reference. (1)

10.15
 

Grantor Trust Agreement, dated July 8, 2001, between Certegy Inc. and Wachovia Bank, N.A., previously filed as Exhibit 10.15 on Form 10-K
filed March 25, 2002 (SEC File No. 001-16427) and incorporated by reference.
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Exhibit No.

 

Description

10.15(a)

 

Grantor Trust Agreement, as originally effective July 8, 2001, and amended and restated effective December 5, 2003, between Certegy Inc. and
Wachovia Bank, N.A., previously filed as Exhibit 10.15(a) on Form 10-K filed February 17, 2004 (SEC File No. 001-16427) and incorporated by
reference.

10.16
 

Intercompany Data Purchase Agreement, dated as of June 30, 2001, between Equifax Inc. and Certegy Inc., previously filed as Exhibit 99.3 on
Form 8-K filed July 20, 2001 (SEC File No. 001-16427) and incorporated by reference.

10.17
 

Transition Support Agreement, dated as of June 30, 2001, between Equifax Inc. and Certegy Inc., previously filed as Exhibit 99.4 on Form 8-K
filed July 20, 2001 (SEC File No. 001-16427) and incorporated by reference.

10.18
 

Intellectual Property Agreement, dated as of June 30, 2001, between Equifax Inc. and Certegy Inc., previously filed as Exhibit 99.5 on Form 8-K
filed July 20, 2001 (SEC File No. 001-16427) and incorporated by reference.

10.19
 

Agreement Regarding Leases, dated as of June 30, 2001, between Equifax Inc. and Certegy Inc., previously filed as Exhibit 99.6 on Form 8-K
filed July 20, 2001 (SEC File No. 001-16427) and incorporated by reference.

10.20
 

Certegy Inc. 2001 Stock Incentive Plan, previously filed as Exhibit 10.20 on Form 10-K filed March 25, 2002 (SEC File No. 001-16427) and
incorporated by reference. (1)

10.21
 

Certegy Inc. Stock Incentive Plan, amended and restated February 28, 2002, previously filed as Exhibit 10.21 on Form 10-K filed March 25, 2002
(SEC File No. 001-16427) and incorporated by reference. (1)

10.21(a)
 

Amendment No. 1 to Certegy Inc. Stock Incentive Plan, previously filed as Exhibit 10.21(a) on Form 10-Q filed August 6, 2004 (SEC File No.
001-16427) and incorporated by reference. (1)

10.22
 

Certegy Inc. 2001 Key Management Long-Term Incentive Plan, previously filed as Exhibit 10.22 on Form 10-K filed March 25, 2002 (SEC File
No. 001-16427) and incorporated by reference. (1)

10.23
 

First Amendment to Certegy Inc. 2001 Key Management Long-Term Incentive Plan, effective February 28, 2002, previously filed as Exhibit 10.23
on Form 10-K filed March 25, 2002 (SEC File No. 001-16427) and incorporated by reference. (1)

10.24
 

Certegy Inc. Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan, previously filed as Exhibit 10.24 on Form 10-K filed March 25, 2002 (SEC File No. 001-
16427) and incorporated by reference. (1)

10.25
 

Certegy Inc. Deferred Compensation Plan, previously filed as Exhibit 10.25 on Form 10-K filed March 25, 2002 (SEC File No. 001-16427) and
incorporated by reference. (1)

10.26
 

Equifax Inc. Performance Incentive Plan, previously filed as Exhibit 10.26 on Form 10-K filed March 25, 2002 (SEC File No. 001-16427) and
incorporated by reference. (1)

10.27
 

2002 Certegy Inc. Annual Incentive Plan, previously filed as Exhibit 10.27 on Form 10-K filed March 25, 2002 (SEC File No. 001-16427) and
incorporated by reference. (1)

10.28
 

Year 2001 Stock Option Exchange Program Terms and Conditions, previously filed as Exhibit 10.28 on Form 10-K filed March 25, 2002 (SEC
File No. 001-16427) and incorporated by reference. (1)

10.29
 

Certegy 2002 Bonus Deferral Program Terms and Conditions, previously filed as Exhibit 10.29 on Form 10-K filed March 25, 2002 (SEC File No.
001-16427) and incorporated by reference. (1)

10.30
 

Certegy Excess Liability Insurance Plan for the Registrant’s executive
Officers, previously filed as Exhibit 10.30 on Form 10-K filed March 25, 2002 (SEC File No. 001-16427) and incorporated by reference. (1)

10.31
 

Financial/Tax Planning Services Program for the Registrant’s executive officers, previously filed as Exhibit 10.31 on Form 10-K filed March 25,
2002 (SEC File No. 001-16427) and incorporated by reference. (1)

10.32
 

Certegy Inc. Deferred Compensation Plan, previously filed as Exhibit 10.32 on Form 10-K filed February 14, 2003 (SEC File No. 001-16427) and
incorporated by reference. (1)

10.33
 

Asset Purchase Agreement, dated December 5, 2002, between Down Acquisition Corporation and Netzee, Inc., previously filed as Exhibit 10.33
on Form 10-K filed February 14, 2003 (SEC File No. 001-16427) and incorporated by reference.
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Exhibit No.
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10.34

 

Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of September 3, 2003, among Certegy Inc., the lenders from time to time party thereto, SunTrust Bank, as
Administrative Agent, Wachovia Bank, National Association, as Syndication Agent, and Bank of America, N.A., as Documentation Agent,
previously filed as Exhibit 10.34 on Form S-4 filed September 26, 2003 (SEC File No. 333-109156) and incorporated by reference.

10.34(a)

 

First Amendment to Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of August 24, 2004 by and among Certegy Inc., the several banks and other financial
institutions from time to time party hereto, Wachovia Bank, National Association, as Syndication Agent, Bank of America N.A., as
Documentation Agent and SunTrust Bank, as Administrative Agent, previously filed as Exhibit 10.34(a) on Form 1-Q filed November 9, 2004
(SEC File No. 001-16427) and incorporated by reference.

10.35
 

Tier III Change in Control Agreement dated May 16, 2002, previously filed as Exhibit 10.35 on Form 10-K filed February 17, 2004 (SEC File
No. 001-16427) and incorporated by reference. (1)

10.36
 

ICBA Bankcard, Inc. and Certegy Card Services, Inc. 2003 Renewal Service Agreement, previously filed as Exhibit 10.36 on Form 10-K filed
February 17, 2004 (SEC File No. 001-16427) and incorporated by reference.

10.37
 

2004 Restated CSCU Card Processing Service Agreement, previously filed as Exhibit 10.37 on Form 10-K filed February 17, 2004 (SEC File No.
001-16427) and incorporated by reference.

10.38
 

Certegy Inc. Special Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan, effective as of November 7, 2003, previously filed as Exhibit 10.38 on Form 10-K
filed February 17, 2004 (SEC File No. 001-16427) and incorporated by reference. (1)

10.39
 

Certegy Inc. Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan, effective as of November 5, 2003, previously filed as Exhibit 10.39 on Form 10-K filed
February 17, 2004 (SEC File No. 001-16427) and incorporated by reference. (1)

10.40
 

Certegy Inc. Executive Life and Supplemental Retirement Benefit Plan Split Dollar Life Insurance Agreement, effective as of November 7, 2003,
previously filed as Exhibit 10.40 on Form 10-K filed February 17, 2004 (SEC File No. 001-16427) and incorporated by reference. (1)

10.41
 

Trust Agreement for the Certegy Inc. Deferred Compensation Plan between Certegy Inc. and SunTrust Bank dated March 4, 2003, previously
filed as Exhibit 10.41 on Form 10-K filed February 17, 2004 (SEC File No. 001-16427) and incorporated by reference. (1)

10.42

 

Master Agreement for Operations Support Services between Certegy Inc. and International Business Machines Corporation dated June 29, 2001,
previously filed as Exhibit 10.42 on Form 10-K filed February 17, 2004 (SEC File No. 001-16427) and incorporated by reference. (Document
omits information pursuant to a Request for Confidential Treatment granted under Rule 24b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.)

10.43

 

Master Agreement for Operations Support Services Transaction Document #03-01 (United States) between Certegy Inc. and International
Business Machines Corporation dated March 5, 2003, previously filed as Exhibit 10.43 on Form 10-K filed February 17, 2004 (SEC File No.
001-16427) and incorporated by reference. (Document omits information pursuant to a Request for Confidential Treatment granted under Rule
24b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.)

10.44
 

Certegy Inc. Stock Incentive Plan Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement dated June 18, 2004, previously filed as Exhibit 10.44 on Form 10-Q
filed August 6, 2004 (SEC File No. 001-16427) and incorporated by reference. (1)

10.45
 

Certegy Inc. Restricted Stock Units Deferral Election Agreement for 2004, previously filed as Exhibit 10.45 on Form 10-Q filed August 6, 2004
(SEC File No. 001-16427) and incorporated by reference. (1)

10.46
 

Form of Certegy Inc. Annual Incentive Plan, previously filed as Exhibit 10.46 on Form 8-K filed February 10, 2005 (SEC File No. 001-16427)
and incorporated by reference. (1)

10.47  Form of Certegy Inc. Stock Incentive Plan Non-Qualified Stock Option Award Agreement. (1)

10.48  Form of Certegy Inc. Stock Incentive Plan Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement. (1)

10.49  Form of Certegy Inc. Stock Incentive Plan Restricted Stock Award Agreement. (1)

12.1  Statements re Computation of Ratios.

21.1  Subsidiaries of the Registrant.

23.1  Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm, to incorporation by reference.
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31.1
 

Certification of Lee A. Kennedy, Chief Executive Officer of Certegy Inc., pursuant to rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) of the Exchange Act, as
adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2
 

Certification of Michael T. Vollkommer, Chief Financial Officer of Certegy Inc., pursuant to rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) of the Exchange Act,
as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1
 

Certification of Lee A. Kennedy, Chief Executive Officer of Certegy Inc., pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.2
 

Certification of Michael T. Vollkommer, Chief Financial Officer of Certegy Inc., pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

(1) Management Contract or Compensatory Plan.
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SIGNATURES
 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned duly authorized officer.
 
Date: March 11, 2005  CERTEGY INC.
 

 

By:
 

/s/ LEE A. KENNEDY

 

   

Lee A. Kennedy
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant

and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
 
Date: March 11, 2005

 

By:
 

/s/ LEE A. KENNEDY

 

   

Lee A. Kennedy
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: March 11, 2005
 

By:
 

/s/ MICHAEL T. VOLLKOMMER

 

   

Michael T. Vollkommer
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

Date: March 11, 2005
 

By:
 

/s/ PAMELA A. TEFFT

 

   

Pamela A. Tefft
Senior Vice President and Controller
(Principal Accounting Officer)

Date: March 11, 2005
 

By:
 

/s/ RICHARD N. CHILD

    Richard N. Child, Director

Date: March 11, 2005
 

By:
 

/s/ CHARLES T. DOYLE

    Charles T. Doyle, Director

Date: March 11, 2005
 

By:
 

/s/ KENNETH A. GUENTHER

    Kenneth A. Guenther, Director

Date: March 11, 2005
 

By:
 

/s/ KEITH W. HUGHES

    Keith W. Hughes, Director

Date: March 11, 2005
 

By:
 

/s/ DAVID K. HUNT

    David K. Hunt, Director

Date: March 11, 2005
 

By:
 

/s/ PHILLIP B. LASSITER

    Phillip B. Lassiter, Director

Date: March 11, 2005
 

By:
 

/s/ KATHY BRITTAIN WHITE

    Kathy Brittain White, Director
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The following documents are being filed with this Report:
 
Exhibit No.

  

Description

10.47   Form of Certegy Inc. Stock Incentive Plan Non-Qualified Stock Option Award Agreement. (1)

10.48   Form of Certegy Inc. Stock Incentive Plan Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement. (1)

10.49   Form of Certegy Inc. Stock Incentive Plan Restricted Stock Award Agreement. (1)

12.1   Statements re Computation of Ratios.

21.1   Subsidiaries of the Registrant.

23.1   Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm, to incorporation by reference.

31.1
  

Certification of Lee A. Kennedy, Chief Executive Officer of Certegy Inc., pursuant to rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) of the Exchange Act, as
adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2
  

Certification of Michael T. Vollkommer, Chief Financial Officer of Certegy Inc., pursuant to rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) of the Exchange
Act, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1
  

Certification of Lee A. Kennedy, Chief Executive Officer of Certegy Inc., pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.2
  

Certification of Michael T. Vollkommer, Chief Financial Officer of Certegy Inc., pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

(1) Management Contract or Compensatory Plan.
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Exhibit 10.47
 CERTEGY INC.
 

NON-QUALIFIED STOCK OPTION AGREEMENT
 

[PARTICIPANT]
 

Number of Shares:
 

Option Price: $
 

Date of Grant:
 

THIS AGREEMENT is entered into as of the above Date of Grant, by and between Certegy Inc., a Georgia corporation (the “Company”), and the above-
named Participant (“Participant”). This Agreement is subject to the provisions of the Certegy Inc. Stock Incentive Plan, as it may be amended from time to time
(the “Plan”) and, unless defined in this Agreement, all terms used in this Agreement have the same meanings given them in the Plan.
 
1. Grant of Option. The Company on the “Date of Grant” granted to Participant (subject to the terms of the Plan and this Agreement) the right to purchase

from the Company all or part of the Number of Shares stated above (the “Option”). This Agreement is not intended to be an incentive stock option under
Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”).

 
2. Basic Terms and Conditions. The Option is subject to the following basic terms and conditions:
 
 

(a) Expiration Date. Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, the Option will expire                      years from the Date of Grant (the “Expiration
Date”).

 

 

(b) Exercise of Option. Except as provided in subparagraph 2(e) or paragraph 3, the Option shall be exercisable with respect to                      of the
Number of Shares subject to this option on                      and with respect to an additional                      of the Number of Shares subject to this Option
on                      so that this Option shall be fully exercisable on                     , provided the Participant (i) remains employed by the Company or a
Subsidiary or (ii) subject to the provisions of subparagraph 2(e)(ii), terminates employment by reason of Retirement (as defined in subparagraph 2(e)
(ii)). Once exercisable, in whole or part, the Option will continue to be so exercisable until the earlier of the termination of Participant’s rights under
subparagraph 2(e) or paragraph 3, or the Expiration Date. The Option may be exercised in one or more exercises, provided that each exercise must be
for a multiple of twenty-five (25) shares (e.g., 25 shares, 50 shares, 100 shares), up to the full number for which the Option is then exercisable, unless
the Number of Shares then exercisable is less than twenty-five (25), in which case the Option may be exercised for that lesser Number of Shares.



 

(c) Method of Exercise and Payment for Shares. In order to exercise the Option, Participant must give written notice in a manner prescribed by the
Company from time to time, together with payment of the Option Price to the Company’s Stock Option Administrator at the Company’s principal
executive offices, or as otherwise directed by the Administrator. The Date of Exercise will be the date of receipt of the notice or any later date
specified in the notice. Participant must pay the Option Price (i) in cash or a cash equivalent acceptable to the Committee, or (ii) in the Committee’s
discretion, by the surrender (or attestation to ownership) of shares of Common Stock (held by Participant for at least six (6) months) with an
aggregate Fair Market Value (based on the closing price of a share of Common Stock as reported on the New York Stock Exchange composite index
on the Date of Exercise) that is not less than the Option Price, or by surrender of property described in and subject to the conditions provided in
Section 4(d) of the Plan, or (iii) by a combination of cash and such shares. Payment of the Option Price may be deferred in the discretion of the
Committee to accommodate proceeds of sale of some or all of the shares to which this grant relates.

 If at exercise, Participant is not in compliance with the Company’s minimum stock ownership guidelines then in effect for Participant’s job grade or
classification, if any, Participant will not be entitled to exercise the Option using a “cashless exercise program” of the Company (if then in effect),
unless the net proceeds received by Participant from that exercise consist only of shares of Company stock, and Participant agrees to hold all those
shares for at least one (1) year.

 
 (d) Transferability.
 

 

(i) Except as provided in (d)(ii) below, Participant’s rights under this Agreement are non-transferable except by will or by the laws of descent
and distribution, in which case all of Participant’s remaining rights under this Agreement must be transferred undivided to the same person or
persons. During Participant’s lifetime, only Participant (or Participant’s legal representative if Participant is incompetent) may exercise the
Option.

 

 
(ii) Participant is permitted to transfer the Option to Participant’s Immediate Family, subject to and in accordance with Section 7(c) of the Plan,

provided that any such transfer may be made only in multiples of Options for 1,000 Shares (or, if less, the number of Options that remain
subject to this grant).

 
 

(e) Termination of Employment. Except as provided in subparagraphs (i), (ii), (iii) or (iv) below, or paragraph 3, the Option is not exercisable after
termination of Participant’s employment with the Company or a Subsidiary.

 
 

(i) Elimination of Position. Except as provided in paragraph 3 below, if the termination of Participant’s employment results from the Company’s
elimination of the position held by Participant, then Participant will
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continue to have the right to exercise the Option with respect to that portion of the Number of Shares for which the Option was vested and
exercisable on the date of termination and the remaining portion shall be cancelled. Except as provided in subsection 2(e)(iv) below, that
right will continue until the earlier of the last day of the one-year period commencing on the date of termination of employment or the
Expiration Date.

 

 

(ii) Retirement or Disability when Retirement Eligible. Except as provided in paragraph 3 below, if the termination of Participant’s employment
results from Participant’s Retirement (as defined below) or total and permanent Disability when eligible to retire, Participant will continue to
vest in the Option in accordance with the original vesting schedule in subparagraph 2(b) above as if he had remained actively employed;
subject to the individual’s agreement not to do anything that would be harmful to the Company, and to be available to perform reasonable
services for the Company as a consultant on reasonable terms and conditions through the vesting date of the grant, and subject to the
conditions that the participant does not commence employment with a competitor of the Company, does not engage in solicitation of the
Company’s employees, customers or suppliers, and does not disclose the Company’s confidential information or trade secrets (any of such
conduct to be determined by the Committee in its sole discretion, in good faith and after reasonable investigation), the grant continues to vest
on the above schedule following retirement or disability. In the event that any of the above conditions are not met, all unvested stock options
under this grant will be forfeited by the participant; provided further, that upon Participant’s death, all vesting will cease and the Option will
be exercisable with respect to that portion of the Number of Shares for which the Option is vested and exercisable on the date of Participant’s
death and no other portion.

 Participant will continue to have the right to exercise the Option with respect to that portion of the Number of Shares for which the Option is
vested and exercisable from time to time until the earlier of the last day of the sixty (60) month period following Participant’s Retirement or
Disability, or the Expiration Date. “Retirement” means Participant’s termination of employment with the Company or a Subsidiary (other
than by the Company or a Subsidiary for Cause) at a time when Participant is eligible for immediate payment of benefits under Participant’s
applicable defined benefit retirement plan, if any, or in the absence of an applicable defined benefit retirement plan, as determined by the
Committee.

 

 
(iii) Disability when not eligible to retire. Except as provided in paragraph 3, if the termination of Participant’s employment results from

Participant’s total and permanent disability, confirmed by the statement of a licensed physician chosen or approved by the Committee, then
Participant will continue to have the right to exercise the Option with respect to that
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portion of the Number of Shares for which the Option was vested and exercisable on the last date of Participant’s active employment and the
remaining portion shall be cancelled. Except as provided in subparagraph 2(e)(iv) below, that right will continue until the earlier of the last
day of the sixty (60) month period following the last date of Participant’s active employment or the Expiration Date.

 

 

(iv) Death. Except as provided in paragraph 3 below, if the termination of Participant’s employment results from Participant’s death, then
Participant’s estate, or the person(s) to whom Participant’s rights under this Agreement pass by will or the laws of descent and distribution,
will have the right to exercise the Option with respect to that portion of the Number of Shares for which the Option was vested and
exercisable on the date of Participant’s death and the remaining portion shall be cancelled. That right will continue until the earlier of the last
day of the sixty (60) month period following Participant’s death or the Expiration Date.

 If Participant dies following termination of employment and prior to the expiration of any remaining period during which the Option may be
exercised in accordance with subparagraphs (i), (ii) or (iii) above, or paragraph 3, the remaining period during which the Option will be
exercisable (by Participant’s estate, or the person(s) to whom Participant’s rights under this Agreement pass by will or the laws of descent
and distribution) will be the greater of (a) the remaining period under the applicable subparagraph or paragraph referred to above, or (b) six
(6) months from the date of death; provided that under no circumstances will the Option be exercisable after the Expiration Date.

 
3. Change in Control.
 

 

(a) If a Change in Control of the Company occurs while Participant is employed by the Company or a Subsidiary, then the entire Number of Shares
represented by the Option which have not yet been exercised will become immediately vested and exercisable. The Committee, in its discretion, may
terminate the Option, provided that at least 30 days prior to the Change in Control, the Committee notifies the Participant that the Option will be
terminated and provides the Participant, at the election of the Committee, (i) the right to receive immediately a cash payment in an amount equal to
the excess, if any, of (A) the Market Value per Share on the date preceding the date of surrender, of the shares subject to the Option or portion of the
Option surrendered, over (B) the aggregate purchase price for such Shares under the Option; or (ii) the right to exercise all Options (including the
Options vested as a result of the Change in Control) immediately prior to the Change in Control.

 
 

(b) If the Option remains outstanding after the Change in Control and if Participant’s employment with the Company or a Subsidiary terminates
thereafter other than as a result of a termination by the Company or a Subsidiary for Cause, then

 
4



Participant (or, if applicable, Participant’s estate or the person(s) to whom Participant’s rights under this Agreement pass by will or the laws of
descent and distribution) will have the right to exercise the Option. Except as provided in Section 2(e)(iv) above, that right may be exercised until the
earlier of the last day of the sixty (60) month period following the termination of Participant’s employment or the Expiration Date.

 4. Termination for Cause. For purposes of this Agreement, termination for “Cause” means termination as a result of (a) the willful and continued failure by
Participant to substantially perform his or her duties with the Company (other than a failure resulting from Participant’s incapacity due to physical or
mental illness), after a written demand for substantial performance is delivered to Participant by his or her superior officer which specifically identifies the
manner the officer believes that Participant has not substantially performed his or her duties, or (b) Participant’s willful misconduct which materially
injures the Company, monetarily or otherwise. For purposes of this paragraph, Participant’s act, or failure to act, will not be considered “willful” unless the
act or failure to act is not in good faith and without reasonable belief that his or her action or omission was in the best interest of the Company.

 
5. Cancellation and Rescission of Option.
 

 

(a) If, at any time during the period that this Option is or may yet become exercisable in whole or in part, or at any time within six (6) months prior to, or
after, Participant’s termination of employment with the Company, a Participant engages in any “Detrimental Activity” (as defined in subsection (b)
below), the Committee may, notwithstanding any other provision in this Agreement to the contrary, cancel, rescind, suspend, withhold or otherwise
restrict or limit this Option as of the first date the Participant engages in the Detrimental Activity, unless sooner terminated by operation of another
term of this Agreement or any other agreement. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Participant shall also pay to the Company any gain
realized by the Participant from exercising all or any portion of the Option hereunder during a period beginning six (6) months prior to the date on
which Participant enters into such Detrimental Activity.

 

 

(b) For purposes of this Agreement, “Detrimental Activity” shall mean and include any of the following: (i) engaging in any commercial activity in
competition with any part of the business of the Company; (ii) diverting or attempting to divert from the Company business of any kind, including,
without limitation, interference with any business relationship with suppliers, customers, licensees, licensors or contractors; (iii) making, or causing
or attempting to cause any other person to make, any statement, either written or oral, or conveying any information about the Company which is
disparaging or which in any way reflects negatively upon the Company; (iv) engaging in any other activity that is inimical, contrary or harmful to the
interests of the Company, including influencing or advising any person who is employed by or in the service of the Company to leave such
employment or service to compete with the Company or to enter into the employment or service of any actual or prospective competitor of
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the Company, or influencing or advising any competitor of the Company to employ or to otherwise engage the services of any person who is
employed by the Company or in the service of the Company, or improperly disclosing or otherwise misusing any confidential information regarding
the Company; or (v) the refusal or failure of a Participant to provide, upon the request of the Company, a certification, in a form satisfactory to the
Company, that he or she is in full compliance with the terms and conditions of the Plan.

 Should any provision of this Paragraph 5 be held to be invalid or illegal, such illegality shall not invalidate the whole of this Paragraph 5, but, rather,
the Plan shall be construed as if it did not contain the illegal part or narrowed to permit its enforcement, and the rights and obligations of the parties
shall be construed and enforced accordingly.

 6. Fractional Shares. Fractional shares will not be issued, and when any provision of this Agreement otherwise would entitle Participant to receive a fractional
share, that fraction will be disregarded.

 7. No Right to Continued Employment. This Agreement does not give Participant any right to continued employment by the Company or a Subsidiary, and it
will not interfere in any way with the right of the Company or a Subsidiary to terminate Participant’s employment at any time.

 8. Adjustments in Capital Structure. The terms of this Option will be adjusted as the Committee determines in its sole discretion is equitably required to
prevent dilution or enlargement of the rights of Participant in accordance with Section 8 of the Plan.

 9. Governing Law. The Agreement is governed by the laws of the State of Georgia.
 10. Conflicts. If provisions of the Plan and the provisions of this Agreement conflict, the Plan provisions will govern.
 11. Participant Bound by Plan. Participant acknowledges receiving a summary of the Plan, which provides that upon request a copy of the Plan will be

provided to the Participant free of charge, and agrees to be bound by all the terms and provisions of the Plan. Capitalized terms used in this Agreement and
not defined herein shall have the definitions given to them in the Plan.

 12. Binding Effect. Except as limited by the Plan or this Agreement, this Agreement is binding on and extends to the legatees, distributes, and personal
representatives of Participant and the successors of the Company.

 13. Taxes. Under procedures established by the Committee, the Company may withhold from Common Stock delivered to the Participant sufficient shares of
Common Stock (valued as of the Date of Exercise) to satisfy required federal, state and local withholding and employment taxes, or the Participant will pay
or deliver to the Company cash or Common Stock (valued as of the Date of Exercise) in sufficient amounts to satisfy these obligations. The Company shall
not, however, withhold any amount in excess of the minimum required amount.
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14. Transfer of Data. In order to effectively administer the Company’s global compensation and benefit programs, we may transfer personal data from your
Company employment file to a centralized repository controlled by the Company in the United States of America. Your personal data in the repository will
be used solely for internal Company purposes. You may examine your employee information file should you wish to do so. By signing this agreement, you
provide your consent to this transfer and use of this data.

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned duly authorized officer of the Company and Participant have signed this Agreement effective as of the Date

of Grant.
 
CERTEGY INC.    PARTICIPANT
 

   

 
 

Signature
 

   

 
 

Print Name
 

7



Exhibit 10.48
 CERTEGY INC. STOCK INCENTIVE PLAN

RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AWARD AGREEMENT
 
Director:   __________________________

Number of RSUs:   __________________________

Grant Date:   __________________________

Vesting Date:   __________________________
 

This Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (the “Agreement”) is dated as of the      day of                     ,         , between Certegy Inc., a Georgia
corporation (the “Company”), and the Director listed above (the “Director”). This Agreement is subject to the provisions of the Certegy Inc. Stock Incentive Plan,
as amended and as may be further amended from time to time (the “Plan”), the terms of which are hereby incorporated by reference. Unless defined in this
Agreement, all capitalized terms used but not defined in this Agreement shall have the same meanings given them in the Plan.
 

1. Grant of RSUs. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement and the Plan, effective as of the date set forth above (the “Grant Date”), the
Company hereby grants to the Director the number of Restricted Stock Units (“RSUs”) set forth above. This award of RSUs represents the right to receive
Common Shares subject to the fulfillment of the vesting conditions set forth in this Agreement.
 

2. Vesting. Subject to earlier vesting in accordance with Section 3 below, the RSUs shall vest on or after the date(s) (the “Vesting Date(s)”) set forth at the
beginning of this Agreement. The RSUs shall be nontransferable and, except as otherwise provided herein, shall be forfeited upon the Director’s cessation of
service as a director of the Company prior to the Vesting Date other than as a result of death or disability. The Committee that administers the Plan reserves the
right, in its sole discretion, to waive or reduce the vesting requirements.
 

3. Death, Disability, or Change in Control. Section 2 to the contrary notwithstanding, in the event of the Director’s death or resignation or removal as a
director for reason of disability, as determined by the Committee, or if a Change in Control occurs, the Director’s rights in the RSUs awarded pursuant to this
Agreement will become nonforfeitable and transferable as of the date of the Director’s death, resignation or removal for disability, or the date on which the
Change in Control occurs.
 

4. Stock Certificates. Stock certificates evidencing the Common Shares subject to the RSUs shall be issued as of the Vesting Date and registered in the
Director’s name; provided, however, if the Director elects to defer delivery of the Common Shares as provided in Section 5 of this Agreement, the Common
Shares shall be issued and delivered as set forth in the Deferral Election Agreement entered into between the Company and the Director.



5. Deferral Election. The Director may elect to defer delivery of the Common Shares that would otherwise be due by virtue of the lapse or waiver of the
vesting requirements as set forth in Sections 2 or 3. The Committee shall, in its sole discretion, establish the rules and procedures for such deferral, and shall
provide the Director with a Deferral Election Agreement.
 

6. Dividends. Until the Common Shares are issued to the Director, dividends will not be paid with respect to the RSUs, however, the Director shall be paid
in cash a dividend equivalent, which shall equal the value of all cash or stock dividends or other distributions that would have been paid on the Common Shares
subject to the RSUs, except in circumstances where the dividend or distribution is covered by Section 15 below.
 

7. Restriction and Transferability. Until the RSUs are vested and, subject to any valid deferral election, the Common Shares are delivered to the Director,
the RSUs and the underlying Common Shares may not be sold, transferred, pledged, assigned, or otherwise alienated at any time. Any attempt to do so contrary
to the provisions hereof shall be null and void.
 

8. Rights as Shareholder. Except as provided in Section 6, the Director shall not have voting or any other rights as a shareholder of the Company with
respect to the RSUs. Upon settlement of the RSUs with issuance of Common Shares, the Director will obtain full voting and other rights as a shareholder of the
Company.
 

9. Administration. The Committee shall have the power to interpret the Plan and this Agreement and to adopt such rules for the administration,
interpretation, and application of the Plan as are consistent therewith and to interpret or revoke any such rules. All actions taken and all interpretations and
determinations made by the Committee shall be final and binding upon the Director, the Company, and all other interested persons. No member of the Committee
shall be personally liable for any action, determination, or interpretation made in good faith with respect to the Plan or this Agreement.
 

10. No Rights to Continued Service on the Board. The award of the RSUs pursuant to this Agreement shall not give the Director any right to remain a
member of the Board of Directors of the Company, nor shall it interfere with or restrict any right of the Company to remove the Director at any time.
 

11. Amendment. This Agreement may be amended only by a writing executed by the Company and the Director which specifically states that it is
amending this Agreement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, this Agreement may be amended solely by the Committee by a writing that specifically states that it is
amending this Agreement, so long as a copy of such amendment is delivered to the Director, and provided that no such amendment adversely affecting the rights
of the Director hereunder may be made without the Director’s written consent. Without limiting the foregoing, the Committee reserves the right to change, by
written notice to the Director, the provisions of the RSUs or this Agreement in any way it may deem necessary or advisable to carry out the purpose of the grant
as a result of any change in applicable laws or regulations or any future law, regulation, ruling, or judicial decision, provided that any such change shall be
applicable only to RSUs which are then subject to restrictions or deferral as provided herein.
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12. Notices. Any notice to be given under the terms of this Agreement to the Company shall be addressed to the Company in care of its Secretary. Any
notice to be given to the Director shall be addressed to the Director at the address listed in the Company’s records. By a notice given pursuant to this Section,
either party may designate a different address for notices. Any notice shall have been deemed given when actually delivered.
 

13. Severability. If all or any part of this Agreement or the Plan is declared by any court or governmental authority to be unlawful or invalid, such
unlawfulness or invalidity shall not invalidate any portion of this Agreement or the Plan not declared to be unlawful or invalid. Any Section of this Agreement (or
part of such a Section) so declared to be unlawful or invalid shall, if possible, be construed in a manner which will give effect to the terms of such Section or part
of a Section to the fullest extent possible while remaining lawful and valid.
 

14. Construction. The restricted stock units are subject to the terms of the Plan. To the extent that any provision of this Agreement violates or is inconsistent
with an express provision of the Plan, the Plan provision shall govern and any inconsistent provision in this Agreement shall be of no force or effect.
 

15. Adjustments to RSUs. The terms of this Agreement, including, when applicable, the number of RSUs, will be adjusted as the Committee determines
necessary or appropriate to prevent dilution or enlargement of rights of the Director, in accordance with Section 8 of the Plan.
 

16. Fractional Shares. The Company shall not be required to issue fractional shares, and when any provision of this Agreement otherwise would entitle the
Director to receive a fractional share, that fraction will be disregarded or paid in cash, as determined by the Committee.
 

17. Binding Effect. Except as limited by the Plan or this Agreement, this Agreement is binding on and extends to the legatees, and personal representatives
of the Director and the successors of the Company.
 

18. Registration and Restrictions on Common Shares. The Company currently has an effective registration statement on file with the Securities and
Exchange Commission with respect to the Common Shares subject to the RSUs. The Company intends to maintain this registration but has no obligation to do so.
If the registration ceases to be effective, you will not be able to transfer or sell Common Shares issued to you pursuant to this RSU award unless exemptions from
registration under applicable securities laws are available. Such exemptions from registration are very limited and might be unavailable. You agree that any resale
by you of the Common Shares issued pursuant to this RSU award shall comply in all respects with the requirements of all applicable securities laws, rules and
regulations (including, without limitation, the provisions of the Securities Act, the Exchange Act and the respective rules and
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regulations promulgated thereunder) and any other law, rule or regulation applicable thereto, as such laws, rules, and regulations may be amended from time to
time. The Company shall not be obligated to either issue the Common Shares or permit the resale of any Common Shares if such issuance or resale would violate
any such requirements or the requirements or regulations of any stock exchange upon which the Common Shares may then be listed.
 

19. Governing Law. This Agreement will be governed by and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of Georgia.
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed and delivered this Agreement effective as of the day and year first above written.
 

Certegy Inc.

By:
 

 

Name:
 

 

Title:
 

 

 
ACCEPTANCE AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

 
I, the above named Director, a resident of the State of                     , accept the Restricted Stock Unit award described in this Agreement and in the Plan, and

acknowledge receipt of a copy of this Agreement, the Plan and the applicable Plan Summary, and acknowledge that I have read them carefully and that I fully
understand their contents.
 

 

Director
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Exhibit 10.49
 CERTEGY INC.

STOCK INCENTIVE PLAN
 RESTRICTED STOCK AWARD AGREEMENT
 

THIS AGREEMENT, made and entered into as of _ day of     , 200     by and between CERTEGY INC., a Georgia corporation, (the “Company”) and
<NAME> (“Grantee”).
 

W • I • T • N • E • S • S • E • T • H    T • H • A • T:
 

WHEREAS, the Company maintains the Certegy Inc. Stock Incentive Plan (the “Plan”), and Grantee has been selected by the Committee to receive
a Restricted Stock Award under the Plan;
 

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS AGREED, by and between the Company and Grantee, as follows:
 1. Awards Of Restricted Stock
 1.1 The Company hereby grants to Grantee an award of <# of SHARES> Shares of restricted stock (“Restricted Stock”), subject to, and in accordance
with, the restrictions, terms, and conditions set forth in this Agreement. The grant date of this award of Restricted Stock is                      (the “Grant Date”).
 

1.2 This Agreement shall be construed in accordance with, and subject to, the provisions of the Plan (the provisions of which are incorporated herein by
reference) and, except as otherwise expressly set forth herein, the capitalized terms used in this Agreement shall have the same definitions as set forth in the Plan.
 

2. Restrictions
 Subject to Sections 2.1, 2.2, 2.3, 2.4 and 2.5 below, if Grantee remains employed by the Company, the Grantee shall become vested in the following
manner:
 

Cliff vests on                     ,                      for active employees after results are available for the Company’s financial performance for                     ,
                     and                      and if the following Performance Requirements have been met or exceeded:
 

 

•  The company’s cumulative diluted Earnings per Share for the measurement years (                    ) must either be $             or more representing
a             % compound annual growth rate from continuing operations. Determination of this earnings growth will be based upon GAAP in
effect on the date of the grant. Adjustments to achievement of this earning per share target may be made by the Compensation Committee as
they deem it appropriate.



If the above conditions are not met, the shares will vest for active employees on                     .
 

2.1 In the event prior to the Vesting Date, Grantee dies while actively employed by the Company, the unvested Shares of Restricted Stock shall become
fully vested and non-forfeitable as of the date of Grantee’s death. The Company shall transfer vested Shares of Restricted Stock, free and clear of any restrictions
imposed by this Agreement (except for Section 3.4) to Grantee’s surviving spouse or, if none, to his estate), as soon as practical after his or her date of death.
 
In the event of Grantee’s Retirement from the Company or termination of employment by reason of Disability, the vesting of the Restricted Stock shall continue
as if Grantee continued to be an active employee, subject to the individual’s agreement not to do anything that would be harmful to the Company, and to be
available to perform reasonable services for the Company as a consultant on reasonable terms and conditions through the vesting date of the grant, and subject to
the conditions that the participant does not commence employment with a competitor of the Company, does not engage in solicitation of the Company’s
employees, customers or suppliers, and does not disclose the Company’s confidential information or trade secrets, the grant continues to vest on the above
schedule following retirement or permanent long-term disability. In the event that any of the above conditions are not met, all unvested restricted stock under this
grant will be forfeited by the participant.
 

2.2 “Retirement” means Grantee’s termination of employment with the Company or a Subsidiary (other than by the Company or a Subsidiary for Cause) at
a time when Grantee is eligible for immediate payment of benefits under Grantee’s applicable defined benefit retirement plan, if any, or in the absence of an
applicable defined benefit retirement plan, as determined by the Committee. “Disability” means the termination of employment resulting from Grantee’s total and
permanent disability, confirmed by the statement of a licensed physician chosen or approved by the Committee. If Grantee dies after Retirement or after incurring
a Disability under this Section 2.2, but prior to the vesting of the Shares of Restricted Stock, then the unvested Restricted Stock shall become fully vested and
non-forfeitable as of the date of Grantee’s death.
 

2.3 Except for death as provided in Section 2.1, Retirement or Disability as provided in Section 2.2, a Change in Control as provided in Section 2.4, or
unless the Committee in its sole discretion determines otherwise with respect to all or any portion of the Shares of Restricted Stock, if Grantee terminates his
employment or if the Company terminates Grantee prior to the Vesting Date, all unvested Shares of Restricted Stock shall be immediately forfeited.
 

2.4 Notwithstanding the other provisions of this Agreement, in the event of a Change in Control of Certegy Inc. prior to the Vesting Date, all unvested
Shares of Restricted Stock shall become fully vested and non-forfeitable as of the date of the Change in Control. In the discretion of the Committee, on the first
business day following the date of the Change in Control, the Company shall deliver to Grantee a cash payment representing the Fair Market Value of the Shares
of Restricted Stock as of the date of the Change in Control in lieu of delivering the Shares.



2.5 The Restricted Stock may not be sold, assigned, transferred, pledged, or otherwise encumbered prior to the date Grantee becomes vested in the
Restricted Stock.
 

3. Dividends; Voting
 3.1 The Restricted Stock shall be registered on the Company’s books in the name of Grantee as of the Grant Date for such Shares of Restricted Stock,
subject to the restrictions provided for in this Agreement.
 

3.2 Grantee shall be entitled to receive dividends and/or other distributions declared on such Restricted Stock and Grantee shall be entitled to vote such
Restricted Stock, provided that these rights shall cease in the event such Restricted Stock is forfeited.
 

3.3 In the event of a Change in Capitalization, the number and class of Shares or other securities that Grantee shall be entitled to, and shall hold, pursuant to
this Agreement, shall be appropriately adjusted or changed as determined by the Committee to reflect the Change in Capitalization, provided that any such
additional Shares or additional or different shares or securities shall remain subject to the restrictions in this Agreement.
 

3.4 Grantee represents and warrants that he or she is acquiring the Restricted Stock for investment purposes only, and not with a view to distribution
thereof. Grantee is aware that the Restricted Stock may not be registered under the federal or any state securities laws and that in that event, in addition to the
other restrictions on the Shares, they will not be able to be transferred unless an exemption from registration is available or the Shares are registered. By making
this award of Restricted Stock, the Company is not undertaking any obligation to register the Restricted Stock under any federal or state securities laws.
 

4. No Right to Continued Employment
 Nothing in this Agreement or the Plan shall be interpreted or construed to confer upon Grantee any right with respect to continuance of employment
by the Company or a Subsidiary, nor shall this Agreement or the Plan interfere in any way with the right of the Company or a Subsidiary to terminate Grantee’s
employment at any time.
 

5. Taxes and Withholding
 Grantee shall be responsible for all federal, state, and local taxes payable with respect to this award of Restricted Stock and dividends paid on
unvested Restricted Stock. Grantee shall have the right to make such elections under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, as are available in
connection with this award of Restricted Stock. The Company and Grantee agree to report the value of the Restricted Stock in a consistent manner for federal
income tax purposes. The Company shall have the right to retain and withhold from any payment of Restricted Stock or cash the amount of taxes required by any
governmental authority to be withheld or otherwise deducted and paid with respect to such payment. At its discretion, the Company may require Grantee to
reimburse the Company for any such taxes required to be withheld and may withhold any distribution in whole or in part until the Company is so reimbursed. In
lieu thereof, the Company shall have the right to withhold from any other cash amounts due to Grantee an amount equal to such taxes required to be withheld or
withhold and cancel (in whole or in part) a number of Shares of Restricted Stock having a market value not less than the amount of such taxes.



6. Grantee Bound by The Plan
 Grantee hereby acknowledges receipt of a copy of the Plan and the prospectus for the Plan, and agrees to be bound by all the terms and provisions
thereof.
 

7. Modification of Agreement
 This Agreement may be modified, amended, suspended, or terminated, and any terms or conditions may be waived, but only by a written instrument
executed by the parties hereto.
 

8. Severability
 Should any provision of this Agreement be held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be unenforceable or invalid for any reason, the remaining
provisions of this Agreement shall not be affected by such holding and shall continue in full force in accordance with their terms.
 

9. Governing Law
 The validity, interpretation, construction, and performance of this Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the state of Georgia without giving
effect to the conflicts of laws principles thereof.
 

10. Successors in Interest
 This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of, and be binding upon, the Company and its successors and assigns, whether by merger, consolidation,
reorganization, sale of assets, or otherwise. This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of Grantee’s legal representatives. All obligations imposed upon Grantee and
all rights granted to the Company under this Agreement shall be final, binding, and conclusive upon Grantee’s heirs, executors, administrators, and successors.
 

11. Resolution of Disputes
 Any dispute or disagreement which may arise under, or as a result of, or in any way relate to the interpretation, construction, or application of this
Agreement shall be determined by the Committee. Any determination made hereunder shall be final, binding, and conclusive on Grantee and the Company for all
purposes.
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement as of the date first above written.



CERTEGY INC.
By:
 
 

GRANTEE:
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CERTEGY INC.
RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES

($ in thousands, except ratio data)
 

   

For the year ended December 31,

 

   

2000

  

2001

  

2002

  

2003

  

2004

 
Earnings:                      

Income before income taxes (1)   $144,536  $137,202  $141,168  $142,604  $167,947 
Add:                      

Interest expense    1,301   7,200   7,120   7,950   12,914 
Other adjustments    5,594   5,069   4,549   4,653   4,632 

       
Total earnings   $151,431  $149,471  $152,837  $155,207  $185,493 
       
Fixed charges:                      

Interest expense   $ 1,301  $ 7,200  $ 7,120  $ 7,950  $ 12,914 
Other adjustments    5,594   5,069   4,549   4,653   4,632 

       
Total fixed charges   $ 6,895  $ 12,269  $ 11,669  $ 12,603  $ 17,546 
       
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges    21.96x  12.18x  13.10x  12.32x  10.57x

(1) Income from continuing operations before income taxes and cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle, but including minority interests.
 
For the purposes of calculating the ratio of earnings to fixed charges, fixed charges consist of interest on indebtedness, amortization of deferred financing costs,
and an estimated amount of rental expense that is deemed to be representative of the interest factor.
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CERTEGY SUBSIDIARIES
 
 

 

AGES Participações S.A.
Aircrown Ltd.
Card Brazil Holdings, Inc.
Card Brazil LLC
Central Credit Services, Ltd.
Certegy Asia Pacific Holdings, Inc.
Certegy Asset Management, Inc.
Certegy Australia Limited
Certegy Canada Company
Certegy Canada Holdings LLC
Certegy Capital, Inc.
Certegy Card Services Australia Pty Ltd.
Certegy Card Services Caribbean, Ltd.
Certegy Card Services, Inc.
Certegy Card Services Ltd.
Certegy Card Services (Thailand) Co., Ltd.
Certegy (Cayman Islands) Limited
Certegy Check Services, Inc.
Certegy Dutch Holdings B.V.
Certegy E-Banking Services, Inc.
Certegy Europe LLC
Certegy Ezi-Pay Pty Ltd.
Certegy First Bankcard Systems, Inc.
Certegy France Limited
Certegy Global Card Services, Inc.
Certegy International Investments C.V.
Certegy Ireland Limited
Certegy Licensing Services, Inc.
Certegy New Zealand Ltd.
Certegy Payment Recovery Services, Inc.
Certegy Payment Services, Inc.
Certegy Ltd.
Certegy Ltda.
Certegy Pty Ltd.
Certegy S.A.
Certegy SNC
Certegy Transaction Services, Inc.
Certegy UK Holdings B.V.
Credit Union Card Services, Inc.
Crittson Financial Corporation
Crittson Financial LLC
Financial Institution Benefits Association
Financial Insurance Marketing Group, Inc.
GameCash Inc.
Game Financial Corporation  

 



 

 

Game Financial Corporation of Wisconsin
Retail Credit Management Ltd.
Partech Ltda.
Payment Brasil Holdings Ltda.
Payment Chile S.A.
Payment South America Holdings, Inc.
Payment South America LLC
The Ezi-Travel Club Pty Ltd.
Transax Limited
Viv plc  
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CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
 
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements of our reports dated March 11, 2005, with respect to the consolidated
financial statements of Certegy Inc., Certegy Inc. management’s assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, and the effectiveness
of internal control over financial reporting of Certegy Inc., included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended December 31, 2004:
 
 (1) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-103266) pertaining to the Certegy Inc. Deferred Compensation Plan;
 
 (2) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-64462) pertaining to the Certegy Inc. 401(k) Plan;
 
 

(3) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-63342) pertaining to the Certegy Inc. 2001 Stock Incentive Plan and 2001 Non-Employee Director Stock
Option Plan.

 
/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
 
Atlanta, Georgia
March 11, 2005
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CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13A-14(A) OR 15D-14(A) OF THE EXHANGE ACT
 
I, Lee A. Kennedy, certify that:
 1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Certegy Inc.;
 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial

condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange

Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

 

 
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure

that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

 
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,

to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 
 

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

 
 

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s fourth fiscal
quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 
 

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely
to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 
 

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

 
Date: March 11, 2005
 

/s/ LEE A. KENNEDY

Lee A. Kennedy
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
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CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13A-14(A) OR 15D-14(A) OF THE EXHANGE ACT
 
I, Michael T. Vollkommer, certify that:
 1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Certegy Inc.;
 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial

condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange

Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

 

 
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure

that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

 
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,

to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 
 

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

 
 

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s fourth fiscal
quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 
 

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely
to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 
 

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

 
Date: March 11, 2005
 

/s/ MICHAEL T. VOLLKOMMER

Michael T. Vollkommer
Executive Vice President and Chief

Financial Officer
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CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
 

The undersigned certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as adopted by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
 (1) the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Certegy Inc. (the “Company”) for the annual period ended December 31, 2004 (the “Report”) fully complies with the
requirements of Section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 
(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
 
Date: March 11, 2005

   

/s/ LEE A. KENNEDY

 

 

 

 

Lee A. Kennedy
Chairman and Chief

Executive Officer
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CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
 

The undersigned certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as adopted by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
 (1) the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Certegy Inc. (the “Company”) for the annual period ended December 31, 2004 (the “Report”) fully complies with the
requirements of Section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 
(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
 
Date: March 11, 2005

   

/s/ MICHAEL T. VOLLKOMMER

 

 

 

 

Michael T. Vollkommer
Executive Vice President and Chief

Financial Officer


